## MODELLING OF INTRINSIC AND EXTRINSIC INJURY RISK FACTORS IN ELITE TENNIS

By

Danielle Gescheit

In Total Fulfilment of the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

School of Exercise Science

Australian Catholic University

St. Patrick's Campus

Melbourne, Victoria

Graduate Research Office

250 Victoria Parade

East Melbourne, Victoria, 3002



### **STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP AND SOURCES**

This thesis contains no material published elsewhere or extracted in whole or in part from a thesis by which I have qualified for or been awarded another degree or diploma. No parts of this thesis have been submitted towards the award of any other degree or diploma in any other tertiary institution.

No other person's work has been used without due acknowledgment in the main text of the thesis.

All research procedures reported in the thesis received the approval of the relevant Ethics/Safety Committees.

Danielle Gescheit

Date: 27/09/2018

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

'Surround yourself with the dreamers, and the doers, and the believers, and thinkers, but most of all, surround yourself with those who see greatness within you'

I must start by thanking the A Team; my supervisors. We have been on a long roller-coaster ride together throughout my Honours and now my PhD. There is no chance I would have survived either without you by my side. Stu, I will always cherish our lengthy chats about research and life. You have opened my eyes and mind to a new way of thinking and I am forever grateful. Machar, you took me under your wing in 2011 and had belief in me right from the start. Thank you for being my mentor and paving my professional pathway; words cannot describe how appreciative I am. Rob, your clarity in thinking and doing is inspiring and it brought so many new lenses to this thesis. Thank you for always being in my corner and pumping up my tyres (even if it meant you had to deflate them a bit first ;) ). Steph, thank you so much for all your assistance and for putting up with my never-ending stream of questions along the way. The novelty and insight that this thesis provides is largely owing to your statistical guidance and I am extremely appreciative. Justin, thanks for being the fresh-set-of-eyes that all the studies and presentations needed. You have always been a great support and I value having had you on board.

To my sister and biggest advocate, Jazz. Thank you for always picking me up when I was down, being the shoulder to cry on, the ears to listen to my rants, the punching bag to my harsh words and the bricks and mortar to my support network. You have always been my number one believer, even when I didn't believe in myself. Thank you for everything, I love you more than you know. Mum and Dad, thank you for also coping the hits and being an endless source of love and support. It was so comforting to know that you were always there and I love you both dearly. Grandma and Grandpa, it is your strength that I tried to emulate during the tough times. You both fought for your lives and it has always help me put things into perspective. Completing a PhD is nothing compared to what you have both endured and I am so inspired by you both. Adam, Clairie, Jesse, Lee, Coco, Chou Chou, Gucci, Sim and Len, thank you for your constant support along the journey too. I love you all.

Thank you to all the players whose data made this thesis possible. I hope the findings come full circle and are able to help you in your careers. I would also like to thank all the Performance staff at Tennis Australia who assisted me along the way. I would like to make special mention of Al Murphy, Mel Omizzolo, Ryan Cope, Anne-Marie Cavanagh, Callum Beale, Alex Jago, Gemma Harper, Emma Shoemaker, Lauren Gerhard, Nicole Pratt, Darren McMurtrie, Ricky Arner, Olivia Cant and Molly Connolly who helped and supported me not because they had to, but because they wanted to. The same goes for the staff and PhD students at ACU. I would specifically like to thank Paul Tofari, Jill Leckey, Chris Swain, Jack Hickey, Josh Ruddy, Nirav Maniar, Brett O'Connell, Geri Naughton and Doug White.

This thesis is dedicated to all I have thanked.

It wouldn't have been possible without each and every one of you.

Thank you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP AND SOURCES	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS RELATED TO THIS THESIS	13
LIST OF MANUSCRIPTS CURRENTLY IN REVIEW	14
CONFERENCE ORAL PRESENTATIONS RELATED TO THIS TH	ESIS15
LIST OF FIGURES	16
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	21
ABSTRACT	22
1. CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW	26
2. CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	31
2.1. OVERVIEW	
<b>2.2.</b> LITERATURE SEARCH METHODOLOGY	
<b>2.3.</b> The demands of elite tennis	
2.4. Injuries in tennis	
2.4.1. Injuries in elite adult tennis players	
2.4.2. Injuries in elite junior tennis players	41
2.5. EXTRINSIC AND INTRINSIC RISK FACTORS	44
<b>2.6.</b> Non-modifiable intrinsic risk factors	46
2.6.1. Age	46
2.6.2. Physical maturation	47
2.6.3. Injury history	48
2.6.4. Sex	49

2.7. MODIFIABLE INTRINSIC RISK FACTORS	50
2.7.1. Physical capacity	50
2.7.2. MUSCULOSKELETAL FUNCTION	53
2.7.3. PLAYING STANDARD	56
2.7.4. Wellbeing	57
2.8. EXTRINSIC RISK FACTORS	59
2.8.1. COMPETITION PHASE	60
2.8.2. Court surface	62
2.8.3. HEAT	63
2.8.4. Equipment	64
2.8.5. TRAINING LOADS	65
2.8.5.1. EXTERNAL LOADS IN TENNIS AND THE RELATIONSHIP TO INJURY	65
2.8.5.2. INTERNAL LOADS IN TENNIS AND THE RELATIONSHIP TO INJURY	67
2.8.5.3. THE MODELLING OF EXTERNAL AND INTERNAL LOADS TO INJURY IN SPORT	68
2.8.5.4. A MATHEMATICAL UNDERSTANDING OF THE LOAD-INJURY RELATIONSHIP IN SI	PORT:
ASSOCIATION VERSUS PREDICTION	
<b>2.9. A</b> MULTIFACTORIAL APPROACH TO EXPLAINING INJURY RISK	74
2.10. STATE OF THE LITERATURE	79
3. CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY AND DESIGN	82
3.1. Study 1 – Injury epidemiology of tennis players at the 2011 to 2016	
Australian Open Grand Slam	82
3.1.1. Methods	82
3.1.2. INJURY DEFINITION AND CLASSIFICATION	82
3.1.3. IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUENCY DEFINITION	83
3.1.4. Choice of exposure	84
3.1.5. Statistical analysis	86

<b>3.2.</b> Study 2 – A multi-year injury epidemiology analysis of an e	LITE NATIONAL
JUNIOR TENNIS PROGRAM	88
3.2.1. Methods	
3.2.2. PARTICIPANTS	
3.2.3. Measurements: Injury and severity	
3.2.4. Measurement: Exposure hours	
3.2.5. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	
<b>3.3. Study 3 – Predictive modelling of injury in tennis: determin</b>	NING THE BEST
INTERNAL WORKLOAD CALCULATION AND TIMEFRAME	93
3.3.1. Methods	
3.3.2. PARTICIPANTS	
3.3.3. Defining injury	
3.3.4. INTERNAL WORKLOAD AND INJURY DATA COLLATION AND MODELL	.ing94
3.3.5. MISSING DATA	97
3.3.6. STATISTICAL ANALYSES	97
	101
3.4. Study 4 – Multivariate modelling of intrinsic and extrinsic	C RISK FACTORS
TO INJURY IN ELITE JUNIOR TENNIS PLAYERS	
3.4.1. Methods	
3.4.2. PARTICIPANTS	
3.4.3. RISK FACTORS	
3.4.4. INJURY DEFINITION	
3.4.5. DATA PRE-PROCESSING	
3.4.6. COLLINEARITY	
3.4.7. Statistical analyses	

HE 2011 TO 2016 AUSTRALIAN OPEN GRAND SLAM	114
4.1. LINKING PARAGRAPH	115
4.2. Abstract	116
4.3. INTRODUCTION	117
4.4. Methods	118
4.4.1. INJURY DEFINITION AND CLASSIFICATION	119
4.4.2. IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUENCY DEFINITION	119
4.4.3. CHOICE OF EXPOSURE	
4.4.4. Statistical analysis	121
4.5. RESULTS	121
4.5.1. Total injuries	121
4.5.2. Injury region	
4.5.3. Injury type	126
4.5.4. IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUENCY BY INJURY REGION	129
4.5.5. IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUENCY BY INJURY TYPE	129
4.5.6. Set and match exposure results	129
4.6. DISCUSSION	130
4.6.1. Sex differences	
4.6.2. Injury by type	131
4.6.3. INJURY BY REGION: TORSO INJURIES AND IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUE	ENCY131
4.6.4. Injury by region: Upper-limb injuries and in-event treatment fr	REQUENCY
4.6.5. INJURY BY REGION: LOWER-LIMB INJURIES AND TREATMENT COST	
4.6.6. LIMITATIONS	133
4.7 CONCLUSION	1

4.8. New Findings	
5. CHAPTER 5: STUDY 2 - A MULTI-YEAR INJURY EPIDE	EMIOLOGY ANALYSIS
OF AN ELITE NATIONAL JUNIOR TENNIS PROGRAM	
5.1. LINKING PARAGRAPH	136
5.2. Abstract	
5.3. INTRODUCTION	
5.4. Methods	140
5.5. RESULTS	142
5.6. DISCUSSION	148
5.7. CONCLUSION	151
5.8. PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS	
6. CHAPTER 6: STUDY 3 - PREDICTIVE MODELLING OF	INJURY IN TENNIS:
DETERMINING THE BEST INTERNAL WORKLOAD CAL	CULATION AND
TIMEFRAME	
6.1. LINKING PARAGRAPH	154
6.2. Abstract	155
6.3. INTRODUCTION	
6.4. Methods	
6.4.1 PARTICIDANTS	
U.T. I. I ANIICIFANIS	158
6.4.2. PATIENT INVOLVEMENT	
6.4.2. PATIENT INVOLVEMENT	
<ul> <li>6.4.2. PATIENT INVOLVEMENT</li> <li>6.4.3. DEFINING INJURY</li> <li>6.4.4. INTERNAL WORKLOAD AND INJURY DATA COLLATION AND</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>6.4.2. PATIENT INVOLVEMENT</li> <li>6.4.3. DEFINING INJURY</li> <li>6.4.4. INTERNAL WORKLOAD AND INJURY DATA COLLATION AN</li> <li>6.4.5. MISSING DATA</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>6.4.2. PATIENT INVOLVEMENT</li> <li>6.4.3. DEFINING INJURY</li> <li>6.4.4. INTERNAL WORKLOAD AND INJURY DATA COLLATION AN</li> <li>6.4.5. MISSING DATA</li> <li>6.4.6. STATISTICAL ANALYSES</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>6.4.2. PATIENT INVOLVEMENT</li></ul>	

6.5.2. Model performance	
6.5.3. DIRECTION OF LOAD AND INJURY RELATIONSHIPS	
6.6. DISCUSSION	
6.6.1. INJURY PREDICTION ABILITY OF WORKLOAD METRICS IN TENNIS VER	SUS THOSE
ADOPTED IN OTHER SPORTS	
6.6.2. The injury prediction ability of monotony and strain in ten	INIS171
6.6.3. Possibilities for improving the models predictive performa-	NCE171
6.6.4. LIMITATIONS	
6.7. CONCLUSION	172
6.8. WHAT ARE THE NEW FINDINGS?	
7. CHAPTER 7: STUDY 4 - MULTIVARIATE MODELLING OF INTI	RINSIC AND
EXTRINSIC RISK FACTORS TO INJURY IN ELITE JUNIOR TENN	IS PLAYERS
	174
7.1. LINKING CHAPTER	175
7.2. Abstract	176
7.3. INTRODUCTION	177
7.4. Methods	
7.4.1. Participants	
7.4.2. PATIENT INVOLVEMENT	
7.4.3. RISK FACTORS	
7.4.4. Injury definition	
7.4.5. DATA PRE-PROCESSING	
7.4.6. Collinearity	
7.4.7. Statistical analyses	
7.5. RESULTS	
7.5.1. Injury profile	

APPE	NDIX II: RESEARCH PORTFOLIO	•••••
AS TH	IE DENOMINATOR?	•••••
REPO	RTING OF TENNIS INJURIES: THE USE OF TIME OR WORKLO	AD DA
APPE	NDIX I: SUPPLEMENTARY DISCUSSION PAPER - IMPROVING T	THE
O.U.	DENCES	••••
<b>8</b> .6	Conce usions	•••••
0.4. 8 5	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH	•••••
0.J. Q 1	DIMITATIONS	
ð.	2.2. ELITE TENNIS INJUKY AETIOLOGY	
ð. o	2.1. INJUKY EPIDEMIOLOGY OF THE ELITE TENNIS PLAYER PATHWAY	
<b>ð.2.</b>	<b>NEY FINDINGS</b>	•••••
ð.1.	I HESIS AIMS	•••••
8. CHA	APTER 8: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	•••••
7.8.	WHAT ARE THE NEW FINDINGS?	•••••
7.7.0		•••••
7. 	6.6. LIMITATIONS	
7.	6.5. RISK FACTORS NOT IN THE MODEL	
7.	6.4. THE COMBINED RELATIONSHIP OF THESE RISK FACTORS TO INJURY	
7.	6.3. AEROBIC CAPACITY, CHANGE OF DIRECTION SPEED AND INJURY	
7.	6.2. Body soreness and injury	
7.	6.1. Low serve loads and injury	
7.6.	DISCUSSION	•••••
7.	5.3. MULTIVARIATE COX ANALYSIS	

APPENDIX III: ETHICS APPROVAL NUMBERS
APPENDIX IV: PARTICIPANT CONTRACT AND CONSENT FORM
APPENDIX V: SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES PUBLISHED WITH STUDY 1242

## LIST OF PUBLICATIONS RELATED TO THIS THESIS

**Gescheit DT**, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Wood TO, Omizzolo M, Reid M. Injury epidemiology of tennis players at the 2011–2016 Australian Open Grand Slam. Br J Sports Med 2017;51(17):1289-1294. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2016-097283.

**Gescheit DT**, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Wood TO, Omizzolo M, Reid M. A multi-year injury epidemiology analysis of an elite national junior tennis program. J Sci Med Sport 2018; In Press. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2018.06.006.

SUPPLEMENTARY PUBLICATION:

Reid M, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Crespo M, Pluim B, **Gescheit DT**. Improving the reporting of tennis injuries: the use of workload data as the denominator? Br J Sports Med. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-098625.

#### LIST OF MANUSCRIPTS CURRENTLY IN REVIEW

**Gescheit DT**, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Reid M. Predictive modelling of injury in tennis: determining the best internal workload calculation and timeframe. Br J Sports Med, **Under Final (minor) Review.** 

**Gescheit DT**, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Kemp J, Reid M. Multivariate modelling of intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors to injury in elite junior tennis players. Br J Sports Med, **Under Review.** 

# **CONFERENCE ORAL PRESENTATIONS RELATED TO THIS THESIS**

**Gescheit DT**, Cormack S, Reid M, Kemp J, Duffield R. Injury epidemiology of elite tennis players at the 2011-2016 Australian Open. Sports Medicine Australia Conference 2016, Melbourne, Australia.

This oral presentation was shortlisted for best paper at the SMA conference.

**Gescheit DT**, Cormack S, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Reid M. Measures of load and injury in tennis: are there relationships? European College of Sport Science Conference 2017, Essen, Germany.

This oral presentation won the German Tennis Federation award for best tennis research at the ECSS conference.

**Gescheit DT**, Cormack S, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Reid M. The load and injury paradigm in tennis: Can injuries be predicted? Exercise and Sport Science Australia Research to Practice Conference 2018, Brisbane, Australia.

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

FIGURE 1: PRISMA FLOW DIAGRAM
FIGURE 2: MULTIFACTORIAL MODEL OF ATHLETIC INJURY AETIOLOGY (7)45
FIGURE 3: THE FITNESS-FATIGUE MODEL AS PROPOSED BY BANISTER ET AL. (1975)70
FIGURE 4: DYNAMIC, RECURSIVE ATHLETIC INJURY AETIOLOGY MODEL (158)75
FIGURE 5: THE WORKLOAD-INJURY AETIOLOGY MODEL (153)
FIGURE 6: SCREENSHOTS OF MOBILE PHONE APPLICATION AND BORG $CR10$ scale used to
COLLECT INTERNAL LOAD DATA
FIGURE 7: SCREENSHOTS OF MOBILE PHONE APPLICATION USED TO COLLECT INTERNAL AND
EXTERNAL LOAD DATA
FIGURE 8: SCREENSHOTS OF MOBILE PHONE APPLICATION USED TO COLLECT WELLBEING DATA
FIGURE 9: MODIFIED 505 CHANGE OF DIRECTION SPEED TEST DIAGRAM AND PROTOCOL107
FIGURE 10: SURVIVAL CHART OF DAYS TO INJURY109
FIGURE 11: TOTAL MALE AND FEMALE INJURY INCIDENCE ( $\pm$ SD) and mean in-event
TREATMENT FREQUENCY ( $\pm$ SD), PER 10,000 GAME EXPOSURES, AT THE 2011–2016
AUSTRALIAN OPEN (2013–2016 FOR MEAN IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUENCY)122
FIGURE 12: MEAN ( $\pm$ SD) male and female injury incidence and in-event treatment
FREQUENCY, PER 10,000 GAME EXPOSURES, BY REGION OVER THE $2011-2016$ Australian
OPEN (2013–2016 FOR IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUENCY)
FIGURE 13: MEAN ( $\pm$ SD) male and female injury incidence and in-event treatment
FREQUENCY, PER 10,000 GAME EXPOSURES, BY TYPE OVER THE $2011-2016$ Australian Open
(2013–2016 FOR IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUENCY)

FIGURE 14: AREA UNDER THE CURVE VALUES ( $\pm 95\%$ confidence interval) for daily
ROLLING AVERAGE (A), MONOTONY (F) AND STRAIN (G) MODELS
FIGURE 15: AREA UNDER THE CURVE VALUES ( $\pm 95\%$ confidence interval) for ACWR (b),
ACWR WITH ACUTE LOAD OMITTED FROM CHRONIC LOAD (C), EWMA (D) AND EWMA WITH
ACUTE LOAD OMITTED FROM CHRONIC LOAD (E) MODELS

## LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1: EXTERNAL LOAD PROFILE OF TENNIS MATCHPLAY    35	5
TABLE 2: INTERNAL LOAD PROFILE OF TENNIS MATCHPLAY    35	5
TABLE 3: FITNESS TESTING MEASURES UTILISED IN TENNIS POPULATIONS    52	2
TABLE 4: MUSCULOSKELETAL SCREENING TEST BATTERY UTILISED AT TENNIS AUSTRALIA55	5
TABLE 5: CORRELATION BETWEEN MINUTES PLAYED AND GAMES VERSUS SETS PLAYED BY	
GENDER IN 52,948 ATP AND 4,625 WTA MATCHES RESPECTIVELY (PEARSON'S CORRELATION	
COEFFICIENT ± 95% CONFIDENCE INTERVAL)	5
TABLE 6: TOTAL NUMBER OF GAME EXPOSURES INCLUDING ALL SINGLES, DOUBLES AND MIXED-	
DOUBLES GAMES BY SEX AND YEAR	5
TABLE 7: NUMBER OF MALES AND FEMALES IN A NATIONAL TENNIS ACADEMY EACH YEAR	
BETWEEN 2012 AND 2016	3
TABLE 8: AVERAGE NUMBER OF EXPOSURE HOURS PER PERSON, PER SEX, PER YEAR (2012-2016)	)
	)
TABLE 9: AVERAGE NUMBER OF EXPOSURE HOURS PER PERSON, PER BIRTH YEAR, PER YEAR	
(2012-2016)	l
TABLE 10: LOAD METRICS AND TIMEFRAMES MODELLED TO DETERMINE THE INJURY PREDICTION	1
ACCURACY	5
TABLE 11: MUSCULOSKELETAL SCREENING, FITNESS TESTING AND TRAINING LOAD MEASURES	
AND FREQUENCY OF CAPTURE108	3
TABLE 12: MALE AND FEMALE INJURY INCIDENCE $\pm 95\%$ confidence interval and rate	
ratio (RR), per 10,000 game exposures, and treatment cost by region at the 2011 to	
2016 AUSTRALIAN OPEN	5

TABLE 13: MALE AND FEMALE INJURY INCIDENCE $\pm 95\%$ confidence interval and rate
ratio (RR), per 10,000 game exposures, and treatment cost by type at the 2011 to
2016 AUSTRALIAN OPEN
TABLE 14: MALE AND FEMALE INJURY INCIDENCE (MEAN $\pm$ SD), INCIDENCE RATE CHANGE ( $\pm$
95% confidence interval (CI)) and rate ratio (RR) ( $\pm$ 95% CI), per 1,000 exposure
HOURS, BY REGION 2012-2016
TABLE 15: MALE AND FEMALE MEAN INJURY SEVERITY ( $\pm$ SD), INCIDENCE CHANGE ( $\pm$ 95%
CONFIDENCE INTERVAL (CI)) AND RATE RATIO (RR) ( $\pm$ 95% CI), per 1,000 exposure hours,
BY REGION 2012-2016
TABLE 16: BIRTH YEAR INJURY INCIDENCE (MEAN $\pm$ SD), INCIDENCE RATES CHANGE ( $\pm$ 95%
CONFIDENCE INTERVAL (CI)) AND RATE RATIO (RR) ( $\pm$ 95% CI), per 1,000 exposure hours,
BY REGION 2012-2016
TABLE 17: LOAD METRICS AND TIMEFRAMES MODELLED TO DETERMINE THE INJURY PREDICTION
ACCURACY
TABLE 18: SENSITIVITY AND SPECIFICITY VALUES FOR DAILY ROLLING AVERAGE, MONOTONY
AND STRAIN MODELS OVER ALL TIMEFRAMES
TABLE 19: SENSITIVITY AND SPECIFICITY VALUES FOR ACWR, ACWR ACUTE OMITTED FROM
CHRONIC, EWMA AND EWMA ACUTE OMITTED FROM CHRONIC MODELS OVER ALL
TIMEFRAMES
TABLE 20: MUSCULOSKELETAL SCREENING, FITNESS TESTING AND TRAINING LOAD MEASURES
AND FREQUENCY OF CAPTURE
TABLE 21: UNIVARIATE COX PROPORTIONAL HAZARD MODEL OUTCOMES INCLUDING HAZARD
Ratios (HR) $\pm$ 95% Confidence Intervals and P values

TABLE 22: STEPS IN MULTIVARIATE COX PROPORTIONAL HAZARD MODEL INCLUDING HAZ	ZARD
RATIOS (HR) $\pm$ 95% Confidence Intervals and P values	186

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Full Form
ACWR	Acute:chronic workload ratio
ATP	Association of Tennis Professionals
AUC	Area under the curve
CI	Confidence interval
COD	Change of direction
CV	Coefficient of variation
EWMA	Exponentially weighted moving average
GE	Game exposures
HR	Hazard ratio
ICC	Intraclass correlation coefficient
ITF	International Tennis Federation
ME	Match exposures
OSICS	Orchard Sports Injury Classification System
ROC	Received operated characteristic
RPE	Rating of perceiving exertion
RR	Rate ratio
SD	Standard deviation
SE	Set exposures
SMDCS	Sports Medicine Diagnostic Coding System
sRPE	Session-RPE
WTA	Women's Tennis Association

#### ABSTRACT

Elite tennis places high physical, physiological and psychological stresses on its players which can amplify injury risk and limit player development and performance (1, 2). Therefore, understanding what and why injuries occur in both elite junior and professional tennis is critical in mitigating the risk. Unfortunately, current research on elite tennis injury is sparse. What is available is limited by methodological design and conflicting findings. Consequently, this thesis aimed to address these gaps through a more complete examination of the injury epidemiology and aetiology of elite tennis injuries throughout the entire player pathway.

Specifically, Study 1 examined the epidemiology and in-event treatment frequency of injury at the 2011-2016 Australian Open tournaments. Injury incidence was defined as a medical consultation by a tournament physician, and in-event treatment frequency as the mean total number of follow-up medical/physiotherapy consultations (2013-2016 tournaments only). Data were collated by sex, injury region and type and reported as frequencies per 10,000 game exposures. Incidence rates  $\pm$  95% confidence intervals (CI) and rate ratios (RR) were used to test effects for injury, sex and year. Female players were found to experience more injuries than male players over the 6-years (201.7 vs 148.6). The shoulder ( $5.1 \pm 1.1$  injuries per year) and knee ( $3.5 \pm 1.6$ ) were the most commonly injured region among females and males respectively. The torso region attracted high in-event treatment frequencies in both sexes. Muscle injuries were the most common type of injury, yet stress fractures more than doubled over the 6-year period. Overall, there were sex differences in injury incidence at the Australian Open, however the in-event treatment frequency of injuries was similar for both males and females.

Where Study 1 detailed the injury epidemiology of professionals at the Australian Open, Study 2 focused on the incidence and severity of injuries of elite junior tennis players from a national program over multiple years. Injury data were collated by sex, age and body-region for all nationally-supported Australian junior players (58 males, 43 females, 13-18 y) between 2012-2016. Injury was defined as a physical complaint from training/matchplay determined by presiding physiotherapists and doctors that resulted in interrupted training/matchplay. Severity represented the days of interrupted training/matchplay per injury. Injury incidence was reported per 1,000 exposure hours. Incidence rate change and RR  $\pm$  95% CI assessed changes over time. No difference in male and female injury incidence existed  $(2.7 \pm 0.0 \text{ v} 2.8 \text{ m})$  $\pm$  0.0), however male injuries were more severe (3.6  $\pm$  0.6 v 1.1  $\pm$  0.9 days). The lumbar spine was the most commonly and severely injured region in both sexes  $(4.3 \pm 0.2, 9.9 \pm 1.4 \text{ days})$ with shoulder injuries the second most common in both sexes  $(3.1 \pm 0.2)$  and registering the second highest severity in males  $(7.3 \pm 1.4 \text{ days})$ . The body-region findings are relatively consistent with the body-region findings discovered in Study 1. Independent of sex, the injury incidence increased with age from  $2.0 \pm 0.1$  (13 y) to  $2.9 \pm 0.1$  (18 y). This study concluded that despite no sex-based difference in injury incidence, male injuries resulted in more interrupted days of training/matchplay.

The profiling of injuries across the elite tennis pathway highlighted high risk sexes, ages and body-regions of injury. An understanding of why these injuries occur is important. As the volume and intensity of training is commonly associated with injuries in sport, the aim of Study 3 was to determine the best internal workload model and timeframe to predict injury in elite tennis. Daily training loads, recorded as session-RPE (sRPE)(3), and injury incidence data (2012-2016) from nationally ranked tennis players (n = 101, 19.1  $\pm$  2.8 y, 91  $\pm$  112 peak national ranking) were obtained. Injuries were defined as per Study 2. Multiple workload metrics, including variations of acute:chronic workload ratios (ACWR) and exponentially

weighted moving averages (EWMA) as well as daily loads, monotony and strain were assessed over numerous timeframes (8 time points between 1-60 days) to predict subsequent injury. The predictive performance of the models was assessed via area under the curve (AUC) of receiver operator characteristics (ROC) curves and reported as AUC  $\pm$  95% confidence limits, sensitivity and specificity. It was found that the daily rolling average load and EWMA models performed best ( $\geq 0.76 \pm 0.04$  AUC), largely owing to predicting noncases rather than injuries ( $\geq 0.16$  sensitivity,  $\geq 0.74$  specificity). There were no differences between timeframes. All other models performed relatively poorly (0.50-0.66  $\pm$  0.0). Noninjured players experienced higher loads compared to injured players (mean  $\pm$  SD; 714  $\pm$  521 au, 565  $\pm$  426 au). Overall, the best predictive workload-injury models used daily rolling averages and EWMA regardless of the tested timeframes. This suggests load model selection is more important than timeframe selection for predicting injuries in tennis.

The applied impact of Study 3 may be limited by the fact that only internal loads were related to injury outcomes, without the consideration of other risk factors. Therefore, Study 4 examined the association of intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors with injuries in elite junior tennis players over a 500-day period (26 males, 23 females,  $15.6 \pm 2.0$  y,  $143 \pm 128$  peak national ranking). Daily training loads, training types, perceptual wellbeing and soreness as well as baseline musculoskeletal function and physical capacity measures were collected from junior players in a national program. Training loads included serve counts and sRPE calculated as daily load and 21-day rolling average in the lead up to injury. Seventy-eight injuries occurred which were defined in the same way as Studies 2 and 3. Univariate Cox Proportional Hazard models determined the first factor in the forward step selection for the multivariate Cox Proportional Hazard model. The multivariate model then determined the aggregated factors with the strongest association to injury, with results reported as hazard ratios  $\pm$  95% CI. The multivariate analysis revealed that lower serve counts (-0.02  $\pm$  0.00) and

a higher number of sore body-regions on the day of injury  $(0.84 \pm 0.48)$  combined with lower multistage fitness test scores (-0.46 ± 0.23) and slower change of direction (COD) speed (3.47 ± 2.88) were best at detecting injury hazard. Internal loads quantified as daily rolling averages (as per Study 3) did not feature in the multivariate model outcome in Study 4. Perhaps the inclusion of an external load measure, or the combination of other risk factors, limited the influence of internal load in explaining injury hazard. In conclusion, the interplay of serve loads, regions of body soreness, aerobic capacity and COD speed provided the highest association with injury. These risk factors have currency as injury prevention and training monitoring tools in high-performance tennis.

In summary, this thesis provides insight into the epidemiology and aetiology of tennis injuries throughout the elite pathway. The findings highlight that there are consistencies in the body-region of injuries in both elite junior and professional players, however sex-based differences are apparent. Study 3 showed that there is some injury predictive power in univariate internal training loads, yet it appears limited to detecting when injuries do not occur. Consequently, the multivariate analysis of injury risk conducted in Study 4 found that the collection of serve loads, soreness and physical capacities should be monitored as part of an injury prevention program for elite tennis players.

#### **1. CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW**

Elite junior and adult tennis players experience congested tournament and travel schedules interspersed with time-restricted training blocks during the in-season, coupled with a short off-season (1, 2, 4). Within-event, players are exposed to high-intensity intermittent activity with multiple changes of direction, accelerations and decelerations, as well as large mechanical and rotational forces over an undefined period of time (5). As most tennis tournaments are a knock-out format and offer multiple events (i.e. singles and doubles), these physical requirements are extensive, but also uncertain, and this lack of uniformity may have implication for injury (6). Consequently, an understanding of the epidemiology and aetiology of elite junior and adult tennis injuries is important to provide direction for evidence-based risk mitigation strategies across the entire elite tennis pathway (7, 8). However, current research is limited due to distinct gaps in the breadth and depth of the available injury epidemiology and aetiology literature in tennis (9-12). Specifically, there are discrepancies in the injury incidence reports by sex and body-region (9, 10), limited profiling of injury severity (13), as well as no assessment of the changes in injury incidence over time. Additionally, an understanding of the relationship between risk factors and elite tennis injuries remains large unexplored (12) which restricts the targeting of risk mitigation strategies. Therefore, this thesis aims to systematically profile injury occurrence and incidence in both elite junior and professional tennis players and determine their relationship with modifiable intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors.

The epidemiological profile of elite junior and adult tennis highlights injury incidences of between 4.9 and 55.6 per 1,000 match exposures, or between 0.6 and 6.1 injuries per 1,000 athletic exposures (9, 11, 14-16). These injury rates include junior national and international tennis players in competition and training, as well as professional players in national and

Grand Slam events, which somewhat explains the broad ranges observed in injury incidence (9, 11, 14-16). It is worth noting that the variability in exposure measures utilised to report relative injury rates (i.e. match versus athletic exposures) limits the ability to make comparisons between studies and thus occludes deeper understanding of injury rates relative to the specific training/match demands. Regardless, attempted comparisons in injury incidence by sex and body-region show conflicting findings. For example, some reports on elite tennis injury report males to sustain more injuries (9), whilst contrasting literature reports females to have higher injury occurrence (10). Additionally, body-region findings by sex report males and females to suffer more lower-limb and upper-limb injuries respectively, whereas other studies show no sex-differences in body-region injury incidence (16). Regardless of occurrence, limited analysis exists for 1) injury severity 2) environment of sustained injuries i.e. training or competition phases and 3) changes in injury incidence over time by region, sex or severity (11, 15). Such lack of literature exposes the superficial reporting of tennis injury incidence in elite tennis. Therefore, to further understand the injury epidemiology of elite junior and adult tennis, factors including the tournament and training period, the time-loss and year-on-year changes in injury incidence should be explored longitudinally with a specific focus on sex and body-region. This will extend the existing body of research profiling elite tennis injuries and have the ability to highlight risk groups of players to target for injury prevention. Additionally, it can provide guidance for medical resourcing in-event/program.

Beyond research examining the epidemiology of elite tennis injury, greater insight regarding the aetiology of injuries is needed to clarify and refine injury prevention. Injury risks in elite tennis can include a host of modifiable and non-modifiable intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors (7). Non-modifiable intrinsic risk factors can include age, sex, physical growth and previous injury history (17). Modifiable intrinsic risk factors can include musculoskeletal function, physical capacity, playing standard and perceptual wellbeing (8). Additionally, extrinsic risk factors can include competition phase (training versus tournament), court surface, environment, equipment and training and matchplay loads (8, 17). In tennis, the relationship between these factors and injury remain poorly understood. For example, relationships exist between age, joint flexibility and strength, playing standard, tournament phases and court surface to subsequent injury in tennis (18-22). However, the findings are limited by their univariate approach which fails to consider the impact of other risk factors, such as training loads or physical capacity, as well as the interrelationship between such factors to injury (23, 24). Therefore, investigation of these relationships can inform individual athlete preparation, training design, rehabilitation strategies and scheduling (7). This information and analysis is available in other elite sports which further highlights the need for this type of research in elite tennis (23, 25, 26).

The association of training loads to injury have been extensively examined in other sports. That is, both the assessment of external (the dose) and internal (the response) loads to injury have been explored in sports including cricket, Australian football and rugby league (27-29). However, neither load type has been investigated in tennis as they relate to injury. The studies in cricket, Australian football and rugby league explore the load-injury relationship with loads quantified over acute and chronic timeframes in an attempt to capture short-term fatigue and longer-term fitness responses (27, 28). Typically, acute load has been calculated as a rolling average of the previous 7-days load and is commonly assessed as a ratio to chronic load, as a rolling average of the previous 21 or 28-days load (27, 28). Findings highlight that spikes in acute load, as well as low chronic loads, are associated to injury in these sports (27, 28). However, recent criticisms of the modelling techniques and assumptions underlying the quantification of the load-injury relationship in sport have emerged (30-34). Specifically, questions regarding the selection of load metrics and timeframes as well as the statistical

analysis have been critiqued (30-34). Given that the training load and injury relationship in elite tennis is yet to be explored, these assessments and criticisms in other sports can assist in determining the study design, methodology and analysis to efficiently and scientifically investigate this relationship in elite tennis.

In addition to examining the univariate relationship between workload and injury in elite tennis, the multifactorial nature of injury emphasises that a multivariate approach to assessing and understanding the interaction between risk factors and injury is fundamental (7, 8). Findings in Australian football and multiple adolescent elite sports highlight that the interplay of multiple risk factors, including measures of workload, physical capacity and perceptual wellbeing are the most indicative of injury (23, 24). However, the multivariate assessment of risk factors and their relationship to injury in elite tennis remains unexplored. Undertaking this analysis in elite tennis would have practical implications for the selection and utility of risk monitoring tools and strategies to mitigate such risk.

Therefore, this body of works aims to expand on the available epidemiological profile of elite junior and adult tennis, as well as explore the aetiology of injuries via univariate and multivariate analyses of risk factors. The specific aims of the research are:

1. To profile injury incidence at the Australian Open Grand Slam over multiple years including an analysis by sex, body-region, in-event treatment costs and changes over time (Chapter 4, Study 1).

2. To longitudinally investigate the injury epidemiology of elite junior tennis players in national tennis program by age, sex, body-region, time-loss and changes over time (Chapter 5, Study 2).

3. To model numerous training load metrics and timeframes to determine which model and timeframe have the best injury prediction ability in elite junior tennis players (Chapter 6, Study 3).

4. To analyse the interaction of multiple intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors and their association to injury in elite junior tennis players (Chapter 7, Study 4).

A supplementary aim of this thesis, which arose from current challenges in the comparability and precision of reported injury rates in epidemiology studies, is to determine the most precise and relevant exposure measure to understand injury rates relative to training/match demands (Appendix 1).

## 2. CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **2.1. OVERVIEW**

Elite tennis imposes high match, tournament and season-based demands on players, with injury risk an ever-present concern for aspiring and professional players (1, 2, 4). Injuries can hinder player progression due to missed training and matches, along with negative consequences to success and financial livelihood from the sport (35). Therefore, injuries in elite tennis warrant exploration and understanding to establish evidence-based risk mitigation strategies. However, limitations exist in the current availability, methodology and profiling of tennis injuries, particularly in elite players (9, 10, 15, 36). Additionally, there is a lack of evidence as to what extrinsic and intrinsic risk factors relate to tennis injuries, and further, the association or predictive ability of these factors is yet to be explored in tennis (12). Therefore, most injury surveillance strategies in tennis currently rely on findings from other sports or intuition of relevant professionals. Consequently, this literature review will systematically explore the knowledge-base of injury epidemiology in tennis with a focus on elite adult and junior players. Once established, the aetiology of elite tennis injuries will be described. In particular, an examination of intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors and the relationship with injury will be explored. This narrative will subsequently support the direction of the research studies undertaken in this thesis.

#### **2.2. LITERATURE SEARCH METHODOLOGY**

All studies in this thesis were identified via a computer-aided search of AMED, CINAHL Complete, Health Source, MEDLINE Complete, PsycARTICLES, PsycINFO and SPORTSDiscus until June 2018. The search was restricted to only including publications in English and involving human subjects. The search strategy utilised Boolean operators 'AND' and 'OR'. Specifically, ('tennis' OR 'sport') AND ('injury' OR 'injuries') AND ('training' OR 'risk' OR 'training loads' OR 'musculoskeletal' OR 'fitness' OR 'capacity' OR 'wellbeing' OR 'soreness' OR 'skill' OR 'competition' OR 'matchplay')). The articles were initially screened for duplication, then by title, abstract and full text. The exclusion criteria included:

- Investigated an intervention or treatment effect
- Full text not available
- Text not available in English
- Articles before 1980
- Magazine articles
- Articles not specifically related to sport (i.e. military)

The PRISMA flow diagram (Figure 1) outlines the selection of information through the review process.



Figure 1: PRISMA flow diagram

#### **2.3.** The demands of elite tennis

To understand the unique and demanding landscape of elite tennis and the subsequent injury risk, the player pathway and activity profile of the sport needs to be discussed. There are close to 5,000 internationally ranked junior tennis players annually and another 5,000 professionally ranked tennis players (37). A typical annual playing calendar for an elite junior or adult tennis player involves 22-25 tournaments with demanding domestic and international travel schedules (1, 2). This is interspersed with training blocks and a short off-season of generally four-weeks (38). The average transition time between achieving an international junior ranking to achieving a professional ranking is four-years (37). Additionally, it takes approximately another four-years to reach a professional ranking where the sport may become a financially-viable career (37). Therefore, it is evident that the competition, training, travel and financial demands of elite tennis are high. This can consequently have ramifications for injury and ongoing performance throughout the pathway (35).

The load demands of elite tennis are also high within-matches. As tennis results are determined by score, the duration of matches are unrestricted with some Grand Slam matches exceeding five hours (6). Therefore, the load profile includes both external and internal components of elite tennis can quickly exacerbate in longer 3-5 set matches. External load describes the dose of work completed irrespective of the physical characteristics of the player (39). In tennis, this can include match duration, number of balls hit and distance covered (6, 40-44). Internal load describes the physiological and/or psychological stress response to the external load including responses such as heart rate, energy expenditure and RPE (39). The explicit external and internal load profiles of tennis matchplay have been well documented and are summarised in Tables 1 and 2. These ranges and values are obtained from both junior and adult elite tennis populations within-competition.

External load metric	Range
Point duration	3.0 - 14.9s
Match duration	1 ->5h
Effective playing time	16 - 26%
Total balls hit per match	<727
Total serves hit per match	85 - 157
Distance covered per set	553 - 572m
Changes of direction per point	1 - 8
Mean first serve speed	155 - 184km.hr <sup>-1</sup>
Mean groundstroke speed	106 - 111km.hr <sup>-1</sup>

Table 1: External load profile of tennis matchplay

(6, 40-44)

Internal load metric	Range	
% of maximal heart rate	60 - 80%	
% of maximal oxygen consumption	54 - 70%	
Rating of perceived exertion (Borg 6-20 Scale)	11 - 15	
Energy expenditure	213.7 - 343.1kcal.min <sup>-1</sup>	
Blood lactate	<5mmol/L	

Table 2: Internal load profile of tennis matchplay

(5, 6, 41, 45-47)

The within-match demands of elite tennis are typically greater than those reported in other overhead and racquet sports largely owing to the profiling of serve load, changes of direction (COD) demands, ball speeds and internal responses (48, 49). Additionally, the dose and response profile of competitive tennis matchplay has continued to increase with advancements in racquet, string and ball technology (50, 51) resulting in faster ball, and subsequent player speeds (50, 51). Therefore, the fast accelerations and decelerations, numerous COD and large rotational forces required to be successful in the modern game of tennis places even larger physical strain on elite players (5).

Moreover, the within-tournament demands of elite tennis are also challenging as most tournaments offer doubles and potentially consolation draws (52). Therefore, players are generally required to play multiple matches in a day and/or over consecutive days (6, 52). The technical and physical characteristics of repeated bouts of tennis matchplay highlight declines in external load with increases in internal load (6, 52, 53). Specifically, ratings of perceived exertion (RPE)(47) and biochemical and perceptual markers of muscle damage increase, coupled with a reduction in effective playing time over repeated matches within a day and over consecutive days (6, 52, 53). Additionally, multiple matches within and between days result in reductions in serve and groundstroke speed and accuracy, as well as decreased running ability which highlights the physical demands and subsequent decrements from participating in tournament tennis (6, 52, 53).

Evidently, elite tennis is challenging both within acute match-settings and chronic tournament and annual calendar settings (6, 35, 52). Therefore, these short and long-term demands pose injury risk which can hinder player development and progression in the sport (35). As such, an exploration of the injury epidemiology of elite tennis is important to determine the cohort
of players, as well as body-regions, that are most impacted by injury. This can provide initial insights for the development and targeting of injury prevention strategies.

## **2.4.** INJURIES IN TENNIS

The epidemiological profile of injuries in tennis has been examined in both elite junior and adult tennis populations (9-11, 15). Specifically, injury incidence has been reported between 4.9 and 55.6 injuries per 1,000 athletic exposures or between 0.6 and 6.1 when expressed per 1,000 exposure hours (9, 11, 14, 15). However, these reported injury incidence profiles are limited and inconsistent in their methodological approaches and findings (9, 11, 14, 15). The discrepancies are largely owing to variations in cohort, timeframe and competition phases examined (9, 11, 14, 15). Regardless, these rates are generally higher than other sports such as swimming, cricket, and golf that have reported injury rates of 2.6 and 3.3 injuries per 1,000 exposure hours and 9.8 per 1,000 athletic exposures respectively (49, 54, 55). Similarly, a comparative study found elite junior tennis players reported a higher injury incidence than gymnasts, swimmers and soccer players of the same standard and age (56). Conversely, contact team sports generally exhibit higher injury rates with reports of 29.1, 65.8 and 160.6 injuries per 1,000 hours of field hockey, Australian Football and rugby league respectively (57-59). Whilst comparison of injury rates in tennis to other sports is contextual, they are of limited use to understand the specificity of tennis injuries given the differences in activity profiles across sports. As such, comparisons within tennis, including differences in injury incidence by playing standard, sex and age provide more contextual understanding of injuries in elite tennis.

The prevalence of lower-extremity injuries (31-67%) is commonly reported to be greater than upper-limb (20-49%) and trunk (3-21%) injuries in tennis (9, 60, 61). However, this trend can vary depending on the cohort of players analysed (15, 16). Specifically, upper-limb injuries have been reported to be the most common in national male and female players within competition environments (16); yet back injuries have been found to be the most common in elite, junior male players within-event (15). Regardless, it has been consistently reported that lower-extremity injuries in tennis players are generally acute in nature, whereas the upperextremities are classically affected by chronic injuries (61). The acute nature of lower-limb injuries can be attributed to the fast accelerations, decelerations and changes of direction demands placing high (eccentric) loads through the lower-extremities (61). Of note, most acute tennis injuries occur during competition as compared to training, which may be a result of the addition of an opponent which can lead to more reactive and less controlled movements (14, 62, 63). Additionally, the chronic nature of upper-extremity injuries in tennis is typically associated with the repetitive movement demands of these limbs during overhead, groundstroke and volley actions (61). The most common types of tennis injuries, regardless of their onset, are often reported to be muscle sprains and strains (9, 10, 15). Although a general overview of tennis injury provides some insight, it fails to consider the nuances of specific age categories and skill levels which can impact on the injury incidence (12, 21). Additionally, targeted injury profiles are more informative for stakeholders involved in the development of elite tennis players across different stages of the player pathway.

## 2.4.1. Injuries in elite adult tennis players

The tennis player pathway ultimately strives to develop professional players. Therefore, exploring the injury epidemiology of elite adult tennis players initially provides a top-down approach for the comparison and prevention of injury incidence throughout a player's developmental journey. The primary reporting of elite tennis injury profiles has emanated from literature on the Grand Slams (9, 10). The four Grand Slams are the pinnacle events in the professional tennis calendar including the Australian Open, Roland Garros, Wimbledon and the US Open; with injury epidemiological profiles of the US Open and Wimbledon already existing (9, 10). Assessment of US Open injuries was over a 16-year period and reported a mean injury rate of 48.1 injuries per 1,000 match exposures per tournament (9). Males had a higher injury incidence than females (44.0 vs 32.2 injuries per 1,000 match exposures), which is in direct contrast to findings from Wimbledon (9, 10). The injury profile of Wimbledon highlighted that female players, between 2003-2012, incurred a mean injury incidence of 23.4 injuries per 1,000 set exposures compared to 17.7 injuries per 1,000 set exposures for the male players (10).

Of note, the relative exposure measure selected by each research team was different (1,000 match versus set exposures) which makes comparison difficult. More so, 1,000 match exposures, as utilised in the US Open study (9), fail to differentiate between male and female set demands in Grand Slam tennis, whereby males play the best of five-set singles matches and females the best of three-sets. Additionally, both exposure measures overlook the difference between competitive (i.e.7-6) and non-competitive sets (i.e. 6-0), where the activity profiles vary and, potentially, so does the injury risk. The utilisation of an exposure measure more targeted to the demands of the competition could provide more precise findings. As such, the consensus statement on epidemiological studies of medical conditions in tennis recommends that injuries be reported per 1,000 playing hours (64). However, this metric does not capture the load profile imbedded within the duration. Given that injuries sustained in tennis are a direct result of mechanical loads imposed on the musculoskeletal system (65), exposure measures such as distance covered or number of balls hit may be more descriptive and definitive. Although not the primary focus of this thesis, further exploration of the relevance and precision of exposure measure selection in all epidemiological studies is needed

(Appendix I).

Even with the challenges of different exposure measures, the findings from Wimbledon and the US Open highlight that variations in injury profiles by sex exist between Grand Slam events (9, 10). However, the body-region analysis of both Grand Slams suggests similarities with the lumbar spine, shoulder, knee, groin and ankle featuring as the most common sites of injuries at both events (9, 10). Given the varying levels of consistency between Wimbledon and US Open injury profiles, an understanding of the injury epidemiology of other Grand Slams has merit. Particularly given they are scheduled at a different time of year, on a different court surface and in different climates.

Additionally, given all the Grand Slams are required to provide medical staff to treat all participating players, insight into the severity of injuries, as well as how injury incidence changes year-on-year, can contribute to the justification of medical resourcing in-event. However, this has not been explored (9, 10). Specifically, it can assist in the decision-making around Grand Slam staffing, supplies and budgetary consideration. Therefore, the need for further investigation into elite Grand Slam tennis injuries is critical from an injury profiling, athlete preparation and event-impact perspective.

Evidently, the profile of injuries in professional tennis players is currently confounded by the limited ability to compare findings due to differences in exposure measure selection and the unavailability of key insights such as the severity of injuries, resource burden or changes in year-on-year injury incidence within-event (9, 10). This can have repercussions for elite junior tennis players, and their support networks, whose long-term aspiration is to compete at

these events without the interference of injury. This resulted in the first aim of the thesis which was to explore the injury epidemiology of the Australian Open Grand Slam over multiple years. The sex, body-region, treatment cost and year-on-year changes in injury incidence were analysed to garner a more robust profile of elite adult tennis injuries.

#### 2.4.2. Injuries in elite junior tennis players

Whilst profiling Grand Slam tennis injuries is valuable for understanding the injury incidence at the top tier of elite tennis, it is equally as important to profile injuries in elite junior tennis whereby injuries can have an impact on their long-term athletic development and subsequent playing careers (65). As the injury reports in elite adult tennis are limited, it is challenging to establish early intervention strategies throughout the pathway. To supplement this, an understanding of the injury epidemiology of elite junior tennis players can mitigate the shorter-term risk.

However, the available literature on elite junior tennis injury epidemiology highlights discrepancy in the current knowledge-base. For example, sex-based reports have found junior males to incur more injuries than females in competition (12), whereas others have found elite junior females to sustain more injuries than their male counterparts (19, 66). These differences in injury profiles by sex are consistent with the findings in elite adult tennis players (9, 10). This may suggest that sex is not a moderating factor for elite tennis injury as both sexes are exposed the same amount of risk. Alternatively, it may highlight that injury incidence is affected by factors other than sex, such as the competition phase (training versus competition), age, physical capacity or physical maturation (4, 23, 67, 68). However, further research is needed to explore this.

There is also discrepancy regarding the specific body-region of injury incidence in junior tennis players (15, 63, 69). A study from the 1980's suggests that lower limb injuries were the most common region of injury in elite junior tennis players in a national program (69). Contrastingly, studies from the 1990's (15, 63) reported back injuries to be the most common in elite juniors during national competition (15); or that injuries were evenly distributed around the body with a slight weighting towards ankle and foot injuries (63). These findings highlight the lack of evidence and, subsequently, developing region-specific injury prevention strategies for elite junior tennis players is currently difficult. This is contrary to professional tennis whereby the existing literature displays consistency in the injury incidence by body-region between sexes (9, 10). Therefore, the body-region analysis of injuries in elite junior tennis needs further exploration to establish evidence-based justification for targeted injury mitigation strategies. Coupled with the professional tennis body-region injury findings, further investigation can provide clarity on the body-region injury trends throughout the entire elite tennis pathway.

To bolster the profiling of elite junior tennis injury incidence by sex and body-region, an understanding of the severity of injuries is important. As the fundamental goal of elite junior tennis players is to transition and achieve a professional ranking, quantifying the time-cost of injuries can reveal ramifications to athletic development. However, the severity of junior tennis injuries has been the subject of limited examination (11). For example, player recall was used to collect injury severity data from junior tennis players over a two-year period with almost half the reported injuries resulting in a time-loss of more than four-weeks (11). Additionally, it was reported that junior males incurred more injuries with a time-loss of greater than four-weeks as compared to females (11). However, the use of recall is commonly criticized for being bias and inaccurate (70). Furthermore, no study has observed the severity

of junior tennis injuries by body-region. Reports in elite junior rowers found lower back injuries to be the most severe followed by knee injuries (71). This level of information in tennis would provide guidance for region-specific injury prevention and rehabilitation programs to mitigate the developmental and potentially financial burden of severe injuries.

A consistent finding in the elite junior injury epidemiology profile of tennis, and other sports, is the relationship between age and injury. It is commonly found that injury incidence increases with age in elite junior athletes (12, 19, 72). With regards to tennis, this has been reported in studies within national competition (12, 19). However, the junior age-injury trend in longitudinal, tennis training settings remains unexplored yet has been found in elite junior rugby league players (72). Specifically, it was reported that an elite under 19-year-old team had the highest injury incidence, as well as injury severity, as compared to five younger aged teams in the same rugby league club over a season (72). Similarly, elite tennis players usually spend their entire junior journey in a nationally-supported program with prescribed training and tournament scheduling. Therefore, understanding the relationship between age and injury by players and staff in these programs can assist in providing evidence-based adaptations to training prescription and tournament scheduling to reduce the risk of injury at different ages.

It is clear that the injury profiling of elite adult and junior tennis players is scant and incongruent. Specifically, the limitations appear in the availability, uniformity of study design, timing of data collection and discrepancy in findings (10, 11, 15, 69). This has implication for the understanding and strategy to mitigate the risk of injuries in elite tennis populations. It also highlights that current injury prevention strategies across the entire elite player pathway are largely uninformed. Consequently, such lack of research also led to the

second aim of the thesis which was to comprehensively and longitudinally profile injuries in an elite junior national program. The emphasis, as per aim 1, was on exploring the sex, region and severity injury incidences and differences as well as investigating the longitudinal changes. This methodology assists in providing comparative insight into the injury epidemiology of elite junior and adult tennis players.

#### **2.5.** EXTRINSIC AND INTRINSIC RISK FACTORS

Elite tennis injuries are a result of a players biological and physical profile, paired with the demands of the sport (6). As depicted in Figure 2, injuries occur from of an aggregation of risk factors that can be considered intrinsic (internal) and extrinsic (external) to a player, coupled with an acute inciting event (7). Intrinsic risk factors can be non-modifiable factors such as age and sex, or modifiable, such as physical capacity (8). Extrinsic risk factors include those such as court surface, environmental factors and prescribed training volumes and match demands (8). Exploring the host of risk factors present in elite tennis and its players is meaningful for two main reasons. Firstly, it provides context to tennis injury epidemiology reports and, secondly, it can direct training, physician-intervention and scheduling strategies to abate the level of risk.



Figure 2: Multifactorial model of athletic injury aetiology (7)

The understanding of how these intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors relate to injury in tennis is still in its infancy. However, these insights are essential for tennis coaches and sports medicine staff to assess, monitor and develop strategies to prevent injuries and therefore represents a key area of focus of this literature review.

## **2.6.** NON-MODIFIABLE INTRINSIC RISK FACTORS

Non-modifiable intrinsic risk factors are fixed internal characteristics such as age, physical maturation, injury history and sex (7, 8). They predispose a player to injury risk and are accepted as being unavoidable (7, 8). However, in understanding their relationship to injury in elite tennis, can determine strategies to reduce their impact. Although some of these non-modifiable factors have been mentioned previously as they relate to the profiling of tennis injuries, their association to injury will now be explored. However, the relationship between age, physical maturation, injury history and sex to subsequent injury is either scarce or inconclusive in the existing body of literature on elite tennis.

## 2.6.1. AGE

As has already been mentioned, it is common for age to be reported as associated with injury in athletic populations (59, 73, 74). Specifically, reports in tennis as well as ice-hockey, rugby league, soccer and squash highlight that older athletes, both in junior and senior competition, are more likely to incur an injury (19, 21, 59, 73, 74). Despite these associations, it remains unknown why injuries generally increase with age. It has been hypothesised that an increase in training volume and intensity with age results in a greater risk of injury (75, 76). However, the relationship of training loads to injury in tennis has not be explored. This forms a large focus of this thesis and will be elaborated on further in the literature review. Further,

degeneration in muscle strength and change of direction speed has also be attribute to the increase in injury incidence in adult ages (77, 78). These deficiencies may heighten injury risk due to the declined ability to tolerate the load and movement demands of elite tennis (35, 41). Additionally, in junior athletes, the rise in injuries may be as a result of physical maturation with age (79).

## 2.6.2. Physical maturation

Adolescent growth has been shown to have a clear association with injury risk (68). Particularly, the period around peak height velocity has been suggested to be of heightened injury risk in junior athletes (79). For example, it has been reported that junior soccer players incurred more traumatic injuries during peak height velocity as well as a rise in overuse injuries shortly after peak height velocity (79). Additionally, fractures were reported as most common in junior athletes just before and during peak height velocity (80, 81). The reason for the rise in injuries around peak height velocity has been attributed to changes in bone density, joint stiffness, proprioception and movement mechanics (79, 82). Specifically, the adaptations in bone density and joint stiffness cause skeletal fragility (79). This may directly link to the rise in fractures commonly found during this period (79-81). Additionally, changes in proprioception and movement mechanics may result in impairments to task performance which may lead to acute injury incidence (82). However, how maturation impacts on elite junior tennis injuries, remains unexplored. Given it is a non-modifiable risk associated with all adolescent development, the monitoring of growth in junior tennis players is likely to be important for injury prevention. Regardless, specific understanding of the maturation-injury relationship in tennis can inform modifications to training and competition schedules to reduce the risk of injury around periods of growth and should be explored further.

## 2.6.3. Injury history

In addition to age and physical maturation, injury history has commonly been reported as a key risk factor in athletes, explicitly for injury recurrence (83, 84). Injury recurrence is defined as an injury of the same type to the same body-region after returning to full training from the initial injury (64). It has been found that players who had an injury in one season of professional soccer were 2.7 times more likely to have an injury in the subsequent season (85). Similar findings of injury recurrence have been reported in junior soccer players as well as Australian footballers and cricketers (84, 86). In tennis, previous injury is a prominent risk factor for subsequent injuries in junior, club-level tennis players (13). The causal mechanism behind recurrent injuries has been attributed to the inadequate healing of tissue, a decline in load tolerance during rehabilitation, and/or coupled with a spike in loads when the athlete returns to competition (87, 88). Evidently, injury recurrence is common in many sports (83, 84). Therefore, the return to play after an initial injury should be closely monitored in order to reduce the likelihood of re-injury.

Interestingly, it has been reported that a higher training age can be protective against injury recurrence which may be an artefact of enhanced physical development and resilience (83). However, muscle degeneration and subsequent strength declines with older adult ages may suggest that training age is only protective against injury up to certain point (78). Beyond this, its protective nature may potentially be mitigated or actually reversed (78). Despite the large body of evidence relating injury history to recurrence, this association has not been specifically explored in elite tennis. Owing to the burden injuries can have on elite tennis player development, success and financial livelihood, there is an urgency for players to return to competition as soon as possible after injury (87). In turn, this may be the impetus for re-injury. Therefore, although further investigation into the specific relationship between injury

history and injury recurrence in elite tennis is desirable, there is enough evidence to suggest that the monitoring of injury history is crucial for reducing the risk of subsequent injuries.

## 2.6.4. SEX

As already discussed, there is conjecture in the literature relating sex to injury incidence, region or type. Tennis injury epidemiology studies highlight no sex difference in injury incidence whereas others suggest that males are more injurious, and others that female tennis players are more injurious (9, 10, 36). When deeper exploration of injury incidence by bodyregions is undertaken, tennis injury findings by sex become more congruent, particularly in elite adult tennis players (9, 10). It is commonly reported that male professional tennis players are more prone to lower-limb injuries, whereas female injuries are spread evenly across all body-regions (9-11). This has been attributed to differences in playing styles and intensity, as well as biological differences (44, 89). Specifically, males have been found to have faster ball speeds and are able to win more points off their serve, whereas females have greater hitting and movement loads (44, 89). Additionally, sex differences in bilateral and unilateral movement and strength have been associated with sex and limb-specific injuries (90). Seemingly, the sex-injury relationship in tennis is currently more informative as it relates to region-specific injury incidence, particularly in elite adult players. Yet, further research is needed to understand the global and junior body-region sex-differences in elite tennis injury to determine relevant risk mitigation strategies.

Overall, age, maturation, injury history and sex are seemingly all important non-modifiable risk factors to consider and monitor by elite tennis players and support staff. The evidence of their relationship to injury is bolstered by findings in other sports (74, 79, 83). Although a starting point, further insights into the association of these unavoidable risk factors with injury

in elite tennis populations is needed to provide more targeted strategies to reduce their hindrance.

#### **2.7. MODIFIABLE INTRINSIC RISK FACTORS**

In addition to non-modifiable risk factors, there are numerous modifiable intrinsic risk factors that can also predispose a tennis player to injury risk (7, 8). Modifiable risk factors are also internal to an athlete, however unlike non-modifiable risk factors, they are not fixed and can subsequently be altered (7, 8). Therefore, the importance of understanding how these factors relate to injury lies in their ability to be adjusted to reduce the risk of injury. Modifiable risk factors in elite tennis can include physical capacity, musculoskeletal function, playing standard and wellbeing (7, 8). However, the understanding of each of these risk factors as they relate to injury in tennis is currently limited.

## 2.7.1. Physical capacity

The demands of elite tennis, specifically the repeated multiple changes of direction, fast accelerations and decelerations, and large rotational and ground reaction forces places large amounts of strain on the musculoskeletal and cardiorespiratory systems (5, 46). Therefore, an established and robust physical foundation is important for the successful performance of these required repetitive movements (35). Conversely, a poor physical base may limit a player's ability to tolerate these loads and can predispose them to injury risk (35). The assessment of physical capacities is commonly measured via a battery of fitness tests which are usually completed at the start and end of a season or training block (91, 92). This timing limits the impact other variables, such as fatigue and soreness, on the test outcomes (91, 92). It also allows for the tracking of progress (91, 92). A suite of tests has been specifically recommended for the assessment of physical capacities in tennis players (91, 92) (Table 3).

However, the assessment of these physical capacity tests has only been reported as they relate to playing standard and performance, rather than injury. Nevertheless, it has been found that aerobic capacity was able to discriminate between national and international level male tennis players (93). Additionally, findings that elite junior tennis players had greater lower- and upper-body power, strength and flexibility compared to their recreational counterparts have been reported (76).

<b>Fitness Testing Measure</b>	Tests	
Strength	Grip strength test	
	Push up test	
	Sit up test	
Speed	5m, 10m and 20m sprints	
	Tennis specific sprint test	
Change of direction speed	505 agility test	
	Illinois agility test	
	Tennis-specific agility test	
Jumping ability (lower body power)	Countermovement jump	
	Repetition jumps	
Upper body power	Medicine ball throws	
	Serve velocity	
Aerobic capacity	Tennis-specific Hit & Turn Test	
	Maximal multistage 20m shuttle run test	

(91, 92, 94, 95)

Unlike other sports, there is no literature in elite tennis suggesting that underdeveloped physical capacities crate a heightened injury risk (96-98). Low aerobic capacity has been associated with greater lower-limb injuries in elite junior Australian football players (97), elite adult Australian footballers (96) as well as global injury incidence in elite ballet students (98). Additionally, faster acceleration and slower change of direction speed were also found to be associated with greater lower-limb injuries in junior Australian football players (97). A poor aerobic capacity and slow change of direction ability may be associated with injury because they limit the ability for an athlete to tolerate the load and movement demands of the sport, as reported respectively in Australian football and ballet (96-98). Conversely, faster accelerations in Australian football may exacerbate the physical demands due to greater eccentric loads (97, 99). Alternatively, faster accelerations may result in an injury-inciting event such as a hamstring strain from biomechanical failure (8). As it relates to tennis, prolonged matchplay over consecutive days has shown to reduce sprinting ability in sub-elite tennis players (6). Aligning this to the heightened injury risk with faster accelerations in Australian football, may suggest that tennis players are more at risk when their acceleration and speed are impaired. However, this suggestion fails to consider whether tennis players with superior speed and acceleration are at less risk of injury. Evidently, research is needed to determine what and how physical capacity measures are associated with injury risk in elite tennis players so they can be tested and monitored appropriately as well as inform training prescription.

#### 2.7.2. Musculoskeletal function

Coupled with the understanding of the relationship between a player's physical capacity and injury, it is important to understand how limitations or deficiencies in a player's musculoskeletal function are associated with injury (100). Specifically, assessing the flexibility, strength and pain profile of player joints can potentially highlight injury risks (100,

101). Accordingly, musculoskeletal screenings are commonly used to assess musculoskeletal function (100, 101). Although no extensive list of musculoskeletal screening measures is available, particularly in tennis, the battery of tests utilised at Tennis Australia are listed in Table 4. Globally, musculoskeletal screenings are commonly completed pre-participation (baseline) or at the start of a training block to identify characteristics of the musculoskeletal system which may predispose an athlete to injury risk, without other confounding factors such as muscle soreness or fatigue (100, 101). They look to determine any structural or muscular weaknesses, dysfunction and/or imbalance that may limit the potential performance of athletes and/or be indicative of future injury risk (100, 101). They are also generally reviewed at the end of a season and/or training block to determine any adaptation to training as well as the effectiveness of injury prevention programs and physiotherapy intervention (100).

Musculoskeletal screening test	Description	Unit of measure
Dominant single leg squat	Unilateral lower limb	1: good, 2: fair, 3: poor
	mobility and strength	
Thoracic overhead extension	Thoracic flexibility	1: within normal limits, 2:
		stiff, 3: hypermobile
Scapula dyskinesis	Scapula function in	1: normal, 2: abnormal
	flexion	
Glunohumeral internal rotation deficit	Difference in shoulder	Degrees difference
	range of motions	
Dominant supine hip internal rotation	Hip internal rotation	1: within normal limits, 2:
		stiff, 3: hypermobile
Dominant supine hip external rotation	Hip external rotation	1: within normal limits, 2:
		stiff, 3: hypermobile
Squeeze test	Hip adduction	1: good, 2: fair, 3: poor
Dominant Thomas test	Hip extension	1: above horizontal, 2:
		horizontal, 3: below
		horizontal
(102)		

(102)

However, ambiguity exists in the standardisation of screening tests as well as the efficacy of these protocols (100, 103). A review on the inter and intra-rater reliability of musculoskeletal screening measures in sport found most studies did not undertake reliability testing as part of their research (103). This casts some doubt on interpretation of the screening results and subsequent relationship to injury. Additionally, Bahr (2016) highlighted that screenings are unable to determine injury outcomes without adequate testing of their validity, which has failed to be achieved in the current body of research. This may explain why the findings of many musculoskeletal screening and injury studies remain equivocal (100, 105-107). Some studies suggest that there is a correlation between certain adverse screening outcomes and injury incidence (100, 105-107), whereas others suggest no such relationship (108, 109). In tennis, the research into screening reliability, as well as the relationship to injury, is sparse. For example, differences in dominant and non-dominant shoulder internal and external strength may be indicative of injury (110). Additionally, an association between hip range of motion and injury in professional female tennis players has been reported (20). However, the findings were retrospective in nature with an athlete-reporting of injury history being the outcome measure. As such, the capability of existing screening protocols to assess injury risk in tennis and other sports is somewhat unclear, yet continue to be routinely performed. As a starting point, better quality methodological approaches to musculoskeletal screenings is needed, including reliability and validity testing. Additionally, further exploration of their relationship to injuries in tennis with a longitudinal and prospective approach may provide more useful findings.

#### 2.7.3. PLAYING STANDARD

Although the focus of the thesis is on elite tennis players, the standard of play may predispose players to a greater exposure to injury risk. It has been found that injuries in international competition of gymnastics, swimming, soccer and tennis were far higher than in national

competition (111). Additionally, injuries in elite gymnasts were higher than sub-elite gymnasts over an 18-month training and competition period (112). Specifically, when comparing between tennis injury epidemiology studies, the injury profile varies across the standard of tennis players with higher reports in elite populations as compared to college/subelite and recreational populations (9, 10, 12, 62, 66). However, the reason for the variations in injury incidence with playing standard is not clearly defined. It has been suggested that the differences in injury incidences may be due to heightened training and match activity profiles as the standard of play improves (75). For example, professional tennis players perform more serves during matchplay compared to junior players, with the serve thought to be a mechanical injury precursor (42). Additionally, the serve speeds and aerobic demands of elite tennis matchplay have been found to be higher as compared to sub-elite matchplay (6, 44, 45). The duration of male Grand Slam tennis is also higher than lower-tiered tournaments owing to the fact that they are competed over the best of five-set matches (43). Although it is clear that the demands increase with playing standard, the explicit relationship between these heightened loads and injury remains speculative in tennis and warrants further exploration. As mentioned, this will form a large section of the body of research in this thesis and will be elaborated on further in the literature review.

#### 2.7.4. Wellbeing

Of wide interest in elite sport globally, is the surveillance of wellbeing to monitor the condition of athletes (113, 114). The condition of an athlete can include their readiness to compete, fatigue, mood, training distress as well as psychological stress (113, 114). Wellbeing is typically monitored and quantified via select psychometric assessments such as the Athlete Distress Questionnaire (115), Recovery-Stress Questionnaire (116) and Profile of Mood States (117) or customised wellness questionnaires (113, 114). These assessments are generally administered as athlete questionnaires which are then reviewed and actioned upon

by relevant practitioners and coaches. In addition to determining an athlete's psychological state, wellbeing monitoring tools are also utilised to determine the potential impact on athletic performance as well as injury risk (23, 118-120). Numerous studies, including those in soccer, Australian football and rugby league have found an association between athlete ratings of fatigue and stress, and an increase in injury risk (23, 118-120). Specifically, it was found that elite junior soccer players with higher ratings of general and sport-specific stress where more likely to incur a traumatic or overuse injury (118). Additionally, perceptual ratings of anxiety, negative life stresses and daily hassle were all shown to be predictors of injury in professional soccer players (119). Sleep quality, mood, perceived performance, and perceived health and fitness have all been associated with heightened injury risk in other sports (121-123). Of interest, perceived ratings of muscle soreness have also been found to be associated with heightened injury risk in elite sports (124). For example, higher ratings of lower-limb discomfort in rugby league, rugby union and Australian football players resulted in a greater incidence of subsequent injury (124). Overall, it is evident that numerous measures of athletic wellbeing are related to injury risk in respective sports. The specific mechanism for how wellbeing measures impact on injury is said to be caused by a psychological stress response (119). This can manifest in physical changes such as fatigue and muscle tension, as well as emotional responses such a distraction which ultimately expose athletes to greater injury risk (119, 123).

However, the association between perceptual wellbeing measures and injury has not been explored in elite tennis. As tennis is an individual sport and termed a 'lonely' sport by many players, it can result in perceptual stresses which may ensue in injury risk (125). Additionally, the large competition and travel demands of elite tennis may also impact on a player's psychological state and subsequent injury risk (1, 4, 35). Therefore, further research is needed

to support these statements. Owing to the established link between reductions in wellbeing and injury in other elite sports, there is a clear need to explore this in elite tennis.

### Summary of intrinsic risk factors in tennis

The specific relationships of modifiable risk factors including physical capacity, musculoskeletal function, playing standard and wellbeing to injury in elite tennis is unclear. The findings from other sports suggest some associations, however, they should be adopted with caution in tennis due to limitations in the generalisability of the practical outcomes (97, 101, 111, 114, 119). As a result, these intrinsic risk factors and how they related to injury in elite tennis deserves further investigation. Coupled with this, the extrinsic risk factors, which expose these players to further risk, needs to be considered.

## **2.8.** EXTRINSIC RISK FACTORS

The environment in which elite tennis players operate results in an accepted exposure to numerous risk factors (17, 126). These risks can include court surface, climate and equipment as well as the type, volume and intensity of training and matchplay (17, 126). Coupled with an understanding of intrinsic risks, the exploration of how these extrinsic risk factors relate to injury in elite tennis is fundamental for the informed development of risk mitigation strategies. These strategies may be adopted by tournament organisers and the governing bodies of tennis, including the International Tennis Federation (ITF), Association of Tennis Professionals (ATP) and the Women's Tennis Association (WTA), to ensure events and annual tournament calendars are considerate of the extrinsic risks imposed on its players. Additionally, it can assist players and their support teams in the creation of evidence-based training and injury prevention programs. It must be noted that owing to data availability and

priorities of this thesis, court surface, climate and equipment will be explored in the literature review but not in the ensuing body of research.

### 2.8.1. Competition phase

The demands of tournament matchplay, as compared to tennis training, are relatively different with greater serve loads, perceived intensity and distances covered reported during matchplay (75, 127). Owing to the congested tournament schedules of elite tennis, players typically compete in an average of three tournaments in a row. These consecutively competed tournaments are referred to as tournament swings (37). These tournament swings are interspersed with travel as well as time-restricted training. Therefore, although the activity profile of competition tennis is generally higher than training, as training blocks are short there is an urgency to maximise the training dose within the given timeframe (127). Therefore, the relationship between both tournament and training phases, and subsequent injury, may vary.

Variations in the injury profile of different competition phases have been highlighted previously (14, 62, 63). Specifically, it is often found that injuries during tennis competition are more frequent as compared to training in both sub-elite and elite tennis cohorts across both sexes (14, 62, 63). This is consistent with findings in elite soccer whereby the severity of within-event injuries were greater than those incurred during training (85). The explanation for the higher injury incidence in-event can be attributed to both additional extrinsic and intrinsic risk factors present in competition. Particularly, competitive matchplay exposes elite tennis players to unique risks including opponent-dictated loads and movement demands as well as the pressures of the score, media, crowd, ranking points and prizemoney (128). These risks are not present in training whereby the loads and movement demands are typically

controlled and the external pressures are either limited or non-existent. Additionally, as the external and internal load demands of competition tennis have been found to be greater than during training (4), the higher cumulative loads over the length of a tournament and/or tournament swing may heighten the injury risk in-competition. This suggested rise in injury incidence with higher cumulative loads has been found in other elite sports such as Australian football and rugby league (28, 29). The higher within-event demands in elite tennis may also exploit or exacerbate intrinsic risk including a player's physical capacity, age and musculoskeletal function. Although these mechanisms can explain the higher injury incidence within-competition, there is not existing elite tennis literature to support these explanations. Therefore, further research is needed to justify these statements. Regardless, the greater injury risk in competition has implications for players and tournament organisers alike. Players need to consider the load profile of matchplay and ensure training is specific to these demands so they are best prepared for competition. Additionally, tournament organisers can use this information in the consideration of match scheduling and player health and safety within-event.

However, the injury incidence during training also deserves exploration given their finite timeframes. Additionally, it is particularly important to understand why injuries occur in elite junior training given it is the key period of athletic, technical and tactical development prior to their transition and competition on the professional tour (2). It is commonly found that individual training durations are greater than individual match durations in elite tennis which may in itself heighten injury risk (75). Additionally, it has been reported that players experience declines in physical capacities during tournament swings (127). Specifically, declines in speed, change of direction ability and aerobic capacity have been reported posttournament swing in elite junior tennis players (127). Therefore, this can limit a player's ability to tolerate the demands of training post-competition which can exacerbate injury risk.

However, like the competition load-injury relationship, the explicit relationship between the loads experienced during training and injury has not been explored in elite tennis. An understanding of the aetiology of injury incidence in tournament and training phases is seemingly important for their monitoring and management and warrants further investigation.

#### 2.8.2. COURT SURFACE

Tennis is generally played on clay, grass and variations of hard court surfaces (50) with injuries reported to be more prominent on hard courts compared to clay and grass surfaces (22, 129). For example, a study on the injury-enforced retirement in male professional competition showed a greater incidence on hard court as compared to clay and grass (22). Similarly, it has been found that injuries on hard court were higher than clay in recreational tennis players of both sexes (130). However, another study observing retirements in professional tennis matches found no difference in male injury incidence by court surface but found women to incur more injuries on hard court as compared to clay (129). Comparing Grand Slams, injuries at the US Open, played on hard court, were more common than at Wimbledon which is played on grass (9, 10). It must be noted that the comparison between Grand Slams is limited by the difference in exposure measures selected (1,000 match versus set exposures; (9, 10)). Overall, the greater prominence of hard court injuries in tennis is relatively consistent across all playing standards and sexes.

Interestingly, the mechanism behind the higher incidence of tennis injuries on hard court, as compared to clay and grass, is inconclusive. Greater eccentric and concentric forces have been reported on hard court as compared to other surfaces (131). Additionally, larger loading through the foot has been found on hard versus clay court which may heighten the injury risk (132). However, point durations are generally longer in clay court competition (133) and ball

speeds faster in grass court competition (89) which may suggest that the physical demands, and subsequent injury risk, of clay and grass court tennis can also be high. However, interestingly, a physiological comparison of hard and clay matchplay found no differences in the profile of the matches by court surface (134). Although there is consistency in the injury incidence by court surface, the mechanisms behind the risk are still relatively unclear and require further investigation. Further research in this area may assist in specific risk management strategies for training and competition on different court surfaces. Additionally, it may inform consideration of tournament participation by court surface as a way to reduce the injury risk throughout the demanding elite tennis tournament season.

## 2.8.3. HEAT

Tennis is generally played outdoors, and during specific periods in the annual calendar, elite tournaments are contested in hot environmental conditions (135). Participation in tennis competition in hot climates has been commonly associated with heat illness (136). However, in relative terms, the incidence of heat illness is substantially lower than injury incidence inevent (136). Additionally, if and how playing in hot climates is associated to tennis injury, in addition to illness, is largely unknown. Exercising in the heat has been known to increase the physiological and perceptual load on the body, increase central fatigue and reduce muscle function (135, 137, 138). Specifically, tennis matchplay in the heat has been found to reduce knee extensor strength which compromises the neuromuscular integrity of the lower-limb (139) and a theoretical injury risk. However, another tennis study reported no difference in the physical decrements of competition tennis in hot, as compared to cold environments, suggesting it is the match external load, not environment, that affects performance and injury risk (140, 141). Evidently, there is conjecture in the limited research exploring the impact of hot climates on performance and subsequent injury risk in tennis. Therefore, further

understanding of the heat-injury relationship in elite tennis is needed, particularly given the fact that many elite tournaments are competed in hot climates (135, 136).

### 2.8.4. Equipment

In addition to court surface and climate, equipment is another factor that can influence injury in elite tennis. Modern tennis has seen large technological advancements in the equipment used including racquets, balls and string (50, 51). Contemporary tennis racquets are generally constructed from a composite of materials including, but not limited to, graphite, carbon and fibre-glass (50). This has made them lighter and stiffer as compared to historic, wooden racquets (50), resulting in faster swing speeds and subsequently faster ball speeds (50). However, the change from wood to new composite racquets has also seen a rise in tennis injuries (50, 51). The reason for this is unclear but may be due to greater vibrations and torque as well as a general increase in the pace of matchplay (50, 51). Correspondingly, although the composition of the tennis ball has not changed much with time, it has been found that modern balls are slightly harder compared to previous (50). Therefore, in combination with stiffer racquets and faster ball speeds, has been linked to injury (50). Conversely, no literature is currently available on the association between strings and injury. This may be as a result of limitations in the ability to quantify the effects of string technology per se. Yet, with Hawkeye technology now available (142), the ability to assess string performance and the subsequent association to injury risk is now possible. Coupled with the numerous types and combinations of string on the market, as well as variations in string tension selection, it seems crucial to explore from both an injury and performance perspective. The advent of Hawkeye technology can also provide more insight on racquet and ball performance and their subsequent risk for injury. Therefore, this requires further research attention.

#### 2.8.5. TRAINING LOADS

Training loads are a critical part of modern-day sports science and have become ubiquitous in the preparation of professional athletes. As a starting point, it is important to define training load. The IOC consensus statement on load and injury states load as:

'The sport and non-sport burden (single or multiple physiological, psychological or mechanical stressors) as a stimulus that is applied to a human biological system (including subcellular elements, a single cell, tissues, one or multiple organ systems, or the individual)'. (143)

Training load can be classified as external or internal. External load describes the amount of work completed irrespective of an athlete's physical characteristics (39). It is the dose of training or matchplay. Alternatively, internal load describes the physiological and psychological stress response to the dose of training (39). Quantifying, monitoring and understanding the external and internal loads of elite tennis is integral to the daily development of elite tennis players. It provides objective aid to coaches and medical staff to optimise player performance within competition. On the contrary, when not managed correctly, training loads are a risk factor for injury. Therefore, it is important to contextualise training loads and their relationship to injury so that athletes and staff are better informed in their strategies to minimise injury risk and maximise performance.

## 2.8.5.1. EXTERNAL LOADS IN TENNIS AND THE RELATIONSHIP TO INJURY

Understanding of the external load-injury relationship in tennis is extremely scant with the only findings suggesting that the volume of practice and matchplay per day and week are positively associated with injury (12, 60). Alternatively, the external load-injury relationship

has been heavily researched in other elite sports including cricket, rugby league and Australian football (25, 26, 29). The findings from these studies highlight varying levels of association between particular external workload profiles and injury. Specifically, findings in elite cricket highlights that either a low or high bowling load increase injury risk (25). Additionally, cumulative weekly distance covered and greater volumes of high speed running have been associated with heighted injury risk in Australian footballers and rugby league players respectively (26, 29). Similarly, a high number of accelerations, as well as large acute high-speed distances coupled with low chronic high-speed distances were also found to increase injury risk in elite junior football (soccer) players (144). These suggest specific external load measures should be monitored to determine injury risk in these select sports. However, some of these external loads metrics may not be applicable to tennis. Additionally, the external load profile of elite tennis is unique and may therefore result in different associations to injury compared to what has been found in other sports.

The lack of external load-injury research in tennis is largely owing to previous difficulties in the quantification of tennis-specific external load measures both within competition and training (145). To date, external loads in tennis have been limited to fairly global measures including number of balls hit, matches played, match duration and distance covered (6, 41, 43, 44). As reference, the external load profile of tennis has been categorised and described in Table 1 (page 35). Until recently, the capturing of these measures have generally involved human notational analysis via live or video feedback (145). This is time-consuming and limits the practicality of collecting this data on a regular basis, both within matchplay and training. However, with the modern advent of Hawkeye and inertial sensor technology this process is becoming automated and timely and can allow for more in-depth external load measures to be collected (44, 142, 145). For example, distances covered in different speed bands were able to be quantified during Grand Slam tennis matches via Hawkeye technology (44). Similarly, the

automatic capture of groundstrokes defined by spin type, i.e. backhand topspin compared to backhand slice, using an inertial sensor fixed to the dominant wrist has recently been validated (145). Subsequently, the growing ease of quantifying external loads in tennis can allow for a more robust examination of their relationship to injury in the near future.

However, in the absence of established external load and injury relationships, perhaps tennis can lean on findings from other sports with an overhead component. Specifically, cricket and baseball research highlight that balls bowled and pitches thrown, respectively, have been shown to be related to injury risk (25, 146). Therefore, extrapolating to tennis environments where there is an absence of data, it can be suggested that serve loads be monitored and assessed for its association to injury. Additionally, as competitive tennis matchplay is not defined by duration but rather score (45), as per cricket and baseball, variability in match duration, hitting volume and, speed and distance variables within a match may have some association to injury and should be explored further. In addition to the exploration of the external load-injury relationship in tennis, the response to such loads and the association to injury also needs to be considered.

## 2.8.5.2. INTERNAL LOADS IN TENNIS AND THE RELATIONSHIP TO INJURY

Internal loads quantify the physical, physiological and psychological stress response to a bout of training or matchplay (39). These include, but are not limited to, heart rate, oxygen consumption, RPE (47) and perceptual wellbeing (39). These responses have been found to be associated with injury risk in other sports, however, there has been no exploration of this relationship in tennis. Specifically, the internal load-injury relationship has been examined in Australian football, rugby league and cricket with disparate findings (29, 147-149). As case in point, studies have observed higher internal loads, quantified via sRPE (3), resulted in an

increased risk of injury in cricketers and rugby league players (28, 147, 148). However, other reports suggest there is no relationship between sRPE (3) and injury occurrence also in rugby league as well as Australian football players (30, 150). Although speculative, the differences in load profile of the sports and athletic cohorts, as well as differences in the load and timeframe calculations may have resulted in the confounding findings. Consistently though, numerous studies including those in professional soccer, Australian football and rugby league have reported relationships between perceptual wellbeing ratings and injury (23, 118, 119). Specifically, it was found the lower ratings of perceptual wellbeing were associated with injury in elite junior and adult soccer players (118, 119). Additionally, it has been reported that perceptual wellbeing measures are reduced post-Australian football and rugby league games which do not recover for 2-3 days (114, 120). Although no link to injury was explored in these studies, the findings suggest that there are complex interactions between external and internal loads which may collectively have an association to injury risk. The collation of findings in other elite sports highlights the need to understand the internal load-injury relationship in elite tennis, particularly given the fact that the internal load profile of elite tennis differs substantially. As reference, the internal load profile of tennis has already been categorised and described in Table 2 (page 35). Owing to the large volume of research exploring the relationship of sRPE (3) and wellbeing with injury in elite sport, the exploration of these internal loads may be the best place to start for uncovering the internal load-injury relationship in tennis. Yet, as an understanding of both the dose and response to training/matchplay are the most informative for injury management, the exploration of both external and internal loads collectively to injury is also needed.

## 2.8.5.3. The modelling of external and internal loads to injury in sport

Conceptually, the genesis of the recent external and internal load and injury relationship research can be traced back to the fitness-fatigue model of Banister et al. (1975) (Figure 3).

This model describes the dose-response relationship to training whereby after a training stimulus an athlete has both an acute fatigue and chronic fitness response (151). The difference between these two variables results in a performance outcome. The outcome is positive if an athlete's fitness outweighs fatigue, and the contrary if not (151).



Figure 3: The fitness-fatigue model as proposed by Banister et al. (1975)

Similarly, the ACWR, which is commonly used to quantify training loads, is an adapted representation of the negative fatigue (acute load) and positive fitness (chronic load) response to training (25). Specifically, acute and chronic workloads are calculated via the rolling average of loads experiences in selected timeframes, usually 7 and 28-days respectively (30). These timeframes are arbitrarily assigned to the fatigue and fitness response but have been justified as aligning to typical micro- and mesocycles of training and competition (152, 153). It is the ratio of these two; the difference between the fatigue and fitness response, that is commonly assessed for its association to injury (25, 27). For example, findings in cricket suggest that a spike in the ACWR, quantified by distance covered, of greater than 1.5 in a given week results in heightened injury risk (25). This is consistent with findings in Australian football and rugby league (27). However, in these cases, the fitness-fatigue model (151) has been adapted to feature injury, rather than performance, as the outcome measure. This has consequently raised speculation over the relevant application of the Banister fitnessfatigue model to such contexts. Additionally, the selected timeframes of acute (1-week) and chronic (4-weeks) loads commonly used have also been criticised as being subjectively allocated to the training response timeframes of fatigue and fitness respectively (30).

Given these queries and critiques, recent variations in the timeframes and calculations of daily load metrics have been suggested as better indicators of injury risk than the commonly calculated ACWR over 7 and 28-days (30, 31, 33, 34). Different acute and chronic timeframes have been found to perform better in understanding the association to injury in elite Australian football (30). Specifically, acute timeframes of three or 6-days, coupled with a chronic timeframe of 3-weeks outperformed all other modelled timeframes including the traditional 1 and 4-week periods (30). An alternative load model has also been suggested compared to the ACWR which incorporates a decay factor to loads over time (154). The EWMA model provides greater weighting to loads experienced more recently with the theory

that they are likely to be more impactful on injury compared to loads experienced further in the past (33, 154). When the EWMA was compared to the ACWR in elite Australian footballers, it was found that EWMA was a more sensitive indicator of subsequent injury (33). Although an isolated study, the findings promote the need for further exploration. Additionally, a mathematical limitation in the ACWR calculation has been highlighted (34). Using the traditional 7 and 28-day acute and chronic timeframes as an example; the 7-day acute period is also included within the 28-day chronic calculation. Therefore, when the ratio is calculated, the acute load features in both the numerator and denominator resulting in mathematical coupling (34). Therefore, the removal of the acute load timeframe from the chronic load calculation, i.e. the calculation of chronic load from day 8 to 28, has also been recommended (34). Other alternatives to the ACWR have also been suggested, including the utilisation of monotony and strain calculations to account for variability in training loads and training stress (31, 155). However, to date, the findings have been limited (31, 155).

Given that not even the ACWR ratio has been explored in tennis, these alternative approaches can provide direction for the quantification and assessment of the load-injury relationship in elite tennis. Furthermore, future exploration of the load-injury paradigm in elite tennis and other sports may choose to assess the relationship differently as it has recently been suggested that the predictive ability of loads to injury should be explored, rather than the association (31, 32).

# 2.8.5.4. A mathematical understanding of the load-injury relationship in sport: Association versus prediction

As highlighted above, most injury aetiology studies assess risk factors and their *association* to injury and thus lack exploration of *prediction*. However, it is common for these terms to be
used interchangeably (156). For example, Hulin et al. (2016) highlighted that training loads can predict injury but actually used injury risk as an association. It is important to understand the difference between these two terms in order to select the appropriate statistical methodology and subsequent interpretation of the findings. Association models, also called explanatory models, refer to the testing of casual explanations with specific statistical methods (156). Whereas prediction is the application of a statistical model on a dataset to predict future outcomes (156). Namely, understanding the sensitivity and specificity of a model being the ability of the model to detect true positives (injuries) and true negatives (noninjuries)(8). Although association and prediction outcomes can be related, a model with strong association may not necessarily be able to predict (157). As it relates to the ACWR, the ability to predict injury, rather than determine the association, has be explored in elite Australian football and soccer with limited results (31, 32). The injury predictive ability of ACWR in both were found to be similar to chance (31, 32). However, neither the predictive or associative ability has been explored in tennis. Owing to the differences in load profiles across sports, there is merit in investigating the injury prediction ability of workloads in elite tennis. The findings are important for the evidence-based guidance of load monitoring and manipulation in tennis to reduce injury risk.

Evidently, there is a lack of understanding of the load-injury relationship in tennis owing to scares research attempts. Additionally, the outcomes from load-injury research available in other sports highlights a lack of clarity in the methodology justification and findings. These limitations lead to the third aim of this thesis. Conceptually, the aim was to determine which load metrics and timeframes are the best predictors of injuries in elite tennis.

#### **2.9. A MULTIFACTORIAL APPROACH TO EXPLAINING INJURY RISK**

Although the exploration of each intrinsic and extrinsic risk factor in isolation is common and provides potential mechanisms for injury, it fails to consider the multifactorial nature of injury occurrence (7, 17). As Meeuwisse's injury aetiology model describes (Figure 2, page 45), injury occurs based on a collection of intrinsic and extrinsic risks coupled with an inciting event (7). To elaborate on the detailed context of these relationships, the injury aetiology model developed by Meeuwisse (1994) has been adapted in recent times by both Meeuwisse et al. (2007) as well as more recent adaptations by another research group (153).

The first adaptation includes the provision of a more cyclical approach to risk and injury (158) (Figure 4). This iteration highlights that some predisposed and susceptible athletes do not actually suffer an injury. This may be a result of the correct monitoring and management of such risk factors or the development of an athlete's tolerance to the present risks. Alternatively, it may be due to attempts to avoid injury by reducing exposure to risks such as lowering training loads or not competing in hard-court tournaments. However, this avoidance can also result in a decline in performance (28). Regardless, the model highlights that, due to non-injury, athletes continue to participate which may likely expose them to new intrinsic and extrinsic risks which subsequently recommences the cyclical model (158).



Figure 4: Dynamic, recursive athletic injury aetiology model (158)

Additionally, a more modern iteration of the model includes workload as a standalone risk factor, which, itself impacts on other intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors (153) (Figure 5). For example, a prolonged competitive tennis match has a high workload profile. This can exacerbate extrinsic risk factors such as the court surface, climate and equipment as well as amplify intrinsic risk factors such as age or perceptual wellbeing. Additionally, the workload may also heighten the risk of an inciting event occurring. Therefore, this model highlights that workload is integral to the risk of injury in sport.



Figure 5: The workload-injury aetiology model (153)

These injury aetiology model iterations highlight the need to investigate how risk factors and inciting events interact with one another to resultant injury outcomes. These outcomes can shape decision-making around the collective monitoring of risk factors for the prevention of injury.

Multifactorial approaches to assessing injuries in other sports are common (23, 24, 85, 148), yet remain absent in tennis. Specifically, it has been found that the aggregation of both intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors in other sports are best at informing injury outcomes (23, 24, 85, 148). For example, a rise in training volume and intensity coupled with a decrease in sleep duration resulted in a higher injury risk in elite youth athletes across 16 other sports (24). Other reports show that low chronic loads, as measured by sRPE (3), coupled with high running distances to be associated with an increase in injury risk in elite Australian footballers (23). Correspondingly, sub-elite rugby league players with slower running speeds, lower aerobic capacity and less pre-season training weeks were at greatest risk of injury (148). Additionally, older soccer players with a previous injury history were also found to be at greater risk of incurring a hamstring injury, whereas taller soccer players in the same cohort with a previous injury history were at greater risk of incurring a knee injury (85). These findings highlight the multifactorial development of injuries and potential risk factors to monitor for injury mitigation strategies in the respective sports. As an aside, as most elite sports monitor multiple risk factors in an attempt to reduce injury incidence, a multifactorial analysis can also shed light on the prioritisation and/or necessity of some commonly monitored risk factors. This can have further implication for the resourcing of staff, time, systems and budget needed to monitor these factors.

Although the same methodological approaches can be adopted for tennis research, the findings cannot necessarily be applied, owing to the differing profiles of the sport and the

associated risk factors. Within elite tennis, the exploration, study design and findings of multifactorial assessments of injury are extremely limited. It was found that older, elite junior male tennis players who played a greater number of matches incurred more injuries in national competition (12). However, the interaction of each of these variables to one another was not assessed. Rather, they were all determined to be associated to the same injury outcome in isolation. Therefore, it is unknown whether the combination of age and match demands would result in a better understanding of injury risk rather than each in isolation.

As the multifactorial analysis of elite tennis injuries is in its infancy and fundamentally important for a more holistic understanding of injury aetiology, the fourth and final study of this thesis emerged. Specifically, the aim was to determine which collection of commonly measured intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors are best associated with subsequent injuries in elite tennis. The findings can have practical implications for the selection and monitoring of risk factors and strategies to mitigate their influence on injury.

#### **2.10. STATE OF THE LITERATURE**

It is evident that limitations exist in the current body of literature describing the incidence, precursors and relationships to injury in elite tennis players. There is an incomplete epidemiological profile of injuries in elite junior and professional tennis as well as a lack of definitive and empirical insight into the association and predictive ability of individual and multiple risk factors to injury (9-12, 15, 36).

The injury epidemiology of professional tennis has previously been explored, particularly within the Wimbledon and US Open Grand Slam events (9, 10). However, owing to

differences in exposure measure selection as well as the absence of severity and year-and-year changes in incidence, further profiling is needed (9, 10). Additionally, given each of the Grand Slams have different court surface, climate and temporal (time of year) profiles, the subsequent injury profiles may differ. Therefore, the first study in this thesis will explore the epidemiological injury profile of the Australian Open Grand Slam longitudinally. The aim is to provide further understanding of the sex and region-based differences in injuries within a professional tennis tournament as well as establish novel insight into the treatment cost and changes from year-to-year associated with in-event injuries. The findings can provide practical insight for medical-resourcing in-event as well as add to the profile of injuries that occur at the pinnacle tier of the elite tennis pathway.

In addition to the incomplete injury epidemiology of professional tennis, the elite junior tennis injury profile is also limited in the current literature (11, 15, 36). The limitations include scarcity or absence of select injury incidence variables including severity and changes over time, as well as discrepancy in the findings. Subsequently, a longitudinal epidemiological profile of elite junior tennis players in a national program will be undertaken. The aim is to explore the injury incidence by age, sex, body region, severity and time. These findings, coupled with the findings from the Australian Open study, can assist in clarifying and broadening the injury profile of the elite tennis pathway.

This literature review has also detailed that the aetiology of elite tennis injuries is scant in the current body of research (12). This is owing to limitations in the quantification of external load measures in tennis, uncertainty in the current relationship between load and injury in elite sport, as well as a lack of exploration into the multifactorial nature of tennis injuries. Therefore, this thesis also aims to understand the load-injury relationship in elite tennis.

Specifically, to determine which load metric and timeframe is the best at predicting elite tennis injuries. Consequently, a multivariate analysis of intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors in elite tennis will also be undertaken with the aim to determine the aggregate of risk factors with the strongest association with subsequent injury. The outcomes of these two studies aims to provide evidence-based selection of risk factors to be captured and monitored, as well as the development of practical and targeted approaches to mitigate their risk. Overall, this body of research aims to expand both the descriptive and detailed understanding of injury epidemiology and aetiology in elite tennis players to ultimately reduce their burden on player development and success in the sport.

Supplementary to this body of research, the review of literature highlighted limitations in the comparison and precision of exposure measures selected in the reporting of injury rates in epidemiology studies. Therefore, an ancillary objective of this thesis will explore external workload metrics to determine their ability to specifically describe the demands of training/matchplay as it relates to injury rates. This features in Appendix 1.

### **3. CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY AND DESIGN**

### 3.1. Study 1 – Injury epidemiology of tennis players at the 2011 to 2016 Australian Open Grand Slam

#### 3.1.1. METHODS

Injury data from the 2011 to 2016 Australian Open Grand Slams were used for the analysis. A total of 1,170 unique injuries incurred across the men's and women's qualifying and main draw singles, doubles and mixed doubles events and all were included for analysis. There were a total of 3,120 players competing in these events across the six years. The mean male and female professional singles ranking of the singles cohorts were  $84 \pm 71$  and  $81 \pm 76$  respectively. Junior and wheelchair tennis player injuries were excluded to ensure homogeneity in the cohort as well as to allow for comparison to previous Grand Slam injury literature (9, 10). All consultations were entered and stored on secure, digital repositories. Consent for the use of data for research purposes was collected from all Australian Open players upon entry to the tournament, assuming player anonymity was maintained. The study was approved by the Australian Catholic University Human Ethics Committee (reference number 2015-200N).

#### 3.1.2. INJURY DEFINITION AND CLASSIFICATION

Injury incidence was defined as an injury that occurred during the Australian Open requiring a medical consultation by a tournament-appointed physician. The number of tournament-appointment physicians was six per year over the 6-year collection period. Injury data was classified by region and type as per the Orchard Sports Injury Classification System (OSICS)(159) and was obtained by exporting the relevant consultations. The OSICS is a hierarchical four-character injury coding system. The first character refers to the body-region

of injury, the second to the injury type and the third and fourth character provide a broader description of the diagnosis (159). Injury type was limited to musculoskeletal injuries and therefore illnesses and other consultations not related to musculoskeletal injuries were omitted. These included lacerations/abrasions and bruising/haematomas consultations. The reason for such was to ensure that the results provide insight for tennis players and their stakeholders into the musculoskeletal injuries that occur in elite tennis without being confounded by acute, dermal injuries. This helps to inform training monitoring and periodization as well as physical injury prevention strategies.

#### 3.1.3. IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUENCY DEFINITION

The in-event treatment frequency of each injury region was defined as the mean number of initial and follow-up medical and physiotherapy consultations per injury. The in-event treatment frequency dataset contained injury consultation information from 2013-2016 as previous WTA and ATP consultation data was not available. Physiotherapy consultations were performed by Tennis Australia-appointed physiotherapists as well as physiotherapists from the ATP and WTA.

De-identified, consultation frequency per injury data was obtained from the ATP and WTA repositories and migrated with the same data from the Tennis Australia repository. The physiotherapy injury coding system varied with Tennis Australia physiotherapists utilising the OSICS, whereas the ATP and WTA physiotherapists used the Sports Medicine Diagnostic Coding System (SMDCS)(160). Given these disparate diagnostic-coding indices, a sports physiotherapist with more than 10-years experience in delivering and recording Grand Slam tennis physiotherapy treatments, qualitatively transformed the SMDCS codes into their

equivalent OSICS code for the purposes of analysis. Again, only musculoskeletal consultations where included in the dataset.

#### 3.1.4. CHOICE OF EXPOSURE

Although 1,000 match hours has been recommended as the preferred injury frequency (64), match durations were not readily available for all matches in the current study. In order to retain all available match data, an exposure measure that was strongly and positively correlated with match duration was sought. In tennis, games are nested within sets and sets are nested within a match. Under a standard best of three-set format, the number of games in a set can range from six to 13, while the number of sets can range from two to three. This would suggest that the number of games would be the most precise measure of match duration among these choices being the smallest common unit available. Therefore, it provides a more standardised and accessible approach to quantifying exposure. To confirm this supposition an empirical correlation analysis was undertaken. Publicly available data on minutes played for 52,948 ATP and 4,625 WTA matches of all professional event types played between 2011 and 2016 was obtained. The Pearson correlation coefficient and 95% CI between minutes and games played and minutes and sets played was evaluated. As minutes played are nested within match, the correlation with matches played is necessarily zero. The findings from this analysis are featured in Table 5 and highlight that games played was the most strongly related to minutes played.

	Games	Sets
Male	$0.87 \pm 0.00$	$0.77 \pm 0.00$
Female	$0.73 \pm 0.01$	$0.61 \pm 0.02$

Table 5: Correlation between minutes played and games versus sets played by gender in 52,948 ATP and 4,625 WTA matches respectively (Pearson's correlation coefficient  $\pm$  95% confidence interval)

Therefore, game exposures (GE) were used rather than the 1,000 set or match exposures as reported in the Wimbledon and US Open injury profiles (9, 10) as it provides a more accurate account of the exposure of matchplay (161).

Data were collated based on sex and year and reported as an injury frequency per 10,000 GE. Each singles game equated to two GEs as both players were exposed to the same game. Doubles and mixed doubles equated to four GE per game. As mixed doubles concluded with a third-set super-tiebreak (first to ten points) the total points were summed and divided by the mean number of points per game (six)(162) to quantify the GE. The total game exposures for each sex and year are listed in Table 6:

Year	Total Male Game Exposures	Total Female Game Exposure
2011	20,380	15,288
2012	21,098	15,132
2013	21,598	15,902
2014	21,296	15,748
2015	21,788	16,112
2016	21,566	15,374

*Table 6: Total number of game exposures including all singles, doubles and mixed-doubles games by sex and year* 

#### 3.1.5. Statistical analysis

Statistical programming (R Core Team, 2012) was used for the all statistical analyses.

The 'metafor' package was used to implement the fixed-effects meta-regression analysis of incidence rates  $\pm$  95% CI with precision weights. Incidence rates represent the year-on-year change in injury counts by region and type. The base year for injury incidence rates was 2011, and the base years for in-event treatment frequency was 2013 due to the unavailable of data before this time. The magnitude of change is inferred by rate ratios (RR) whereby a ratio of greater than 1 is considered to be an increase, and less than 1, a decrease. An example of the R code used to calculate the incidence rates  $\pm$  95% CI and RR by body-region and sex is shown below. An adaptation of this script was used to quantify overall injury incidence as well as injury incidence by injury type and in-event treatment frequency.

*Example of R code to calculate incidence rates*  $\pm$  95% *CI and RR:* 

```
library(metafor)
rr.se <- function(model, years){</pre>
coef <- model$b
coef.dot <- c(-1 * (coef[2] * years) / coef[1]^2, (years/coef[1]))
se <- t(coef.dot) %*% vcov(model) %*% coef.dot
sqrt(se)
}
malelumbar \leq data.frame(event = c(3, 5, 3, 6, 2, 3), exposure = c(20380, 21098, 21598, 21598)
21296, 21788, 21566), year = 2011:2016)
malelumbar <- transform(malelumbar,IR = (event/exposure)*1000)
malelumbar <- escalc(xi = event, ti = exposure, measure = "IR", data = malelumbar,
append = TRUE)
fit <- rma(yi = yi, vi = vi, data = malelumbar, mods =~ I(year - 2011), method = "FE")
summary(fit)
malelumbartable <- coef(summary(fit))</pre>
rr.se(fit, years = 5)
```

## **3.2.** Study 2 – A multi-year injury epidemiology analysis of an elite national junior tennis program

#### 3.2.1. *Methods*

#### 3.2.2. PARTICIPANTS

A total of fifty-eight male and forty-three female Australian junior tennis players were included in the study and all were aged 18 or under at the time of each injury. All players were full-time scholarship-holders for at least a year between 2012 and 2016 in a national tennis academy governed by Tennis Australia and had mean peak national male and female rankings of  $117 \pm 139$  and,  $57 \pm 48$  respectively. The number of players in the national tennis academies fluctuated each year resulting in changes in the participant numbers year-on-year. The number of players in each year of the study are listed in Table 7:

Year	Junior Males	Junior Females
2012	40	29
2013	44	31
2014	39	25
2015	35	25
2016	30	26

*Table 7: Number of males and females in a national tennis academy each year between 2012 and 2016* 

No players in the study participated in other sports competitively over the time period. Given the lack of data prior to 2012, this year was used as the base year for ensuing analysis. Data was collected and stored in a secure, Tennis Australia managed data repository (Athlete Management System). This study received human ethics committee approval from Australian Catholic University (reference number 2015-196N) with informed consent obtained from all players and player parents if the players where underage.

#### 3.2.3. Measurements: Injury and severity

An injury was diagnosed by Tennis Australia's physiotherapists and doctors and defined as a physical complaint from training/matchplay resulting in interrupted training or matchplay (163). Interrupted training was defined as any restrictions to tennis and off-court training resulting in an athlete unable to take a part in the full session (163). Injuries were calculated as injury incidence, which describes the number of new injuries within the population over the period of time (163). Severity was defined as the mean number of days since injury onset to a particular region, to the day that the player returned to full on and off court training (163). Injury data was classified by region as per the OSICS (159). Only musculoskeletal injuries were included with lacerations/abrasions and bruising/haematomas were omitted from the dataset. The reason for such was to ensure that the results provided insight for junior tennis players and their stakeholders into the musculoskeletal injuries that occur in elite junior tennis without being confounded by acute, dermal injuries. The injury data was also entered and stored on the Athlete Management System by the designated Tennis Australia treating physiotherapist (n = 32, mean  $2.3 \pm 1.3$  years treating Tennis Australia athletes) and doctors (n = 14, mean  $3.1 \pm 2.0$  years). Injury severity was also entered and stored in the repository via athlete self-reporting. Athlete self-reporting was used to quantify severity (time-loss) as the Tennis Australian physiotherapists were not on-site every day to log return to play timelines. Injury data, including injury region obtained from the OSICS, year of injury, age at time of injury and injury severity on the studied population between 2012-2016 were exported for analysis.

#### 3.2.4. Measurement: Exposure hours

Injury incidence was reported per 1,000 exposure hours. This exposure measure was selected as it is consistent with the recommendation for injury in the consensus statement on epidemiological studies of medical conditions in tennis (64). It was also selected due to limitations with the data availability of more detailed external load measures. Exposure hours include the durations of both on- and off-court training and matchplay and was recorded via athlete daily self-reporting. The total exposure hours captured the total exposure time for all athletes in each given year which allowed for a relative comparison year-on-year. The exposure hours equated to a mean  $\pm$  SD of 648.8  $\pm$  108.6 and 661.8  $\pm$  112.6 training hours per year for male and female players respectively. Tables 8 and 9 highlight the average exposure hours per person per year for sex and age respectively. All players trained and competed on multiple court surfaces throughout the data collection period however this was not captured due to the epidemiology, not aetiology, focus of the study.

Year	Males	Females
2012	612.3	662.4
2013	688.3	790.0
2014	675.2	728.3
2015	566.2	723.6
2016	591.2	587.8

Table 8: Average number of exposure hours per person, per sex, per year (2012-2016)

Year	13 <sup>th</sup> Birth Year	14 <sup>th</sup> Birth Year	15 <sup>th</sup> Birth Year	16 <sup>th</sup> Birth Year	17 <sup>th</sup> Birth Year	18 <sup>th</sup> Birth Year
2012	631.7	626.5	691.8	689.1	698.7	594.5
2013	698.4	609.4	735.3	731.1	749.6	753.6
2014	685.7	722.0	697.7	606.4	657.2	749.1
2015	645.4	600.9	706.1	658.5	650.1	634.4
2016	631.0	660.9	586.2	735.3	632.8	628.8

Table 9: Average number of exposure hours per person, per birth year, per year (2012-2016)

#### 3.2.5. Statistical analysis

Statistical programming (R Core Team, 2012) was used for all analyses. The 'metafor' package was used to implement the fixed-effects meta-regression analysis of incidence rates  $\pm$  95% CI with precision weights. Incidence rates represent the year-on-year change in injury counts by region and severity, where 2012 was the base year. The magnitude of change over time is inferred by RR whereby a ratio of greater than 1 is considered to be an increase, and less than 1, a decrease. Results are reported as mean  $\pm$  SD, incidence rates  $\pm$  95% CI, and RR. An example of the R code used to calculate the incidence rates  $\pm$  95% CI and RR by body-region and sex is shown below. An adaptation of this script was used to quantify overall injury incidence as well as injury incidence by injury type, age and severity.

```
library(metafor)
rr.se <- function(model, years){</pre>
 coef <- model$b
 \operatorname{coef.dot} \leq \operatorname{c(-1 * (\operatorname{coef}[2] * \operatorname{years}) / \operatorname{coef}[1]^2, (\operatorname{years/coef}[1]))
 se <- t(coef.dot) %*% vcov(model) %*% coef.dot
 sqrt(se)
}
femaleankle <- data.frame(event = c(10, 3, 2, 3, 4), exposure = c(19211, 24491, 18208, 18208)
 18089, 15282), year = 2012:2016)
femaleankle <- transform(femaleankle,IR = (event/exposure)*1000)
femaleankle <- escalc(xi = event, ti = exposure, measure = "IR", data = femaleankle,
 append = TRUE)
fit <- rma(yi = yi, vi = vi, data = femaleankle, mods =~ I(year - 2012), method = "FE")
summary(fit)
femaleankletable <- coef(summary(fit))</pre>
rr.se(fit, years = 4)
```

## **3.3.** Study **3** – Predictive modelling of injury in tennis: determining the best internal workload calculation and timeframe

#### 3.3.1. Methods

#### 3.3.2. PARTICIPANTS

The study was conducted as part of Tennis Australia's injury surveillance program and included 101 players; 58 males and 43 females with a mean ( $\pm$  SD) age of 19.1 ( $\pm$  2.8) years. Players were ranked domestically with mean  $\pm$  SD peak rankings of 91  $\pm$  112. All players also held international junior (n = 97; 499  $\pm$  577) and/or senior (n = 59; 583  $\pm$  537) rankings. Players were in the Tennis Australia nationally-supported program for a mean ( $\pm$  SD) duration of 3.2 ( $\pm$  1.2) years. The following proportion of participants competed in the five individual competitive seasons: all (n = 27), four (n = 11), three (n = 23) and two (n = 40). Given the year-round but highly individualised nature of tournament tennis, systematic control of the competition and training schedules was not possible (35). Age-appropriate informed consent, from each participant or guardian, was obtained and ethics were approved by Australian Catholic University human ethics committee (reference number 2015-198N).

#### 3.3.3. Defining injury

Injuries were medically diagnosed and defined as sport incapacity, whereby a player was sidelined or restricted due to the inability to perform planned training or matchplay based on loss or abnormality of bodily structure or functioning (164). Recurrent injuries, also coded in the dataset, were defined as an injury to the same region and linked to an initial injury which occurred after a player's full return to participation from the initial injury (163). The current study used OSICS to classify injuries (159). Tennis injury records were maintained by Tennis Australia physiotherapists and medical doctors. As the relationship between injury region/type and workload was not the focus of the current study, all injuries were aggregated in the same way.

### 3.3.4. INTERNAL WORKLOAD AND INJURY DATA COLLATION AND MODELLING

Internal workload was defined as sRPE (3) with RPE obtained from the Borg CR10 scale (47) 30-minutes post-session utilising a mobile phone application accessible to all players (Figure 6).



*Figure 6: Screenshots of mobile phone application and Borg CR10 scale used to collect internal load data* 

All workload and injury data on each player over the five-year period was compiled. Daily workload values were then ulilised to test the injury prediction performance of the seven workload metrics. The metrics were (a) rolling average of daily loads, (b) ACWR, (c) ACWR with the acute load omitted from the chronic load calculation, (d) EWMA, e) EWMA with the acute load omitted from the chronic load calculation, (f) monotony, g) strain. Both (c) and (e) were tested due to the existence of mathematical coupling (34) in metrics (b) and (d) as the acute timeframe is included in both the numerator and denominator. The load calculation and selected timeframes for each model are featured in Table 10.

	Acute	Chronic	
Model	timeframes (days)	timeframes (days)	Formula
a) Rolling averages of daily load	1, 3, 5, 7, 14, 21, 28, 60	NA	Rolling average of total daily load for each timeframe (W1)
b) Acute to chronic workload ratios using rolling averages	1, 3, 4, 7, 14, 21	7, 14, 21, 28, 60	W1/0.25 x (W1 + W2 + W3 +W4)
c) Acute to chronic workload ratios with the acute load omitted from the chronic load calculation (34)	1, 3, 4, 7, 14, 21	7, 14, 21, 28, 60	ACWR = W1/0.25 x (W2 + W3 + W4 – W1)
d) Exponentially weighted moving averages (154)	1, 3, 4, 7, 14, 21	7, 14, 21, 28, 60	$\begin{split} & EWMA_{today} = Load_{today} \ x \ \lambda_a + ((1 - \lambda_a) \ x \\ & EWMA_{yesterday} \end{split}$ $& \lambda_a = 2/(N+1) \\ & EWMA \ ACWR = EWMA_{acute}/EWMA_{chronic} \end{split}$
e) Exponentially weighted moving averages with the acute load omitted from the chronic load calculation (34, 154)	1, 3, 4, 7, 14, 21	7, 14, 21, 28, 60	$EWMA_{today} = Load_{today} \times \lambda_a + ((1 - \lambda_a) \times EWMA_{yesterday})$ $\lambda_a = 2/(N+1)$ $EWMA ACWR = EWMA_{acute}/EWMA_{(chronic - acute)}$
f) Monotony	1, 3, 5, 7, 14, 21, 28, 60	NA	W1/Standard Deviation of W1
g) Strain	1, 3, 5, 7, 14, 21, 28, 60	NA	(W1/Standard Deviation of W1) x Load

Table 10: Load metrics and timeframes modelled to determine the injury prediction accuracy

#### 3.3.5. MISSING DATA

The retrospective and applied setting for which the data was obtained resulted in missing data (53%). To increase the power and accuracy of the study analysis in the presence of missingness, multiple imputations for training load were conducted, which is appropriate and justified for longitudinal data (165). To strengthen the imputation procedure, the available training loads for each subject were assessed for normality prior to imputation. The variability in each subject's available training loads was replicated within the imputations. Five imputations were undertaken, as recommended by Allison (2000), and were developed in R Statistics using the 'Amelia' package (165). The mean value of the five imputations for each data point was included in the final dataset for analysis. Sex (male or female), state of training (Australian states), ranking (national), tournament or training week, tournament/training location (home state or away) as well as loads experienced pre and post the missing days were factored into the imputation calculations to assign the most appropriate load values.

#### 3.3.6. Statistical analyses

All modelling was conducted in R Statistics (R Core Team, 2012) using the dplyr, Ime4, zoo, pROC, ROCR and caret packages. For each workload method, a logistic regression model was fit relating the workload method to injury. In order to test the predictive performance, sequential training and testing of the models was performed. This involved fitting the logistic model for every month of the last two years of data, using the most recent three years of training in each case. The assessment of loads in the lead up to a recurrent injury were omitted to assess the performance of each load metric and timeframe to initial injury outcomes. To evaluate the overall performance of each model, area under the curve (AUC) of receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curves were utilised, including all two years of test outcomes obtained from the sequential training and testing approach. The AUC summarises the discriminative ability of each model across a full range of sensitivity and specificity cut-offs

(167) which refer to the detection of true positives and true negative respectively (167). Therefore, the AUC  $\pm$  95% CI determined the predictive ability of each model, with a perfect predictive model equating to an AUC = 1, and a model performing the equivalent of chance corresponding to an AUC = 0.5 (167). The sensitivity and specificity values for each of the model and timeframe outcomes were utilised to assess the performance of each model in detecting injuries (true positives) and non-cases (true negatives)(167). To determine the comparative predictive strength of the model outcomes, the AUC CIs were assessed. If there was no overlap between models or timeframes, then a difference was established (168). However, if the CIs between models and timeframes overlapped, the difference between models was not considered to be practically important (168). To determine the direction of each models relationship to injury, the training load dataset was split into deciles. The models and timeframes were then rerun only including the top (highest) and bottom (lowest) deciles individually. The change in the model outcomes, compared to the global model outcome, determined the direction of each model and timeframe to injury. Specifically, the changes in the sensitivity and specificity value alongside the AUC changes. An example of the R code used to incorporate one of the imputed dataset, obtain each models AUC, sensitivity and specificity values is shown below. All timeframes assessed are included in the output.

*R* code example to incorporate one of the imputed datasets and obtain the AUC, sensitivity and specificity values for each model and all timeframes:

```
load("imputed2.RData")
dataset1 <- fit$imputations[[1]]</pre>
dataset1 <- dataset1[order(dataset1$Name, dataset1$session date),]
start <- min(dataset1$session date) + months(1:23)</pre>
end \leq start + years(3)
training data <- mapply(
function(x, y){
     subset(dataset1, session date \ge x \& session date < y)
},
\mathbf{x} = \text{start},
y = end,
SIMPLIFY = FALSE)
one.load.injury <- function(data, acute = 7, chronic = 28){
 print(c(acute, chronic))
 data$Name <- as.character(data$Name)</pre>
 data <- data %>%
  group by(Name) %>%
  dplyr::mutate(
           n = n()
  ) %>%
  filter(n > 1) %>%
  dplyr::mutate(
    Total.Load = ifelse(Total.Load == 0, 1, Total.Load),
    Acute = rollmean(Total.Load, k = min(c(acute, n() - 1)), fill = NA, align = "right"),
    Chronic = rollmean(Total.Load, k = min(c((chronic), n() - 1)), fill = NA, align =
 "right"))
```

```
data <- data[!is.na(data$Chronic) & !is.na(data$Acute),]</pre>
 max.date <- max(data$session date)</pre>
test <- subset(data, session date >= max.date - month(1))
data <- subset(data, session_date < max.date - month(1))
fit <- glm(injury ~ I(Acute / Chronic),
         data = data,
         family = binomial)
 test$prediction <- predict(fit, new = test, type = "response")</pre>
test[,c("prediction", "injury")]
}
load.injury <- function(data, acute, chronic){</pre>
do.call("rbind", lapply(data, one.load.injury, acute = acute, chronic = chronic))}
}
params <- expand.grid(chronic = c(7, 14, 21, 28, 60), acute = c(1, 3, 5, 7, 14))
params <- params %>% filter(chronic > acute)
```

```
models <- mapply(
 load.injury,
 acute = params$acute,
 chronic = params$chronic,
 MoreArgs = list(data = training data),
 SIMPLIFY = FALSE
)
get metrics <- function(test){
 AUC <- ci.auc(response = test$injury, predict = test$prediction,
partial.auc.focus=c("specificity", "sensitivity"), partial.auc.correct=FALSE)
 precision <- sum(test$injury * test$prediction) / sum(test$prediction)</pre>
 recall <- sum(test$injury * test$prediction) / sum(test$injury)</pre>
 data.frame(
  auc = as.numeric(AUC)[2],
  lower = as.numeric(AUC)[1],
  upper =as.numeric(AUC)[3],
  specificity =as.numeric(AUC),
  precision = precision,
  recall = recall,
  flscore = 2 * (recall * precision) / (recall + precision)
 )
}
aucs <- lapply(models, get metrics)
```

# **3.4.** Study 4 – Multivariate modelling of intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors to injury in elite junior tennis players

#### 3.4.1. Methods

#### 3.4.2. PARTICIPANTS

Twenty-six male  $(15.5 \pm 1.6 \text{ y})$  and 23 female  $(15.6 \pm 2.3 \text{ y})$  nationally-supported junior tennis players with mean peak national rankings of  $173 \pm 140$  and  $112 \pm 115$  respectively, participated in the study. The study period included a 500-day period from the start of 2017 through to mid-2018 when all players were actively part of the national program. The systematic control of player competition and training schedules was not possible due to the applied setting of the study. Informed consent was obtained from all participant guardians as all players were under the age of 18. The Australian Catholic University's human ethics committee approved the study (2015-192E).

#### 3.4.3. RISK FACTORS

Both extrinsic and intrinsic risk factors were collected during the study period for all participants. Extrinsic risk factors included external and internal training loads quantified via serve counts and sRPE (3) respectively. These were collected via athlete self-reporting in a custom built mobile phone application after the final training session/match of each day (Figure 7). Athlete self-reported serve load was selected owing to resource burden of manual notation and the scarcity of validated tennis-specific inertial technologies (145) limiting the capture of other external load measures. Yet, athlete self-reporting of daily external loads are routinely performed in other sports and show appropriate validity as a count of actions in tennis (169). Internal sRPE loads were classified as on-court or off-court (i.e. gym, conditioning) loads; with on-court loads categorised as training or competitive matchplay load. Both internal and external loads were quantified as raw total daily values on the day of

injury as well as the rolling average of the previous 21-days in the lead up to injury (Table 11). The rolling average of the previous 21-days was selected based on unpublished observations suggesting this load metric and timeframe has some injury prediction ability in a similar cohort of tennis players (Study 3).



*Figure 7: Screenshots of mobile phone application used to collect internal and external load data* 

Non-modifiable intrinsic risk factors included sex, and age calculated at the start of the data collection period. Modifiable intrinsic risk factors comprised daily wellbeing ratings, baseline physical capacity and musculoskeletal function measures and playing standard assessed via peak national ranking during the study period. Daily wellbeing included each player's self-reported assessment of sleep quality, mood, worry, fatigue and appetite (114), as well as perceived body region soreness and corresponding magnitude. These measures were entered in the same mobile phone application as the reported training loads 30 min post-waking on a 0-10 Likert scale, where 10 was the best score and 0 the worst (170). Sleep duration was obtained in the same way and reported to the nearest 30 min (Figure 8).





Figure 8: Screenshots of mobile phone application used to collect wellbeing data

Physical capacity measures included a 5m and 20m sprint test, modified 505 COD speed test (94) (Figure 9), vertical jump and maximal multistage 20m shuttle run test (95) (Table 11). Only single time point physical capacity measures existed and are treated as baseline measures recorded at the start of the data collection period. Similarly, baseline musculoskeletal screening measures including assessments of joint pain, strength and flexibility, were obtained for each player by a qualified physiotherapist (Table 11). The same physiotherapist undertook all musculoskeletal screenings to ensure intra-rater reliability (ICC >0.83, CV% <8.6).



Figure 9: Modified 505 change of direction speed test diagram and protocol

*Table 11: Musculoskeletal screening, fitness testing and training load measures and frequency of capture* 

Risk factor	Description	Unit of measure	Frequency of data capture
Musculoskeletal screening battery			•
Dominant single leg squat	Unilateral lower limb mobility and strength	1: good, 2: fair, 3: poor	At baseline
Thoracic overhead extension	Thoracic flexibility	1: within normal limits, 2: stiff, 3: hypermobile	At baseline
Scapula dyskinesis	Scapula function in flexion	1: normal, 2: abnormal	At baseline
Glunohumeral internal rotation deficit	Difference in shoulder range of motions	degrees difference	At baseline
Dominant supine hip internal rotation	Hip internal rotation	1: within normal limits, 2: stiff, 3: hypermobile	At baseline
Dominant supine hip external rotation	Hip external rotation	1: within normal limits, 2: stiff, 3: hypermobile	At baseline
Squeeze test	Hip adduction	1: good, 2: fair, 3: poor	At baseline
Dominant Thomas test	Hip extension	1: above horizontal, 2: horizontal, 3: below horizontal	At baseline
Fitness testing battery			
5m sprint	Acceleration	seconds	At baseline
20m sprint	Speed	seconds	At baseline
Dominant side modified 505 change of direction speed test (94)	Change of direction speed test from stationary start	seconds	At baseline
Double leg vertical jump height	Leg power power	cm	At baseline
Maximal multistage 20m shuttle run test score (95)	Aerobic capacity	decimal score	At baseline
Load measures			
Total Load	Internal load	sRPE	Daily
On-court load	Tennis internal load	sRPE	Daily
Off-court load	Gym internal load	sRPE	Daily
21 day rolling average total load	Internal load	sRPE	Daily
21 day rolling average on-court load	Tennis internal load	sRPE	Daily
21 day rolling average off-court load	Gym internal load	sRPE	Daily
Serve count	Number of serves hit	count	Daily
21 day rolling average serve count	Number of serves hit	sRPE	Daily
## 3.4.4. Injury definition

Injuries were defined as sport incapacity, whereby a player was sidelined or restricted due to the inability to perform planned training or matchplay based on loss or abnormality of bodily structure or functioning (164). Recurrent injuries were recorded as injuries of the same type and to the same region as a preceding initial injury. However, recurrent injuries were not included in the analysis due to potential training load and tournament scheduling adaptations as a result of an initial injury which may have impacted the assessment of these variables in the modelling (64). Additionally, only musculoskeletal injuries were included in the dataset (lacerations/abrasions, bruising/haematomas and illnesses were omitted) to ensure that the injuries were more directly attributable to risk factors. All injuries were treated equally in the analysis. The time to injury was counted as the number of days to injury from the start of the assessment period. The survival curve is shown in Figure 10 which displays the time to injury.



Figure 10: Survival chart of days to injury

## 3.4.5. DATA PRE-PROCESSING

Multiple steps were needed to prepare the data for analysis. As is common in applied elite sport research, the training load and wellbeing data were incomplete. To enhance the accuracy and power of the modelling, multiple (n = 5)(166) imputations were utilized to combat the missingness which is appropriate for longitudinal data (165). The imputations were developed using the 'Amelia' package (165) in R Statistics (R Core Team, 2012). An example of the R code used to calculate the imputations is shown below. The normality of distribution of the observed data for each imputed training load and wellbeing variable was initially examined, with all variables being normally distributed. Sex, peak national ranking, competition phase (tournament or training day) as well as each preceding variable with imputed data were utilised in the subsequent imputation to best determine each assigned imputed value. The mean of the five imputations for each missing data point was adopted in the complete dataset for analysis.

```
X <- model.matrix( ~ Schedule.Mode + Ranking.Group + meansleephours + meanappetite +
meanworry + meanmood + meansleepquality + meanfatigue + meanscload + meantennisload
+ meanservecount + meansorenessareas, data = fulldataset2)
X \le X[,-1]
model.frame(~ Schedule.Mode + Ranking.Group + meansleephours + meanappetite +
meanworry + meanmood + meansleepquality + meanfatigue + meanscload + meantennisload
+ meanservecount + meansorenessareas, data = fulldataset2, na.action=NULL)
data <- cbind(X, fulldataset2[,c("Name", "Date", "Injury", "Total.Load",
"Averagesoreness")])
data$Date <- (as.Date(data$Date))</pre>
fit <- amelia(data,
        ts = "Date",
        m = 5,
        cs = "Name",
        lags = "Averagesoreness",
        leads = "Averagesoreness",
        sqrts = "Averagesoreness",
        spline = 6
)
```

## 3.4.6. COLLINEARITY

Highly correlated risk factors can violate the multivariate model outcomes (171). Therefore, the collinearity of each variable to each other was assessed via Pearson's correlations and Chi-Square analysis in R statistics (R Core Team, 2012). Examples of the R code used to calculate the Pearson's correlations and Chi-Square analysis are shown below. Interestingly, all fitness testing and musculoskeletal screening measure outcomes which were tested on both the dominant and non-dominant side of the athlete had very strong collinear relationships (r>0.80)(172). Additionally, 5m and 10m sprint outcomes were strongly correlated (r = 0.91). Subsequently, one variable in each collinear pair was omitted from the dataset. The dominant side measure was retained for all collinear pairs tested on each side of the body, as well as the 5m sprint time due to this distance being more specific to the sprint distance demands in tennis matchplay as compared to 10m (173).

## *R* code example of collinearity assessment:

fitnesscorrelations <- cor(fitness\_data, method = "pearson", use = "complete.obs") round(fitnesscorrelations, 2) write.table(fitnesscorrelations, file = "fitnesscorrelations.csv", row.names = FALSE, sep = ",")

table(screenings\$sls.left.rating, screenings\$sls.right.rating)

chisq.test(table(screenings\$sls.left.rating, screenings\$sls.right.rating))

## 3.4.7. Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were conducted in R statistics (R Core Team, 2012) using the dplyr and survival packages. Cox Proportional Hazards models was used to investigate the association between the injury outcome and one or more of the predictor variables, namely the risk factors, via a forward step selection process (171). A univariate Cox analysis of each risk factor was conducted initially to determine the first factor in forward step selection process for the multivariate analysis, with the most statistically significant variable selected (p<0.05 in Wald test)(171). The corresponding effect was added to the multivariate model and the process repeated until none of the remaining variables met the significance level in association to both injury and the other significant effects (171). Results are reported at Hazard Ratios  $\pm$  95% CI.

# 4. CHAPTER 4: STUDY 1 - INJURY EPIDEMIOLOGY OF TENNIS PLAYERS AT THE 2011 TO 2016 AUSTRALIAN OPEN GRAND SLAM

## **Publication statement:**

This chapter is comprised of the following paper published in the *British Journal of Sports Medicine*.

Gescheit DT, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Wood TO, Omizzolo M, Reid M. Injury epidemiology of tennis players at the 2011–2016 Australian Open Grand Slam. Br J Sports Med 2017;51(17):1289-1294. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2016-097283.

#### 4.1. LINKING PARAGRAPH

The literature describing the injury epidemiology of professional tennis players is sparse (9, 10), which is surprising given the sport's popularity, extent of yearly competitive calendars and long-term professionalism. The research that is available primarily focuses on profiling injuries at the Grand Slams, specifically Wimbledon and the US Open (9, 10). However, owing to methodological differences, comparison between these Grand Slams is difficult. Indeed, the findings are further confounded by the court surface, climate and time of year of these events being substantially different, all of which may impact on the injury incidence inevent. Previous empirical efforts have also failed to explore the treatment cost of injuries or the changes in injury incidence over time, which provide important additional context for tennis stakeholders. Therefore, Study 1 aimed to explore the injury epidemiology at the Australian Open Grand Slam, which is played on a different court surface, a different time of year and in a different climate to the other Grand Slams. Specifically, the aim was to profile injuries in-event by sex, body-region, injury type, treatment cost as well as changes in injury incidence over time.

#### 4.2. ABSTRACT

Aim: To examine the epidemiology and in-event treatment frequency of injury at the 2011-2016 Australian Open tournaments. **Methods:** Injury incidence was defined as a medical consultation by a tournament physician, and in-event treatment frequency as the mean total number of follow-up medical/physiotherapy consultations (2013-2016 tournaments only). Data were collated by sex, injury region and type and reported as frequencies per 10,000 game exposures. Incidence rates  $\pm$  95% confidence intervals and rate ratios were used to test effects for injury, sex and year. **Results:** Female players experienced more injuries than male players over the 6-years (201.7 vs 148.6). The shoulder  $(5.1 \pm 1.1 \text{ injuries per year})$ , foot (3.2)  $\pm$  1.1), wrist (3.1  $\pm$  1.5) and knee (3.1  $\pm$  1.1) were the most commonly injured regions among females. Knee  $(3.5 \pm 1.6)$ , ankle  $(2.3 \pm 1.3)$  and thigh  $(2.3 \pm 1.5)$  were the most prevalent male injuries. Upper-arm injuries and in-event treatment frequency increased by  $\geq 2.4$  times in both sexes over the 6-year period. Muscle injuries were most frequent. There was a >2.0-fold increase in men and women with stress fractures over the 6-year period. The torso region, including the neck, thoracic spine, trunk and abdominal, lumbar spine, hip and groin, pelvis/buttock, attracted high in-event treatment frequencies in both sexes. Conclusion: Investigation of injury at the Australian Open suggests that females are more commonly injured than males. Upper and lower-extremity injuries affected females while lower-limb injuries were more prominent in males. There was an increasing rate of in-event treatments of upper-limb and torso injuries as well as stress fractures during the observation period.

## **4.3.** INTRODUCTION

The Australian Open is one of four Grand Slam events in professional tennis. Epidemiological profiles of injuries at the Wimbledon and US Open Grand Slams have been conducted (9, 10), though as yet, the Australian Open profile remains to be reported. As the Australian Open is scheduled at a different time of year, on a different court surface (Plexcushion) and in a different climate to the other Grand Slams, its injury profile may differ.

The injury profiles of the Wimbledon and US Open Grand Slams suggest that elite tennis is highly injurious compared to other sports (9, 10). As context, sports like rugby and basketball have reported means of 10.5 (147) and 8.5 (14) injuries per 1,000 training hours and athletic exposures, respectively. Injuries at Wimbledon between 2003-2012 resulted in a mean injury rate of 20.7 injuries per 1,000 set exposures (which typically last for less than one hour)(10). Within the Wimbledon injury rate, female players were more frequently injured than their male counterparts (23.4 vs 17.7 injuries per 1,000 set exposures). Acute injuries were more prominent than chronic injuries, with the shoulder, knee and lumbar spine the most commonly injured regions (10). At the US Open between 1994 to 2009, the mean injury rate was 48.1 injuries per 1,000 match exposures (9). Within this tournament, a higher injury incidence existed among male than female players (44.0 vs 32.2 per 1,000 match exposures), which directly contrasts with Wimbledon's sex-based injury profile (9, 10). Further, lower-limb injuries were three and 1.3 times more prominent than trunk injuries and upper-limb injuries respectively, despite similar prevalence of acute injuries as reported at Wimbledon (10). Collectively, these data highlight the variation in the injury profile of respective Grand Slam tennis events.

117

Injury incidence in tennis has been described in the context of match exposures (9), tennis hours (11, 16) and per 100 tennis players (15). These disparate methods complicate the comparison of injury rates between tennis events. Given reporting differences, a standard method of comparison would be useful. This would also assist with comparisons between sexes given that males play the best of five-set Grand Slam singles tennis and females, the best of three-sets (6). For example, as described above, the mean women's and men's injuries at the US open were 32.2 and 44.0 per 1,000 match exposures respectively. However, if normalised to sets, games or duration played, the sex comparison may present different conclusions, and suggest alternate practical outcomes.

While the incidence of injury at tennis tournaments has been widely investigated, the in-event treatment frequency of injuries, through the number of practitioner consultations, has seldom been examined (19). This type of information may provide insight into the in-event medical resource burden of different types of injuries, and inform tournament physician and physiotherapist resourcing. Therefore, the aim of this study was to examine the epidemiology of injury at the Australian Open from 2011-2016 relative to sex, injury type and in-event treatment frequency.

## 4.4. METHODS

Injury data from the 2011 to 2016 Australian Open Grand Slams were used for the analysis. A total of 1,170 unique injuries across the men's and women's qualifying and main draw singles, doubles and mixed doubles were included with a total of 3,120 players competing in these events across the six years. The mean male and female professional singles ranking of the singles cohorts were  $84 \pm 71$  and  $81 \pm 76$  respectively. Junior and wheelchair tennis player

injuries were excluded (9). All consultations were entered and stored on secure, digital repositories. Consent for the use of data for research purposes was collected from all Australian Open players upon entry to the tournament, assuming player anonymity was maintained. The study was approved by the Australian Catholic University Human Ethics Committee.

#### 4.4.1. INJURY DEFINITION AND CLASSIFICATION

Injury incidence was defined as an injury that occurred during the Australian Open requiring a medical consultation by a tournament-appointed physician (omitting consultations not related to injuries)(9). The number of tournament-appointment physicians was six per year over the six-year collection period. Injury data, classified by region and type as per the OSICS (159), was obtained by exporting the relevant consultations. Injury type was limited to musculoskeletal injuries (omitting lacerations/abrasions and bruising/haematomas).

#### 4.4.2. IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUENCY DEFINITION

The in-event treatment frequency dataset contained injury information from 2013-2016 as previous WTA and ATP consultation data was not available. The in-event treatment frequency of each injury region was defined as the mean number of initial and follow-up medical and physiotherapy consultations per injury. Physiotherapy consultations were performed by Tennis Australia-appointed physiotherapists, and physiotherapists from the ATP and WTA.

De-identified, consultation frequency per injury from the ATP and WTA repositories were then migrated with the same data from the Tennis Australia repository. The physiotherapy classification system used by Tennis Australia physiotherapists was the OSICS, whereas the ATP and WTA physiotherapists used the SMDCS (160). Given these disparate diagnosticcoding indices, a sports physiotherapist, with more than 10 years' experience in delivering and recording Grand Slam tennis physiotherapy treatments, qualitatively transformed the SMDCS codes into their equivalent OSICS code for the purposes of analysis.

#### 4.4.3. CHOICE OF EXPOSURE

Although 1,000 match hours has been recommended as the preferred injury frequency (64), match durations were not readily available for all matches in the current study. In order to retain all available match data, an exposure measure that was strongly and positively correlated with match duration was sought. In tennis, games are nested within sets and sets are nested within a match. Under a standard best of three-set format, the number of games in a set can range from six to 13, while the number of sets can range from two to three. This would suggest that the number of games would be the most precise measure of duration of play among these choices. In other words, being the smallest common unit of match play available, it provides a more standardised and accessible approach to quantifying exposure. An empirical correlation analysis confirmed this supposition. Using publicly available data on minutes played for 52,948 ATP and 4,625 WTA matches of all professional event types played between 2011 and 2016, the Pearson correlation coefficient and 95% CI between minutes and games played and minutes and sets played was evaluated. As minutes played are nested within match, the correlation with matches played is necessarily zero. Both games (male:  $r = 0.87 \pm 0.00$ , female:  $r = 0.73 \pm 0.01$ ) and sets (male:  $r = 0.77 \pm 0.00$ , female: r = $0.61 \pm 0.02$ ) played were positively correlated with match duration, yet games played was the most strongly related to minutes played. Therefore, game exposures were used rather than the 1,000 set or match exposures as reported in the Wimbledon and US Open injury profiles (9, 10) as it provides a more accurate account of the exposure of matchplay (161).

Data were collated based on sex and year, and reported as an injury frequency per 10,000-GE. Each singles game equated to two GEs as both players were exposed to the same game. Doubles and mixed doubles equated to four GE per game. As mixed doubles concluded with a third-set super-tiebreak (first to ten points) the total points were summed and divided by the mean number of points per game (six)(162) to quantify the GE.

## 4.4.4. Statistical analysis

Results are reported as mean  $\pm$  SD, incidence rates  $\pm$  95% CI, and rate ratios. Statistical programming (R Core Team, 2012) was used for the all statistical analyses. The 'metafor' package was used to implement the fixed-effects meta-regression analysis of incidence rates  $\pm$  95% CI with precision weights. Incidence rates represent the year-on-year change in injury counts by region and type, where 2011 and 2013 were the base years for injury incidence and in-event treatment frequency respectively. The magnitude of change is inferred by RR whereby a ratio of greater than 1 is considered to be an increase, and less than 1, a decrease.

## 4.5. RESULTS

#### 4.5.1. Total injuries

Over the six-years of Australian Opens, 2011-2016, female players had more injuries, per 10,000 GE than their male counterparts (201.7 vs 148.6). Females also experienced more injuries than males per individual Australian Open in all years bar 2011 ( $33.6 \pm 1.6$  versus  $24.8 \pm 1.2$  per year). However, there was no change in injury risk by sex over time (Figure 11).



Figure 11: Total male and female injury incidence ( $\pm$  SD) and mean in-event treatment frequency ( $\pm$  SD), per 10,000 game exposures, at the 2011–2016 Australian Open (2013–2016 for mean in-event treatment frequency)

## 4.5.2. Injury region

The most common male injury region over the six-year period was the knee, followed by the ankle and thigh  $(3.5 \pm 1.6, 2.3 \pm 1.3 \text{ and } 2.3 \pm 1.5 \text{ injuries per year};$  Figure 12). The shoulder  $(5.1 \pm 1.1 \text{ injuries per year})$  was the most common injury region in females followed by the foot  $(3.2 \pm 1.1)$ , wrist  $(3.1 \pm 1.5)$  and knee  $(3.1 \pm 1.1;$  Figure 12). There was a 2-fold or greater increase in the rate of male ankle and elbow (incidence rate  $\pm 95\%$  CI;  $0.3 \pm 0.5$  and  $0.3 \pm 0.4$ ) injuries over the 2011-2016 period (Table 12). The increased rate of female shoulder (2.0 times;  $0.6 \pm 0.7$ ) and wrist injuries (2.2 times;  $0.4 \pm 0.7$ ) was also pronounced. Additionally, the rate of upper-arm injuries increased by at least 2.4 times in male and female  $(0.1 \pm 0.2 \text{ and } 0.1 \pm 0.3)$  players over the six Australian Opens (Table 12).



Figure 12: Mean ( $\pm$  SD) male and female injury incidence and in-event treatment frequency, per 10,000 game exposures, by region over the 2011–2016 Australian Open (2013–2016 for in-event treatment frequency).

	Male				Female				
	Injury Occurrence^		Treatment Cost*		Injury Occurrence^		Treatment Cost*		
Region	Incidence rate change ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence rate change ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence rate change ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence rate change ± 95% confidence interval	RR	
Head	$0.00 \pm 0.19$	1.0	$0.00 \pm 0.29$	1.0	$-0.12 \pm 0.28$	0.3	$0.04 \pm 0.35$	1.6	
Neck	$-0.12 \pm 0.31$	0.4	$0.66 \pm 0.79$	150.9	$-0.11 \pm 0.26$	0.4	$1.19\pm0.88$	39.3	
Shoulder	$-0.11 \pm 0.48$	0.8	$0.05\pm0.56$	1.0	$0.57\pm0.69$	2.0	$0.55 \pm 1.28$	1.8	
Upper Arm	$0.09\pm0.24$	3.1	$0.30\pm0.46$	5.8	$0.08 \pm 0.26$	2.4	$0.41 \pm 0.62$	5.2	
Elbow	$0.26 \pm 0.40$	2.5	$0.03 \pm 0.59$	1.1	$-0.31 \pm 0.51$	0.4	$0.17 \pm 0.97$	1.3	
Forearm	$-0.07 \pm 0.28$	0.5	$-0.38 \pm 0.56$	0.1	$-0.02 \pm 0.22$	0.8	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	
Wrist	$0.08 \pm 0.42$	1.3	$-0.09 \pm 0.59$	0.7	$0.37 \pm 0.66$	2.2	$0.79 \pm 1.03$	3.5	
Chest	$-0.01 \pm 0.16$	0.9	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.01 \pm 0.24$	0.9	$-0.36 \pm 0.60$	0.3	
Thoracic Spine	$-0.04 \pm 0.17$	0.6	$-0.49 \pm 0.53$	0.0	$0.09 \pm 0.29$	1.8	$0.24\pm0.87$	2.2	
Trunk and Abdominal	$-0.39 \pm 0.41$	0.2	$-0.01 \pm 0.52$	1.0	$-0.34 \pm 0.56$	0.3	$-0.55 \pm 1.09$	0.2	
Lumbar Spine	$-0.09 \pm 0.38$	0.7	$-0.68 \pm 1.01$	0.6	$0.05 \pm 0.49$	1.3	$1.07 \pm 1.33$	-18.0	
Hip and Groin	$-0.48 \pm 0.38$	0.2	$0.90 \pm 0.77$	4.1	$-0.33 \pm 0.45$	0.3	$-0.29 \pm 1.01$	0.4	
Pelvis/Buttock	$-0.20 \pm 0.29$	0.1	$0.04 \pm 0.33$	1.7	$-0.12 \pm 0.36$	0.4	$-0.01 \pm 0.80$	1.0	
Thigh	$0.17 \pm 0.51$	1.9	$-0.41 \pm 0.78$	0.3	$-0.09 \pm 0.57$	0.1	$-0.12 \pm 0.93$	0.7	
Knee	$-0.46 \pm 0.67$	0.5	$-0.11 \pm 0.65$	0.7	$0.22 \pm 0.65$	1.5	$-0.29 \pm 1.05$	0.6	
Lower Leg	$-0.20 \pm 0.24$	0.1	$-0.02 \pm 0.29$	0.8	$0.13 \pm 0.43$	2.6	$0.70 \pm 0.75$	37.0	
Ankle	$0.25 \pm 0.51$	2.0	$-0.09 \pm 0.59$	0.8	$0.23 \pm 0.55$	1.6	$1.11 \pm 1.46$	2.4	
Foot	$-0.12 \pm 0.23$	0.4	$-0.54 \pm 0.52$	0.2	$-0.15 \pm 0.57$	0.8	$-0.73 \pm 1.14$	0.3	

Table 12: Male and female injury incidence  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and rate ratio (RR), per 10,000 game exposures, and treatment cost by region at the 2011 to 2016 Australian Open.

^ 2011 as base year; \* 2013 base year

## 4.5.3. INJURY TYPE

Muscle injuries, in both sexes, were the most prominent type of injury with a total of  $45.9 \pm 3.3$  and  $56.5 \pm 1.3$  male and female muscle injuries respectively per 10,000 GE (Figure 13). From 2011 to 2016, there was a 2.1 fold (incidence rate  $\pm 95\%$  CI;  $0.1 \pm 0.3$ ), and 2.4 fold  $(0.2 \pm 0.5)$  increase in the rate of stress fractures among male and female players respectively (Table 13).



Figure 13: Mean ( $\pm$  SD) male and female injury incidence and in-event treatment frequency, per 10,000 game exposures, by type over the 2011–2016 Australian Open (2013–2016 for in-event treatment frequency)

	Male				Female			
	Injury Occurrence^		Treatment Cost*		Injury Occurrence^		<b>Treatment Cost*</b>	
Туре	Incidence Rate Change ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate Change ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate Change ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate Change ± 95% confidence interval	RR
Muscle Injury	$-1.35 \pm 0.91$	0.4	$0.19\pm0.92$	1.3	$-0.64 \pm 1.17$	0.7	$0.01 \pm 1.56$	1.0
Joint Sprains	$0.26 \pm 0.71$	1.3	$-0.14 \pm 1.14$	0.9	$-0.23 \pm 1.01$	0.9	$0.71 \pm 1.07$	0.4
Tendon Injury	$-0.52 \pm 0.80$	0.6	$-0.43 \pm 0.94$	0.6	$-0.18 \pm 0.89$	0.9	$0.43 \pm 0.94$	0.6
Synovitis, Impingement, Bursitis	$-0.07 \pm 0.61$	0.9	$-0.24 \pm 0.98$	0.8	$0.44\pm0.78$	1.7	$0.15 \pm 1.42$	1.1
Cartilage Injury	$-0.00 \pm 0.20$	1.0	$-0.93 \pm 1.13$	0.2	$0.06\pm0.29$	1.6	$-0.20 \pm 2.00$	-1.2
Stress Fracture	$0.05 \pm 0.27$	2.1	$0.69 \pm 1.02$	8.3	$0.23\pm0.49$	2.4	$0.70 \pm 0.84$	4.0
Organ Injury	$-0.00 \pm 0.18$	0.9	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.12 \pm 0.28$	0.3	$-0.32 \pm 1.52$	4.1
Chronic Instability	$-0.00 \pm 0.20$	1.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.07 \pm 0.31$	0.5	$3.61 \pm 2.76$	9.1
Nerve Injury	$0.01 \pm 0.16$	1.2	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.02 \pm 0.32$	0.8	$-0.30 \pm 0.88$	0.5
Arthritis	$-0.02 \pm 0.21$	0.7	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.02 \pm 0.22$	0.8	$-0.01 \pm 1.75$	1.0
Other Stress/Over use Injury	$0.01 \pm 0.17$	1.2	$0.44 \pm 2.03$	3.6	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0
Fracture	$0.00 \pm 0.16$	1.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0
Joint Dislocation	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.02\pm0.22$	1.2	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0
Whiplash	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.02 \pm 0.22$	0.8	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0

Table 13: Male and female injury incidence  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and rate ratio (RR), per 10,000 game exposures, and treatment cost by type at the 2011 to 2016 Australian Open

^ 2011 as base year; \* 2013 base year

## 4.5.4. IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUENCY BY INJURY REGION

The mean number of in-event treatments per injury did not differ between sex (females  $3.5 \pm 1.2$  vs males  $2.6 \pm 0.7$ ). The lumbar spine had the highest mean in-event treatments among male Australian Open competitors between 2013-2016 ( $4.0 \pm 1.6$  per year; Figure 12), while the ankle had the highest mean in-event treatments among female players ( $4.9 \pm 2.9$  per year; Figure 12). The rate of male and female upper-arm in-event treatments per injury increased by 5.8 (incidence rate  $\pm$  95% CI;  $0.3 \pm 0.5$ ) and 5.2 ( $0.4 \pm 0.6$ ) over the four-year period (Table 12).

#### 4.5.5. IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUENCY BY INJURY TYPE

The injury types with the highest in-event treatment frequency differed between sex, with joint sprains the most common among male players  $(5.2 \pm 2.5 \text{ mean in-event treatment})$  frequency  $\pm$  SD per year) and cartilage injuries the most common amongst females  $(5.1 \pm 5.3;$  Figure 13). Over the four years, there was a rate increase of 8.3 (incidence rate  $\pm$  95% CI; 0.8  $\pm$  1.0) and 4.0 (0.7  $\pm$  0.9) for stress fracture mean in-event treatments among males and females respectively (Table 13).

#### 4.5.6. Set and match exposure results

Supplementary tables including the incidence rates  $\pm$  95% CI and rate ratios for injury region, type and in-event treatment frequency per 1,000 set and match exposure are available (Appendix V).

## 4.6. DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to profile injuries at recent Australian Opens by sex, region, type, in-event treatment frequency and year. Female players sustained more injuries than male players over the tournaments except for 2011. Shoulder and wrist, as well as foot and knee injuries were most common among female players, while lower-limb injuries were the most prevalent among males. Over time, there were discernible increases in the rate of male upper arm, elbow and ankle injuries, and female upper-arm, shoulder, wrist and lower-leg injuries. In keeping with previous accounts of Grand Slam injuries (9, 10), muscle injuries were the most prominent injury type in both sexes. However, the rate of stress fractures noticeably increased over time. The torso region (neck, thoracic spine, trunk and abdominal, lumbar spine, hip and groin, pelvis/buttock) - and more particularly the neck and lumbar spine of male players and thoracic spine of female players - attracted high treatment frequencies. Joint sprains in male players and cartilage injuries in female players were the most frequently treated injury type.

## 4.6.1. Sex differences

Higher injury rates have been reported among male than female players competing at Grand Slam level (9). Conversely, accounting for injuries per 10,000 GE in the present study, women were found to have a higher injury rate compared to men. This is consistent with the higher incidence of injury in female professionals previously reported at Wimbledon, which utilised a set exposure injury rate to account for differences in sex set requirements (10). While the likely mechanisms of injury are multifactorial, it is likely that sex-based physical (43, 174), technical and tactical differences (43, 53) are contributors. For example, females have slower movement speeds (43), and lower absolute strength (174) compared to professional male tennis players. Therefore, they may have less time to set up for optimal

130

stroke execution resulting in compromised joint positioning (53). This could explain their high prevalence of injuries across both extremities. Additionally, males could be relatively more likely to sustain lower-limb injuries owing to the heightened absolute movement demands of the men's game (43). Indeed, the higher incidence of lower-limb injury as compared to upper-limb injury in male Australian Open players, is consistent with the earlier Wimbledon and US Open Grand Slam injury epidemiology research (9, 10).

#### 4.6.2. Injury by type

Muscle injuries were the most common across both sexes followed by tendon and joint sprains. This agrees with the injury reports at the US Open and Wimbledon Grand Slams (9, 10). This finding was anticipated given the dynamic, high-intensity and repetitive nature of tennis that places large strain on the muscles, tendons and joints (41, 174, 175). It is worth noting that whilst remaining the most prominent injury, a 13% reduction in muscle injuries in males existed over the six-year period, despite no reduction in total injuries. Additionally, the highest male and female injury type in-event treatment frequencies resulted from joint sprains and cartilage injuries respectively. The higher cost of such injuries suggests that these injury types require greater on-going consultation by tournament physicians and physiotherapists. Separately, stress fracture injury occurrence and in-event treatments in both sexes increased over this time-period. This is supported by findings highlighting the high risk of stress fractures in tennis players due the repetitive powerful movements demanded which could place heavy mechanical loads on athlete bone (176).

### 4.6.3. Injury by region: Torso injuries and in-event treatment frequency

The incidence of female thoracic and lumbar spine injury incidence increased over time. However, the incidence rate of male torso injuries and other female torso regions - including the neck, thoracic and lumbar spine, trunk and pelvis - decreased over the same time period. Despite this, the in-event treatments for torso injuries in both sexes was found to be among the Australian Open's highest. This trend may be attributable to the mechanical demands placed on this region during stroke production, changes in equipment (9) or cause players to seek further treatment. Given the literature that has highlighted the importance of trunk rotation to racquet speed - particularly in the serve (177) - it is unsurprising that the pelvis-spine-trunk receive considerable medical attention in-event. This heightened medical attention in-event, coupled with the general reduction in incidence rate, suggests that injury prevention and training programs could already be focused on the torso and should remain the ongoing target.

4.6.4. INJURY BY REGION: UPPER-LIMB INJURIES AND IN-EVENT TREATMENT FREQUENCY The rate and in-event treatment frequency of upper-arm injuries in both sexes increased over time. This effect was also observed for the rate of male elbow and female shoulder injuries as well as the rate and in-event treatments of female wrist injuries. Although Sell et al. (2012), McCurdie et al. (2016) did not report in-event treatment frequencies, they highlighted a high occurrence of shoulder injuries in both sexes and wrist injuries in female players. The constantly evolving racquet, string and ball technology may be one reason for these changes (43, 50). Spikes in serve load, which are common during tournament play as compared to training, particularly at a Grand Slam at the start of the season (42), might also place relatively greater strain on the upper-limb joints (178, 179).

## 4.6.5. Injury by region: Lower-limb injuries and treatment cost

There was a rate increase of  $\geq 2.4$  times in in-event treatments of female ankle and lower-leg injuries over the time-period. The prevalence of female lower-leg injuries and male ankle

injuries also increased, by  $\geq 2$  fold, between 2011-2016. Sell et al. (2012) reported the lowerlimb as being more susceptible to injury than the upper extremity in both sexes but noted no change in the injury rate over time. This sex-independent increase in ankle pathologies would appear related to the repeated rapid changes in direction on a hard-court surface, which places high stress on the ankle joint and lower-leg (60, 175). Interestingly, the sex-specific growth observed in in-event treatments could imply that physiotherapists treating female players adopt a precautionary/hyper-vigilant, through taping, approach.

#### 4.6.6. LIMITATIONS

It must be noted that this study is unable to draw conclusions regarding the causative mechanisms of injury. Additionally, as the WTA and ATP datasets were de-identified, inevent treatment frequencies are calculated as an average across all injuries of the same region and type rather than each injury in isolation. Finally, the dataset does not contain injury or treatment information on players whom sought treatment outside of the tournament's doctors and physiotherapists.

## **4.7.** CONCLUSION

The injury epidemiology of the 2011-2016 Australian Open revealed that female players were more commonly injured than male players. Lower-limb injuries were more prominent in males whereas females were susceptible to injuries in both extremities, which is consistent with findings from Wimbledon and US Open Grand Slams (9, 10). Both sexes also presented with a high prevalence of muscle injuries, and, the high in-event treatment frequencies of the torso highlighted the demand on medical resources. Collectively, these findings demonstrate the most common injuries and workload for the medical services at the Australian Open, which is informative for the injury prevention and treatment of elite tennis players.

## 4.8. NEW FINDINGS

- Using game exposures as a relative injury scale offers a more accurate measure of match volume or exposure than previously published methods. Correspondingly, this allows for more precise standardisation in epidemiological comparison between Grand Slams.
- Female players incurred more injuries than male players over the 2011 to 2016 Australian Opens per games played.
- Across both sexes, the torso region incurred high in-event treatment frequency highlighting their demand on medical resources during the Australian Open.
- In-event treatment frequency as a novel reporting of medical and physiotherapy consultations per injury, provides scope for the assessment of medical resource management at tennis events.

# 5. CHAPTER 5: STUDY 2 - A MULTI-YEAR INJURY EPIDEMIOLOGY ANALYSIS OF AN ELITE NATIONAL JUNIOR TENNIS PROGRAM.

## **Publication statement:**

This chapter is comprised of the following paper published in the Journal of Science and

Medicine in Sport.

**Gescheit DT**, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Wood TO, Omizzolo M, Reid M. A multi-year injury epidemiology analysis of an elite national junior tennis program. J Sci Med Sport 2018; In Press. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2018.06.006.

#### **5.1.** LINKING PARAGRAPH

Study 1 found that female Australian Open tennis players had a higher injury incidence (per 10,000 game exposures), compared to their male counterparts, even though in-event treatment frequency was the same across sexes. Additionally, torso injuries were the most severe in both sexes and increased over time. For elite junior tennis players aspiring to compete at the Grand Slam level, these findings offer guidance for targeted injury prevention strategies. However, the journey from junior through to professional tennis career is long, with average transition times of 4-years to a Top 100 ranking (37). Therefore, an understanding of the injury epidemiology of elite junior tennis players may highlight risks for long-term athlete development and subsequent professional tennis success. It also allows for contrast with the injury profile of professional Grand Slam tennis players to draw attention to differences with age and playing standard. Currently, the injury epidemiology literature on elite junior tennis players is sparse and has disparate findings. Additionally, the studies that are available fail to explore important factors such as injury severity and changes over time which are both critical for tennis stakeholders. Therefore, Study 2 aimed to profile injuries in elite junior tennis players in a national program by body region, and severity over time by both age and sex.

#### **5.2. ABSTRACT**

**Objective:** To profile multi-year injury incidence and severity trends in elite junior tennis players from a national program. **Design:** Prospective Cohort. **Methods:** Injury data was collated by sex, age and region for all nationally-supported Australian junior players (58 males, 43 females 13-18 y) between 2012-2016. Injury was defined as a physical complaint from training/matchplay interrupting training/matchplay determined by presiding physiotherapists and doctors. Severity represented the days of interrupted training/matchplay per injury. Injury incidence was reported per 1,000 exposure hours. Incidence rate change and  $RR \pm 95\%$  CI were used to assess changes over time. **Results:** No difference in male and female injury incidence existed  $(2.7 \pm 0.0 \text{ v} 2.8 \pm 0.0)$  yet male injuries were more severe (3.6  $\pm 0.6 \text{ v} 1.1 \pm 0.9 \text{ days}$ ). The lumbar spine was the most commonly and severely injured region in both sexes  $(4.3 \pm 0.2, 9.9 \pm 1.4 \text{ days})$ . Shoulder injuries were the second most common in both sexes  $(3.1 \pm 0.2)$  and with the second highest severity in males  $(7.3 \pm 1.4 \text{ days})$ . Knee injuries were also common in males  $(2.3 \pm 0.2)$  yet potentially reduced over time  $(0.4 \pm 0.6)$ RR) as pelvis/buttock injuries increased  $(3.4 \pm 14.0 \text{ RR})$ . Females had high trunk and abdominal injury incidences  $(2.5 \pm 0.3)$ . Independent of sex, the injury incidence increased with age from  $2.0 \pm 0.1$  (13 y) to  $2.9 \pm 0.1$  (18 y). Conclusion: Despite no sex-based difference in injury incidence, male injuries resulted in more interrupted days of training/matchplay. The lumbar spine and shoulder were the most commonly injured body regions in both sexes. The number of injuries sustained by players also increased as they aged.

## **5.3. INTRODUCTION**

Injuries in junior tennis players can disrupt their long-term athletic development(65). Therefore, an understanding of the injury epidemiology in junior tennis is important to assist medical, physiotherapy and strength and conditioning professionals to monitor and manage the musculoskeletal health of young elite tennis players. However, limited evidence describing the injury epidemiology of junior tennis players exists, and that which does is inconsistent in reporting of injury incidence by anatomical region or sex (11, 15, 19, 36). This makes for an incomplete view of tennis injuries in youth tennis and may inadvertently affect the treatment and care of players.

Of the sparse research that is present, a three-year analysis of 16 to 20-year-old players in a national program in the 1980's found that lower-limb injuries were the most common in both genders as compared to trunk and upper-limb injuries (69). These findings were reported as absolute values and not relative to training volume or other extrinsic risk factors. Conversely, back injuries were found to be the most common in national junior male tennis players over a six-year period in the 1980's and 1990's (15). Since then, the sport has observed dramatic changes in equipment and strategy (43, 50), likely influencing the sport's injury profile (50). More recently, junior male club tennis players aged between 12 and 18 were shown to be more prone to injury than girls over a 2-year period of training and matchplay (11). However, this contrasts with another study where girls of the same age bracket were reported as more susceptible to injury than boys during higher level national competitions (19). Although these studies provide some context to the injuries sustained by junior tennis players they are limited in their variation of study design, the age and standard of athletes, injury classification, period of data capture and relative exposure measure (11, 15, 19, 36, 69). Further, much of the research has focused on the epidemiology of junior injuries in-event rather than in training

138

settings(15, 19). In turn, this highlights the need to better understand whether sex and agebased differences exist in the injury patterns of a homogenous sample of elite junior tennis players(10).

An understanding of the severity of injury is important for determining the extent to which injuries impede training and potentially athletic development (65), yet this has also been poorly examined in the tennis injury literature. Particularly, previous studies are limited by definitional differences (11, 19) and methodological limitations in quantifying the severity of injury (11). For example, the severity of injuries in Swedish local junior tennis players was collected over a two-year period via player recall (11). However, the use of recall to quantify injury time-loss has been criticised for its bias and inaccuracy (70). Additionally, no tennis injury study has described injury severity by body region which would be a valuable addition to the knowledge base of the sport. The same applies to the lack of investigation into the change in injury profile over time which is especially important among adolescent cohorts where maturation and risk of injury have been linked (68).

Overall, the relevance of previous attempts to profile injuries in junior tennis has been limited by the timing (15, 69), tournament-only focus (15), length of data collection (15, 69) and lack of trend analysis (36, 69). Therefore, the aim of this study was to comprehensively examine the injury epidemiology of junior, elite tennis players of both sexes over a five-year time period. Specifically, the incidence, severity and changes over time in injuries of elite tennis players between the ages of 13 and 18 was assessed.

#### **5.4. METHODS**

A total of fifty-eight male and forty-three female Australian junior tennis players were included in the study and had mean peak national rankings of  $117 \pm 139$  and,  $57 \pm 48$ respectively. All players were aged 18 or under at the time of each injury and were full-time scholarship-holders for at least a year between 2012 and 2016 in a national tennis academy governed by Tennis Australia. The number of players in a national academy fluctuated each year resulting in changes in the participant numbers year on year. The number of unique players in each year of the study included 69 (40 males, 29 females) in 2012, 75 (44 males, 31 females) in 2013, 64 (39 males, 25 females) in 2014, 59 (34 males, 25 females) in 2015 and 56 (30 males, 26 females) in 2016. All players in the study did not participate in other sports. Given the lack of data prior to 2012, this year was used as the base year for ensuing analysis. Data was collected and stored in a secure, Tennis Australia managed data repository (Athlete Management System). This study received human ethics committee approval from Australian Catholic University (reference number 2015-196N) with informed consent obtained from players and player parents if those under the age of 18.

An injury was diagnosed by Tennis Australia's physiotherapists and doctors and defined as a physical complaint from training/matchplay resulting in interrupted training or matchplay (163). Interrupted training was defined as any restrictions to tennis and off-court training resulting in an athlete unable to take a part in the full session (163). Injuries were calculated as injury incidence, which describes the number of new injuries within the population over the period of time (180). Severity was defined as the mean number of days since injury onset to a particular region to the day that the player returned to full training (64) both on and off court. Injury data was classified by region as per the OSICS (159) with only musculoskeletal injuries included (lacerations/abrasions and bruising/haematomas were omitted). The injury

140

data was entered and stored on the Athlete Management System by the designated Tennis Australia treating physiotherapist (n = 32, mean  $2.3 \pm 1.3$  years treating Tennis Australia athletes) and doctors (n = 14, mean  $3.1 \pm 2.0$  years). Injury severity was also entered and stored in the repository via athlete self-reporting. Injury data, including OSICS-defined injury region, year of injury, age and injury severity on the studied population between 2012-2016 were exported for analysis.

Injury incidence was reported per 1,000 exposure hours which is consistent with recommendations in the consensus statement on epidemiological studies of medical conditions in tennis (64). Exposure hours included the durations of both on and off court training and matchplay and were recorded via athlete daily self-reporting. The total exposure hours were the total exposure hours for all athletes in each given year which allowed for a relative comparison year-on-year. All players trained and competed on multiple court surfaces throughout the data collection period however this was not captured due to the epidemiology, not aetiology, focus of the study.

Statistical programming (R Core Team, 2012) was used for all analyses. The 'metafor' package was used to implement the fixed-effects meta-regression analysis of incidence rates  $\pm$  95% CI with precision weights. Incidence rate changes represent the year-on-year change in injury counts by region and severity, where 2012 was the base year. The magnitude of change over time is inferred by RR  $\pm$  95% CI whereby a ratio of greater than 1 is considered to be an increase, and less than 1, a decrease. Results are reported as mean injury incidence  $\pm$  SD, incidence rate change  $\pm$  95% CI, and RR  $\pm$  95% CI. The RR 95% CI values truncate at 0 when lower bound value is larger than the RR. Incidence rate changes  $\pm$  95% CI are reported to two decimal places due to the size of the values.

## 5.5. RESULTS

There were 327 male injuries and 258 female injuries during the time period. The exposure hours equated to a mean  $\pm$  SD of 648.8  $\pm$  108.6 and 661.8  $\pm$  112.6 training hours per year for male and female players respectively. Injuries were comparable between sexes over the time period with 2.7  $\pm$  0.0 and 2.8  $\pm$  0.0 in female and males per 1,000 exposure hours respectively (Table 14).

		Males		Females				
Region	Injury incidence Incidence rate change		RR Injury incidence		Incidence rate change	RR		
Head	$0.1 \pm 0.0$	$0.00\pm0.02$	$1.2 \pm 4.0$	$0.0\pm0.0$				
Neck	$0.5\pm0.1$	$0.00 \pm 0.02$	$1.4 \pm 2.9$	$0.5 \pm 0.1$	$0.01 \pm 0.03$	$2.3 \pm 6.5$		
Shoulder	$3.6 \pm 0.2$	$-0.02 \pm 0.08$	$0.8 \pm 0.8$	$2.6\pm0.2$	$0.07\pm0.08$	$3.6 \pm 5.8$		
Upper Arm	$1.8 \pm 0.2$	$0.01 \pm 0.05$	$1.4 \pm 1.9$	$0.7 \pm 0.1$	$0.00\pm0.04$	$0.7 \pm 2.0$		
Elbow	$1.8 \pm 0.2$	$24.51 \pm 51.66$	$1.7 \pm 2.1$	$1.7 \pm 0.3$	$0.04 \pm 0.06$	$4.7 \pm 14.4$		
Forearm	$0.7 \pm 0.1$	$0.00 \pm 0.03$	$1.3 \pm 2.5$	$0.2 \pm 0.1$	$0.00 \pm 0.03$	$1.3 \pm 4.0$		
Wrist	$3.0\pm0.4$	$-0.07 \pm 0.07$	$0.3 \pm 0.5$	$2.4 \pm 0.2$	$0.09 \pm 0.06$	$5.8 \pm 9.0$		
Chest	$0.0\pm0.0$			$0.2 \pm 0.1$	$0.00 \pm 0.03$	$1.3 \pm 4.0$		
Thoracic Spine	$1.0 \pm 0.3$	$-0.03 \pm 0.03$	$0.1 \pm 0.5$	$1.3 \pm 0.2$	$0.04\pm0.04$	$6.1 \pm 13.4$		
Trunk and Abdominal	$1.2 \pm 0.1$	$0.00\pm0.05$	$0.9 \pm 1.6$	$2.5 \pm 0.3$	$0.09\pm0.06$	$6.1 \pm 9.9$		
Lumbar Spine	$4.7\pm0.2$	$0.02 \pm 0.09$	$1.2 \pm 0.9$	$3.9 \pm 0.2$	$0.09 \pm 0.10$	$3.0 \pm 3.6$		
Hip and Groin	$1.9 \pm 0.1$	$0.03 \pm 0.06$	$1.8 \pm 2.5$	$1.4 \pm 0.2$	$-0.03 \pm 0.05$	$0.4 \pm 0.7$		
Pelvis/Buttock	$0.6 \pm 0.1$	$0.01 \pm 0.03$	$3.4 \pm 14.0$	$0.6 \pm 0.1$	$0.00 \pm 0.04$	$1.2 \pm 3.4$		
Thigh	$1.4 \pm 0.1$	$0.00 \pm 0.05$	$1.1 \pm 1.5$	$1.6 \pm 0.1$	$0.01 \pm 0.06$	$1.5 \pm 2.5$		
Knee	$2.3 \pm 0.2$	$-0.04 \pm 0.07$	$0.4 \pm 0.6$	$2.0 \pm 0.2$	$0.04 \pm 0.05$	$3.2 \pm 5.0$		
Lower Leg	$1.0 \pm 0.0$	$0.00 \pm 0.05$	$0.9 \pm 1.7$	$1.2 \pm 0.2$	$-0.02 \pm 0.05$	$0.4 \pm 1.3$		
Ankle	$1.4 \pm 0.2$	$-0.03 \pm 0.05$	$0.2 \pm 0.7$	$2.3\pm0.3$	$-0.01 \pm 0.07$	$0.8 \pm 1.5$		
Foot	$0.7\pm0.0$	$0.00 \pm 0.04$	$0.9 \pm 2.5$	$1.9 \pm 0.4$	$0.05 \pm 0.05$	$7.5 \pm 10.8$		
Overall	$2.7\pm0.0$	$-0.11 \pm 0.23$	$0.9 \pm 1.3$	$2.8 \pm 0.0$	$0.51 \pm 0.25$	2.1 ± 1.6		

Table 14: Male and female injury incidence (mean  $\pm$  SD), incidence rate change ( $\pm$  95% confidence interval (CI)) and rate ratio (RR) ( $\pm$  95% CI), per 1,000 exposure hours, by region 2012-2016

The lumbar spine, followed by the shoulder, had the highest incidence of injuries by region in both sexes over the observed time period (Table 14). Junior female tennis players experienced an increase in total injuries and particularly the upper-limb (shoulder, elbow, wrist), neck, thoracic spine, trunk and abdominal, knee and foot injury incidence over time ( $RR \ge 2.1 \pm 5.0-14.4$ ). There was also a reduction in hip and groin and lower-leg injuries over time ( $0.4 \pm 1.0 RR$ ; Table 15). Males experienced an increase in pelvis/buttock injuries ( $3.4 \pm 14.0 RR$ ) over time, with a reduction in thoracic spine, knee, ankle and wrist injuries ( $RR \le 0.4 \pm 0.5-0.7$ ; Table 14).

Male injury severity was greater than females with  $3.6 \pm 0.6$  days lost (Table 15), compared to a female injury severity of  $1.1 \pm 0.9$  days lost. Male injury severity also increased over time  $(2.6 \pm 2.5 \text{ RR})$ . Lumbar spine injury severity was the highest in both sexes (> $4.6 \pm 0.6$  days lost). The shoulder, hip and groin and wrist also had high injury severity in male tennis players, with an increase in pelvis/buttock injury severity ( $3.4 \pm 14.0 \text{ RR}$ ) and a reduction in trunk and abdominal severity ( $0.3 \pm 0.4 \text{ RR}$ ) over time. Female tennis players experienced high elbow, ankle and knee injury severity with an increase in neck ( $2.3 \pm 2.8 \text{ RR}$ ), elbow ( $2.5 \pm 13.4 \text{ RR}$ ), thoracic spine ( $6.1 \pm 13.4 \text{ RR}$ ) and foot ( $7.5 \pm 12.8 \text{ RR}$ ) injury severity over time.
		Males		Females					
Region	Mean Severity	Incidence rate change	RR	Mean Severity	Incidence rate change	RR			
Head	$0.4 \pm 0.4$	$0.00 \pm 0.02$	$1.2 \pm 4.0$	$0.0 \pm 0.0$					
Neck	$1.1 \pm 0.3$	$0.00\pm0.02$	$1.4 \pm 2.9$	$0.3 \pm 0.3$	$0.01 \pm 0.03$	$2.3 \pm 6.5$			
Shoulder	$7.3 \pm 1.4$	$0.11 \pm 0.11$	$2.7 \pm 3.1$	$1.4 \pm 0.9$	$-0.21 \pm 0.11$	$0.2 \pm 0.2$			
Upper Arm	$4.1 \pm 0.0$	$0.04 \pm 0.09$	$1.5 \pm 1.4$	$0.6 \pm 0.2$	$0.00 \pm 0.04$	$0.7 \pm 2.0$			
Elbow	$4.8 \pm 0.7$	$24.51 \pm 51.66$	$1.7 \pm 2.1$	$3.0 \pm 2.4$	$0.13 \pm 0.14$	$2.5 \pm 2.8$			
Forearm	$2.5 \pm 0.7$	$0.00 \pm 0.04$	$0.9 \pm 1.3$	$0.5 \pm 0.4$	$0.00 \pm 0.03$	$1.3 \pm 4.0$			
Wrist	$5.3 \pm 0.6$	$0.06 \pm 0.11$	$1.9 \pm 2.1$	$1.2 \pm 0.7$	$-0.02 \pm 0.10$	$0.9 \pm 0.6$			
Chest	$0.0 \pm 0.0$			$0.2 \pm 0.1$	$0.00 \pm 0.03$	$1.3 \pm 4.0$			
Thoracic Spine	$1.9 \pm 0.4$	$-0.03 \pm 0.03$	$0.1 \pm 0.5$	$0.5 \pm 0.5$	$0.04 \pm 0.04$	$6.1 \pm 13.4$			
Trunk and Abdominal	$4.7 \pm 0.9$	$-0.09 \pm 0.07$	$0.3 \pm 0.4$	$1.3 \pm 1.0$	$-0.04 \pm 0.09$	$0.7 \pm 0.5$			
Lumbar Spine	$15.2 \pm 1.4$	$0.02 \pm 0.09$	$1.2 \pm 0.9$	$4.6\pm0.6$	$0.12 \pm 0.14$	$1.9 \pm 1.6$			
Hip and Groin	$6.2 \pm 1.7$	$0.05\pm0.08$	$2.3 \pm 3.3$	$0.8 \pm 0.8$	$-0.08 \pm 0.07$	$0.1 \pm 0.4$			
Pelvis/Buttock	$1.4 \pm 0.2$	$0.01 \pm 0.03$	$3.4 \pm 14.0$	$1.2 \pm 1.2$	$0.00 \pm 0.04$	$1.2 \pm 3.4$			
Thigh	$1.7 \pm 0.2$	$0.03 \pm 0.04$	$2.7 \pm 3.5$	$0.3 \pm 0.2$	$-0.01 \pm 0.05$	$0.7 \pm 1.1$			
Knee	$2.7 \pm 0.5$	$-0.07 \pm 0.07$	$0.1 \pm 0.5$	$2.1 \pm 1.6$	$-0.03 \pm 0.12$	$0.8 \pm 0.8$			
Lower Leg	$3.9 \pm 0.9$	$0.04 \pm 0.06$	$5.4 \pm 11.6$	$1.6 \pm 2.0$	$-0.03 \pm 0.09$	$0.6 \pm 1.0$			
Ankle	$1.7 \pm 0.2$	$-0.03 \pm 0.05$	$0.2 \pm 0.7$	$2.4 \pm 2.7$	$0.05 \pm 0.13$	$1.4 \pm 1.2$			
Foot	$2.6 \pm 0.4$	$0.00 \pm 0.04$	$0.9 \pm 2.5$	$1.5 \pm 0.7$	$0.05 \pm 0.05$	$7.5 \pm 12.8$			
Overall	$3.6 \pm 0.6$	$0.10\pm0.10$	$2.6 \pm 2.5$	$1.1\pm0.9$	$-0.01 \pm 0.12$	$0.9 \pm 1.6$			

Table 15: Male and female mean injury severity ( $\pm$  SD), incidence change ( $\pm$  95% confidence interval (CI)) and rate ratio (RR) ( $\pm$  95% CI), per 1,000 exposure hours, by region 2012-2016

Injury incidence increased with age with 13 through to 18 year-olds incurring 2.0 ( $\pm$  0.1), 2.3 ( $\pm$  0.1), 2.2 ( $\pm$  0.1), 2.9 ( $\pm$  0.1), 3.0 ( $\pm$  0.1) and 2.9 ( $\pm$  0.1) injuries per 1,000 exposure hours respectively. The lumbar spine featured as the most common injury region for 14 to 18 year olds, whereas the shoulder and hip and groin were the most common injury regions for 13-year-old players (Table 16). Changes over time highlighted an increase in wrist injuries in the 13<sup>th</sup> (9.2  $\pm$  12.1 RR) and 18<sup>th</sup> birth years (3.4  $\pm$  13.1RR), pelvis/buttock injuries in the 14<sup>th</sup> (5.2  $\pm$  13.9 RR) and 15<sup>th</sup> birth year (2.2  $\pm$  9.9 RR), knee injuries in the 16<sup>th</sup> (3.0  $\pm$  9.9 RR) birth year and shoulder injuries in the 17<sup>th</sup> (6.0  $\pm$  11.1 RR) birth year (Table 16).

Table 16: Birth year injury incidence (mean  $\pm$  SD), incidence rates change ( $\pm$  95% confidence interval (CI)) and rate ratio (RR) ( $\pm$  95% CI), per 1,000 exposure hours, by region 2012-2016

		13th Birth Year			14 <sup>th</sup> Birth Year			15 <sup>th</sup> Birth Year			16 <sup>th</sup> Birth Year			17 <sup>th</sup> Birth Year			18 <sup>th</sup> Birth Year	
Region	Injury incidence	Incidence rate change	RR	Injury incidence	Incidence rate change	RR	Injury incidence	Incidence rate change	RR	Injury incidence	Incidence rate change	RR	Injury incidence	Incidence rate change	RR	Injury incidence	Incidence rate change	RR
Head																$0.1\pm0.1$	$-0.03 \pm 0.11$	0.4 1.3
Neck				$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.03\pm0.10$	$2.9\pm10.1$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.00\pm0.10$	$0.9\pm3.3$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$\textbf{-}0.02\pm0.08$	$0.5\pm1.7$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$\textbf{-}0.02\pm0.08$	$0.5\pm1.7$			
Shoulder	$0.3\pm0.1$	$0.05\pm0.27$	$2.6\pm11.2$	$0.3\pm0.1$	$-0.01 \pm 0.18$	$0.8\pm3.0$	$0.2\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-0.05} \pm 0.11$	$0.0 \pm 1.1$	$0.3\pm0.1$	$0.03\pm0.10$	$1.6\pm3.2$	$0.3 \pm 0.1$	$0.06\pm0.14$	$6.0 \pm 11.1$	$0.3\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-0.02} \pm 0.17$	$0.7 \pm 1.6$
Upper Arm	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.09\pm0.23$	5.7 ± 12.3	$0.1 \pm 0.0$	$0.04\pm0.13$	$2.9\pm8.7$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.00\pm0.09$	$1.0\pm2.8$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.00\pm0.08$	$0.9\pm3.0$	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.04\pm0.14$	$3.4\pm12.2$	$0.2\pm0.1$	$-0.09 \pm 0.14$	$0.2\pm0.5$
Elbow	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.04\pm0.25$	$1.9\pm5.8$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$\textbf{-0.02}\pm0.13$	$0.5\pm2.7$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$\textbf{-0.02} \pm 0.11$	$0.5\pm2.5$	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.03\pm0.11$	$2.4\pm7.4$	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.04\pm0.11$	$2.4\pm 6.7$	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.03\pm0.14$	$1.7 \pm 5.0$
Forearm				$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.01\pm0.11$	$1.6\pm7.2$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.01\pm0.08$	$1.4\pm5.6$				$0.1 \pm 0.0$	$\textbf{-0.02}\pm0.08$	$0.5\pm1.7$			
Wrist	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.12\pm0.20$	9.2 ± 12.1	$0.2\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-0.10} \pm 0.16$	-0.1 ± 1.0	$0.3\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-0.06} \pm 0.12$	$0.2 \pm 1.1$	$0.3\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-0.06} \pm 0.11$	$0.4\pm0.7$	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.01\pm0.12$	$1.3\pm2.8$	$0.3\pm0.1$	$0.07\pm0.17$	$3.4\pm13.1$
Chest							$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.01\pm0.08$	$1.4\pm5.6$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.00\pm0.08$	$1.3\pm4.5$						
Thoracic Spine	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.05\pm0.20$	$3.1\pm13.2$	$0.1\ \pm 0.0$	$0.03\pm0.10$	$2.9\pm10.1$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.00\pm0.08$	$1.2\pm4.6$	$0.2\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-0.04} \pm 0.12$	$0.3\pm1.2$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$\textbf{-0.03}\pm0.09$	$0.4\pm0.9$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$-0.03 \pm 0.11$	$0.4 \pm 1.3$
Trunk and Abdominal	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.04\pm0.19$	$2.6\pm11.4$	$0.2\pm0.0$	$-0.02 \pm 0.14$	$0.6\pm2.3$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.01\pm0.08$	$1.9\pm6.4$	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.01\pm0.10$	$1.3\pm3.1$	$0.3\pm0.1$	$0.06\pm0.14$	$4.0\pm7.5$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.00\pm0.13$	$0.9 \pm 2.9$
Lumbar Spine	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.08\pm0.23$	$5.3\pm11.5$	$0.4\pm0.1$	$0.06\pm0.20$	$1.9\pm3.9$	$0.5\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-0.08} \pm 0.20$	$0.2 \pm 1.3$	$0.4\pm0.1$	$0.08\pm0.12$	$2.7\pm4.5$	$0.5\pm0.1$	$0.02\pm0.16$	$1.2\pm1.8$	$0.4\pm0.1$	$-0.11 \pm 0.17$	$0.3\pm0.6$
Hip and Groin	$0.3\pm0.1$	$0.15\pm0.24$	$6.5\pm18.2$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$27.81 \pm 83.20$	$4.1\pm4.1$	$0.3\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-0.03} \pm 0.13$	$0.5\pm1.6$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.02\pm0.09$	$2.2\pm8.0$	$0.2\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-0.02} \pm 0.14$	$0.7\pm1.9$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$-0.01 \pm 0.12$	$0.9 \pm 2.3$
Pelvis/ Buttock	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.08\pm0.18$	6.1 ± 11.6	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.04\pm0.11$	$5.2\pm13.9$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.01\pm0.08$	$2.2\pm9.9$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.01\pm0.09$	$1.6\pm5.2$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.00\pm0.09$	$1.0\pm3.4$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.01\pm0.12$	$1.2 \pm 4.0$
Thigh	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.07\pm0.22$	$4.6\pm18.7$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.02\pm0.15$	$1.9\pm9.0$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.01\pm0.08$	$1.5\pm4.4$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.00\pm0.07$	$0.8\pm2.9$	$0.2\pm0.1$	$-0.03 \pm 0.14$	$0.6 \pm 1.6$	$0.2\pm0.0$	$-0.03 \pm 0.14$	$0.6 \pm 1.6$
Knee	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.04\pm0.25$	$1.9\pm5.8$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.00\pm0.11$	$1.1\pm3.8$	$0.2\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-0.02}\pm0.09$	$0.7 \pm 1.8$	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.05\pm0.13$	$3.0\pm 9.9$	$0.1 \pm 0.0$	$0.01\pm0.11$	$1.1\pm3.3$	$0.2\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-0.08} \pm 0.13$	$0.2\pm0.6$
Lower Leg	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.04\pm0.19$	$2.6\pm11.4$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.01\pm0.14$	$1.3\pm 6.5$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$\textbf{-0.02}\pm0.09$	$0.5\pm2.3$	$0.2\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-}0.02\pm0.12$	$0.7 \pm 1.7$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$-0.01 \pm 0.10$	$0.7\pm2.0$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.00\pm0.13$	$0.9 \pm 2.9$
Ankle	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.06\pm0.20$	$3.1\pm10.5$	$0.2\pm0.1$	$-0.02 \pm 0.14$	$0.4\pm3.2$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$-0.02 \pm 0.11$	$0.5\pm2.0$	$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.01 \pm 0.10$	$1.4 \pm 5.4$	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.01 \pm 0.11$	$1.2 \pm 3.5$	$0.4\pm0.1$	$0.01\pm0.19$	1.1 ± 2.3
Foot				$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.02\pm0.12$	$1.7\pm4.8$				$0.1\pm0.0$	$0.00\pm0.08$	$1.2\pm3.7$	$0.2\pm0.0$	$0.05\pm0.13$	$4.3\pm12.7$	$0.3\pm0.1$	$0.06\pm0.17$	$2.5 \pm 7.3$
Overall	$2.0 \pm 0.1$	$0.38\pm0.67$	$2.0 \pm 6.1$	$2.3\pm0.1$	$\textbf{-0.39} \pm 0.48$	$0.4\pm1.6$	$2.2 \pm 0.1$	$\textbf{-0.46} \pm 0.37$	$0.3 \pm 1.4$	$2.9\pm0.1$	$0.2\pm0.39$	$1.3 \pm 4.2$	$3.0\pm0.1$	$0.31\pm0.46$	$1.6 \pm 5.0$	$2.9\pm0.1$	$-0.15 \pm 0.54$	$0.8 \pm 2.9$

# **5.6. DISCUSSION**

This study provides a comprehensive longitudinal examination of injury incidence and severity in elite junior tennis players by sex, region and age (injury incidence only). Injury incidence in junior male and female tennis players was comparable when expressed relative to exposure hours. This finding is novel in elite junior tennis, although it is consistent with reports in collegiate tennis (62). However, when all body regions were considered, male junior players experienced higher injury severity than female juniors. Further, and in line with previous research (15, 129, 181), the lumbar spine was the most commonly and severely injured region across both sexes.

In addition to the lumbar spine being the most common and severe injury region in both sexes, it was also the most common and severe across age groups (14-18 year olds). Previous research has identified the mechanical loading of serving, primarily through lateral flexion and extension, as a risk factor for the development of low back pain in adolescent tennis players (182). The performance of the kick serve is known to be particularly problematic in this regard with coaches generally introducing and then emphasising this type of serve to players between the ages of 12 to 15 (182). The combination of high joint loads, increased repetition of an unaccustomed skill and physical growth during this time may therefore contribute to the high incidence of lumbar region injuries (182). Interestingly, the high eccentric-concentric activation of the abdominals during the serve would also appear to be implicated in the high incidence of trunk and abdominal injuries sustained by junior female players (90). Further research is required to determine why this injury is less common among junior male players. Given trunk injuries are of concern in elite junior tennis players, careful monitoring of serve loads, technique via biomechanical analyses and targeted injury prevention programs may mitigate occurrence and severity.

The shoulder was found to be the second most common region of injury in both sexes and the second most severe in junior males. Consistently, the shoulder has been highlighted to be the most common upper-limb injury region in tennis irrespective of age and standard (10, 179, 181). Shoulder injuries in tennis are generally reported to be overuse injuries as opposed to acute (179). As the joint is utilized in all strokes in tennis, it is likely the repetitive strain on the shoulder results in the large injury incidence often observed (179). As context, profiling of junior tennis matchplay suggests that players hit 2.5 to 3 strokes per point (183) and in excess of 90 serves per tennis match (42). When extrapolated to include the potential multiple singles and doubles matches completed in a day (52) and then on repeated days (181), the escalation in shoulder joint loading from hitting volumes and intensity may be cause for concern (179). Similarly, these playing demands expose the wrist to large forces which may explain the high incidence and severity of wrist injuries in both sexes in this study. In turn, these ballistic and repetitive movements are performed with equipment that is selected with little systematic regard to the loading implications for the upper-limb (50). The adverse effects of the inappropriate selection of equipment are likely to be magnified by biomechanical limitations that may also be associated with injury (184). Consequently, when these factors are coupled with high or increasing hitting volumes and intensities, the high incidence of wrist and global upper limb injuries among juniors is explicable.

Junior males had a high incidence of knee and ankle injuries, yet both trended downwards and were highly variable (large CI bounds) over time. Nevertheless, with these injuries to the lower limb in mind, the court surface upon which players train may be worth considering. Australian tennis players have naturally trained on hard rather than clay tennis courts, yet almost the same amount of international junior tournaments are offered on clay as compared to hard (185). As a result, Australian junior tennis players have recently increased their claycourt training leading to some of the juniors sampled in the current study spending up to five

149

times more time training on clay over the time period than previous cohorts in this National program. The increase in time spent training on clay, as compared to hard, may play a role in the reduction in knee and ankle injuries over time, as clay courts transmit less force through the body and allows players to slide more freely (186). However, the potential rise in pelvis/buttock injuries over the time period may have been a by-product of this increased clay-based hitting, as the movement and sliding actions on clay courts result in greater strain on the gluteus muscles (132). In comparison, a reduction in pelvis/buttock injuries over time was found at the Australian Open which is competed on hard court (181). Court surface may impact on junior tennis injuries and should be considered by both athletes and performance staff during junior athletic development.

The age-based analysis of injury incidence in this study provides a novel insight into the increasing injury occurrence in a developing junior population. Peak height velocity is generally experienced between the ages of 13 to 15 years (68), whereby soon after, the risk of injury is suggested to be greatest (68). In addition to physical growth, training and matchplay volume and intensity rise as junior tennis players begin to specialise in the sport and compete more often. This increase in load has been linked to a rise in injury risk (42). The finding that lumbar spine injuries were the most common injury region for players aged 14 to 18 is consistent with what was observed with the cohort overall. Shoulder, hip and groin injuries were the most common in 13 year-olds. The age analysis of injuries over time highlights an upward trend, albeit subject to large RR CIs, in upper-limb injuries in early and late teen players (13, 17 and 18 year-olds) and lower-limb and trunk injuries in mid teen players. Changes in technique, tactical approach, physicality of the players and matchplay, as well as equipment selection may all contribute to the variations in anatomical injury incidence by age over time (43, 50, 90, 183).

It is important to recognise the large size of the RR 95% CIs as a limitation, interpreted as the lower bounds extending beyond the null value (<1.0). A primary explanation is the small and variable injury numbers from year-to-year in the dataset, which then limits the strength of our conclusions. Future research should explore changes in injury rates over time with a larger and less variable dataset to provide some more meaningful insights. Additionally, although reporting tennis injuries per 1,000 exposure hours has been recommended as the best exposure measure (64), recent findings suggest that training/match duration may not be the optimal denominator for reporting injuries (187). However, a more precise measure of training and matchplay, such as hitting volume and distance covered, was not available in the dataset. The court surface of each training session and match was not recorded, which may have added to the understanding of changes in injury incidence. Also, no gender and severity analysis by age was undertaken due to limitations with sample size dilution (188). Furthermore, there was a lack of control in the injury prevention and interventions implemented during the time period. This may have impacted injury incidence by region, gender and age over time.

## **5.7.** CONCLUSION

The profile of junior injuries in the Australian national tennis program revealed that there was no sex difference in injury incidence, yet male injuries were more severe. The lumbar spine presented as the most frequent region of injury resulting in the most time-loss. Junior males experienced high shoulder, wrist and knee injury incidence and severity yet knee incidence shifted downwards over time. Junior females also experienced a high incidence of shoulder as well as trunk and abdominal injuries which trended up over time. The incidence of injuries also increased with age. Collectively, these findings describe common injury trends in elite junior tennis via assessment of injury incidence, severity, age and changes over time, whilst utilising a recommended exposure measure. In practice, this insight can inform injury prevention and training programs, equipment selection as well as tournament scheduling for elite junior tennis players.

# **5.8. PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS**

- No sex-based differences in injury incidence relative to exposure hours, and greater junior male injury severity compared to females, provides insight for sex-specific injury prevention and treatment programs.
- There is a need for enhanced lumbar spine injury prevention strategies in both sexes and all junior ages.
- The awareness of the increase with injury incidence with age from 13 through to 18year-old national, junior tennis players may assist with load monitoring, tournament scheduling, equipment selection and training programs to mitigate the injury risk.

# 6. CHAPTER 6: STUDY 3 - PREDICTIVE MODELLING OF INJURY IN TENNIS: DETERMINING THE BEST INTERNAL WORKLOAD CALCULATION AND TIMEFRAME

This chapter is comprised of the following paper under final (minor) review in the *British Journal of Sports Medicine*.

**Gescheit DT**, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Reid M. Predictive modelling of injury in tennis: determining the best internal workload calculation and timeframe Br J Sports Med, **Under Final (minor) Review.** 

# **6.1.** LINKING PARAGRAPH

Studies 1 and 2 describe the nature of injuries (occurrence, region, severity) sustained by both elite junior and professional tennis players. However, missing from these studies are the identification of their aetiology. One of the primary risk factors for injury is overload from training and competition. The associations between load and injury have been investigated in sports such as Australian football, soccer, cricket and rugby league, though remains unexplored in tennis (25, 28, 29, 147). However, the workload models commonly adopted to explore the relationship to injury risk in these other sports have been criticised for their low validity and lack of physiological merit – leading to alternative models being recommended (30-34). In addition, few studies in any sports have assessed the ability of training loads to *predict* subsequent injuries rather than simply measure the *association*. The ability to predict injury outcomes rather than just the level of risk, as per association models. Therefore, Study 3 aimed to determine the best internal workload model and timeframe for predicting injuries in elite tennis.

# **6.2.** ABSTRACT

Aim: To determine the best internal workload model and timeframe to predict injury in elite tennis. Methods: Daily training loads, recorded as session-RPE, and injury incidence data (2012-2016) from nationally ranked tennis players (n = 101,  $19.1 \pm 2.8$  y,  $91 \pm 112$  national ranking) were obtained. Injuries included those where any day of training or matchplay was restricted or lost. Multiple workload metrics, including variations of ACWR and EWMA as well as daily loads, monotony and strain were assessed over numerous timeframes (8 time points between 1-60 days) to predict subsequent injury. Predictive performance of the models was assessed via AUC of ROC curves and reported as AUC  $\pm$  95% confidence limits, sensitivity and specificity. Results: The daily rolling average load and EWMA models performed best ( $\geq 0.76 \pm 0.04$  AUC), largely owing to predicting non-cases rather than injuries  $(\geq 0.16 \text{ sensitivity}, \geq 0.74 \text{ specificity})$ . There were no predictive differences between timeframes. All other models performed relatively poorly  $(0.50-0.66 \pm 0.0)$ . Non-injured players experienced higher loads compared to injured players (mean  $\pm$  SD; 714  $\pm$  521 au, 565  $\pm$  426 au). Conclusions: The best predictive workload-injury models used daily rolling averages and EWMA regardless of the tested timeframes. This suggests the load model selection is more important than the timeframe selection for predicting injuries in tennis. The performance of these models was primarily determined by the accurate prediction of noncases, where loads were higher. All other models performed poorly, including ACWR, highlighting the importance of establishing sport-specific predictive models for injuries rather than adopting those from other sports.

155

# **6.3.** INTRODUCTION

In elite junior and senior level tennis, players contest between 22-35 officially sanctioned tournaments per calendar year(35), frequently including repeated transcontinental travel. Therefore, preparation time is sparse, often only equating to 30% of the time that players are in competition (35). These intensive scheduling demands, coupled with the repetitive and high velocity joint and muscle actions that underpin stroke and movement production in tennis (35, 41) pose injury risk (65). A growing body of evidence has highlighted the epidemiology of injuries among elite tennis players (10, 181), however, the aetiology of such injuries is unknown. Workloads have been utilised as a measure of injury risk in many sports, yet the relationship of workloads and injury in tennis has not been examined.

The relationship between workload and injury has been the source of considerable investigative interest; with evidence from sports including cricket, rugby and Australian football showing varying levels of association between particular external and internal workload profiles and injury (25, 30, 31, 147). For example, a doubling of injury risk was evident in the subsequent week of cricket when there was a spike in balls bowled (as a measure of external load) in the current week (25). The same injury risk was observed when loads were reported as an internal load via sRPE (3). Whist internal and external loads have also been acutely described in tennis (6), there has been no reported association or prediction of injury. Additionally, measurement of external load in tennis is difficult owing to the limited validity of global positioning system technologies for tennis, the impracticality of manual notation and the absence of validated inertial racquet-mounted technologies (145). Therefore, markers of internal tennis load that are more readily available, such as sRPE (3), represent an important initial step in the analysis of the workload–injury relationship in tennis.

156

Conceptually, the origins of the recent load and injury relationship research can be traced back to the fitness-fatigue model of Banister et al. (1975). This model describes the doseresponse relationship to training, where a performance outcome is based on the difference in a positive fitness response to negative fatigue response (151). Similarly, the ACWR (147) is an adapted representation of the positive fitness (chronic load) and negative fatigue (acute load) response to training. In this case, injury rather than performance is the outcome measure, raising speculation over the relevant application of the Banister fitness-fatigue model to such contexts (151). Selected timeframes of acute (1-week) and chronic (4-weeks) loads presented in the literature have also been criticised as being arbitrarily allocated to fatigue and fitness respectively (30). Given these criticisms, recent variations in the calculation and timeframes of daily load metrics have been suggested as better indicators of injury risk, than the common ACWR calculated over 7 and 28-days (30, 31, 33, 34). These include an incorporation of a decay factor (33) to the quantification of load over time, as well as the utilisation of monotony and strain to account for variability in training loads and training stress (155). The removal of acute load from chronic load calculation has also been recommended (34). Additionally, the ability to predict injuries from workload, rather than just assess the injury risk, is important in determining future injury outcomes (sensitivity) and non-cases (specificity)(31). This level of insight can guide the optimisation of training loads to minimise injury risk. However, findings in Australian football and soccer highlight current limitations with the ACWR to accurately predict true positive and negative injury cases (31, 32). As reference, Fanchini et al. (2018) found the injury predictive ability of ACWR in soccer to be similar to chance. As the loadinjury relationship in tennis remains unexplored, determining the most appropriate load calculation method and timeframe to predict tennis injury seems an obvious place to start. Therefore, the objective of this study was to compare the prediction accuracy of different models using internal training load (sRPE; (3)), over multiple timeframes, on the musculoskeletal injuries of elite junior and senior tennis players.

# 6.4. METHODS

#### 6.4.1. PARTICIPANTS

The study was conducted as part of Tennis Australia's injury surveillance program and included 101 players (58 males, 43 females, mean  $\pm$  SD age, 19.1  $\pm$  2.8 y). Players were ranked domestically (91  $\pm$  112), and held international junior (n = 97; 499  $\pm$  577) and/or senior (n = 59; 583  $\pm$  537) rankings. The following proportion of participants competed in the five individual competitive seasons: all (n = 27), four (n = 11), three (n = 23) and two (n = 40). Given the year-round but highly individualised nature of tournament tennis, systematic control of the competition and training schedules was not possible (35). Age-appropriate informed consent, from each participant or guardian, was obtained and ethics were approved by Australian Catholic University Human Ethics Committee.

# 6.4.2. PATIENT INVOLVEMENT

Patients were not involved in setting the research agenda as the outcomes are targeted towards tennis coaches, strength and conditioning coaches and practitioners working with the participants.

### 6.4.3. DEFINING INJURY

Injuries were medically diagnosed and defined as sport incapacity, whereby a player was sidelined or restricted due to the inability to perform planned training or matchplay based on loss or abnormality of bodily structure or functioning (164). Recurrent injuries, also coded in the dataset, were defined as an injury to the same region and linked to an initial injury which occurred after a player's full return to participation from the initial injury (163). The current study used OSICS to classify injuries (159). Tennis injury records were maintained by the organisation's physiotherapists and medical doctors. As the relationship between injury

region/type and workload was not the focus of the current study, all injuries were aggregated in the same way.

# 6.4.4. INTERNAL WORKLOAD AND INJURY DATA COLLATION AND MODELLING

Internal workload was defined as sRPE (3) with RPE obtained from the Borg CR10 scale (47) 30-minutes post-session utilising a mobile phone application accessible to all players. All workload and injury data on each player over the five-year period was compiled. Daily workload values were then utilised to test the injury prediction performance of the seven workload metrics. The metrics were (a) rolling average of daily loads, (b) ACWR, (c) ACWR with the acute load omitted from the chronic load calculation, (d) EWMA, e) EWMA with the acute load omitted from the chronic load calculation, (f) monotony, g) strain. Both (c) and (e) were tested due to the existence of mathematical coupling (34) in metrics (b) and (d) as the acute timeframe is included in both the numerator and denominator. The load calculation and selected timeframes for each model are featured in Table 17.

Model	Acute timeframes (days)	Chronic timeframes (days)	Formula
a) Rolling averages of daily load	1, 3, 5, 7, 14, 21, 28, 60	NA	Rolling average of total daily load for each timeframe (W1)
b) Acute to chronic workload ratios using rolling averages	1, 3, 4, 7, 14, 21	7, 14, 21, 28, 60	W1/0.25 x (W1 + W2 + W3 +W4)
c) Acute to chronic workload ratios with the acute load omitted from the chronic load calculation (34)	1, 3, 4, 7, 14, 21	7, 14, 21, 28, 60	ACWR = W1/0.25 x (W2 + W3 + W4 – W1)
d) Exponentially weighted moving averages (154)	1, 3, 4, 7, 14, 21	7, 14, 21, 28, 60	$\begin{split} & EWMA_{today} = Load_{today} \ x \ \lambda_a + ((1 - \lambda_a) \ x \\ & EWMA_{yesterday} \end{split}$ $& \lambda_a = 2/(N+1) \\ & EWMA \ ACWR = EWMA_{acute}/EWMA_{chronic} \end{split}$
e) Exponentially weighted moving averages with the acute load omitted from the chronic load calculation (34, 154)	1, 3, 4, 7, 14, 21	7, 14, 21, 28, 60	$\begin{split} & EWMA_{today} = Load_{today} \ge \lambda_a + ((1 - \lambda_a) \ge EWMA_{yesterday}) \\ & \lambda_a = 2/(N+1) \\ & EWMA \ ACWR = \\ & EWMA_{acute}/EWMA_{(chronic - acute)}) \end{split}$
f) Monotony	1, 3, 5, 7, 14, 21, 28, 60	NA	W1/Standard Deviation of W1
g) Strain	1, 3, 5, 7, 14, 21, 28, 60	NA	(W1/Standard Deviation of W1) x Load

Table 17: Load metrics and timeframes modelled to determine the injury prediction accuracy

#### 6.4.5. MISSING DATA

The retrospective and applied setting for which the data was obtained resulted in missing data (53%). To increase the power and accuracy of the study analysis in the presence of missingness, multiple imputations for training load were conducted, which is appropriate and justified for longitudinal data (165). To strengthen the imputation procedure, the available training loads for each subject were assessed for normality prior to imputation. The variability in each subject's available training loads was replicated within the imputations. Five imputations were undertaken, as recommended by Allison (2000), and were developed in R Statistics using the 'Amelia' package (165). The mean value of the five imputations for each data point was included in the final dataset for analysis. Sex (male or female), state of training (Australian states), ranking (national), tournament or training week, tournament/training location (home state or away) as well as loads experienced pre and post the missing days were factored into the imputation calculations to assign the most appropriate load values.

#### 6.4.6. Statistical analyses

All modelling was conducted in R Statistics (R Core Team, 2012) using the dplyr, Ime4, zoo, pROC, ROCR and caret packages. For each workload method, a logistic regression model was fit relating the workload method to injury. In order to test the predictive performance, sequential training and testing of the models was performed. This involved fitting the logistic model for every month of the last two years of data, using the most recent three years of training in each case. The assessment of loads in the lead up to a recurrent injury were omitted to assess the performance of each load metric and timeframe to initial injury outcomes. To evaluate the overall performance of each model, AUC of ROC curves were utilised, including all two years of test outcomes obtained from the sequential training and testing approach. The AUC summarises the discriminative ability of each model across a full range of sensitivity and specificity cut-offs (167) which refer to the detection of true positives and true negative

161

respectively (167). Therefore, the AUC  $\pm$  95% CI determined the predictive ability of each model, with a perfect predictive model equating to an AUC = 1, and a model performing the equivalent of chance corresponding to an AUC = 0.5 (167). The sensitivity and specificity values for each of the model and timeframe outcomes were utilised to assess the performance of each model in detecting injuries (true positives) and non-cases (true negatives)(167). To determine the comparative predictive strength of the model outcomes, the AUC CIs were assessed. If there was no overlap between models or timeframes, then a difference was established (168). However, if the CIs between models and timeframes overlapped, the difference between models was not considered to be practically important (168). To determine the direction of each models relationship to injury, the training load dataset was split into deciles. The models and timeframes were then rerun only including the top (highest) and bottom (lowest) deciles individually. The change in the model outcomes, compared to the global model outcome, determined the direction of each model and timeframe to injury. Specifically, the changes in the sensitivity and specificity value alongside the AUC changes.

# 6.5. RESULTS

#### 6.5.1. INJURY DETAILS

There were 327 male and 258 female injuries over the time period which equated to 2.8 and 2.7 injuries per 1,000 exposure hours respectively.

# 6.5.2. MODEL PERFORMANCE

The rolling average of daily loads and EWMA were the best performing models with AUCs of  $\geq 0.76 \pm 0.04$  (Figure 14 and 15). There was no practical important difference between these models across all timeframes (Figure 14 and 15, Table 18 and 19). The sensitivity (0.16)

- 0.22) and specificity (0.74 - 0.79) scores suggest that both models performed better in detecting non-cases (true negatives) rather than injuries (true positives; Table 18 and 19). The predictive ability of all ACWR timeframes, ACWR and EWMA with the acute load omitted from the chronic load calculation as well as strain were poor, with outcomes similar to chance (AUCs: 0.50 - 0.61  $\pm$  0.05; Figure 14 and 15). The monotony model showed variability in predictive ability by timeframe with monotony calculated over 60-days performing better than all other monotony timeframes (0.66  $\pm$  0.05; Figure 15). Similarly, performance was improved in detecting non-injuries as opposed to the occurrence of injury (Table 18 and 19).



Figure 14: Area under the curve values ( $\pm$  95% confidence interval) for daily rolling average (*a*), monotony (*f*) and strain (*g*) models



Figure 15: Area under the curve values ( $\pm$  95% confidence interval) for ACWR (b), ACWR with acute load omitted from chronic load (c), EWMA (d) and EWMA with acute load omitted from chronic load (e) models

	Daily Rolli	ng Average	Mon	otony	Strain		
Timeframe (days)	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity	Specificity	
1	0.16	0.74	0.08	0.58	0.08	0.60	
3	0.18	0.76	0.07	0.52	0.07	0.54	
5	0.20	0.77	0.07	0.52	0.08	0.60	
7	0.20	0.77	0.07	0.54	0.08	0.60	
14	0.21	0.77	0.07	0.55	0.08	0.60	
21	0.22	0.78	0.07	0.57	0.08	0.61	
28	0.22	0.78	0.08	0.57	0.08	0.61	
60	0.22	0.76	0.08	0.64	0.08	0.62	

*Table 18: Sensitivity and specificity values for daily rolling average, monotony and strain models over all timeframes* 

Sensitivity: true positive values divided by all positive values, specificity: true negative values divided by all negative values

	ACWR		ACWR acute om	itted from chronic	EW	'MA	EWMA acute omitted from chronic		
Timeframes (acute:chronic)	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity	Specificity	
1:7	0.07	0.56	0.07	0.58	0.18	0.77	0.08	0.60	
1:14	0.07	0.48	0.07	0.48	0.17	0.77	0.07	0.48	
1:21	0.07	0.51	0.07	0.51	0.17	0.76	0.07	0.50	
1:28	0.07	0.50	0.07	0.50	0.17	0.76	0.07	0.49	
1:60	0.07	0.53	0.07	0.52	0.17	0.77	0.07	0.50	
3:7	0.07	0.48	0.07	0.54	0.18	0.77	0.07	0.56	
3:14	0.07	0.52	0.07	0.48	0.17	0.76	0.07	0.50	
3:21	0.07	0.52	0.07	0.52	0.17	0.77	0.07	0.50	
3:28	0.07	0.53	0.07	0.52	0.17	0.77	0.07	0.50	
3:60	0.07	0.57	0.07	0.56	0.17	0.77	0.07	0.54	
5:7	0.07	0.53	0.07	0.54	0.17	0.76	0.07	0.55	
5:14	0.07	0.55	0.07	0.55	0.17	0.76	0.07	0.54	
5:21	0.07	0.55	0.07	0.55	0.17	0.77	0.07	0.53	
5:28	0.07	0.56	0.07	0.55	0.17	0.77	0.07	0.54	
5:60	0.07	0.59	0.07	0.58	0.18	0.78	0.07	0.57	
7:14	0.07	0.54	0.07	0.51	0.17	0.77	0.07	0.51	
7:21	0.07	0.54	0.07	0.59	0.17	0.77	0.07	0.52	
7:28	0.07	0.54	0.07	0.54	0.18	0.77	0.07	0.52	
7:60	0.07	0.58	0.07	0.57	0.18	0.78	0.07	0.56	
14:21	0.07	0.49	0.07	0.51	0.18	0.78	0.07	0.51	
14:28	0.07	0.49	0.07	0.51	0.18	0.78	0.07	0.51	
14:60	0.07	0.54	0.07	0.53	0.19	0.79	0.07	0.55	

Table 19: Sensitivity and specificity values for ACWR, ACWR acute omitted from chronic, EWMA and EWMA acute omitted from chronic models over all timeframes

Sensitivity: true positive values divided by all positive values, specificity: true negative values divided by all negative value

#### 6.5.3. DIRECTION OF LOAD AND INJURY RELATIONSHIPS

Non-injured players experienced higher loads than injured players with mean  $\pm$  standard deviation loads of 714  $\pm$  521 au as compared to 565  $\pm$  426 au respectively. AUCs, sensitivity and specificity of the top (highest) decile, as compared to the initial model outcomes showed a 0.01 - 0.03 increase in AUC with a 0.04 - 0.07 increase in specificity values without a change in sensitivity values across all models and timeframes. Conversely, the AUCs of the bottom (lowest) decile displayed a 0.01 - 0.04 reduction with a 0.02 - 0.08 reduction in specificity values compared to the initial models with, again, no change in sensitivity.

# **6.6. DISCUSSION**

The aim of this study was to assess the injury prediction accuracy of various internal load metrics, across different timeframes, among a cohort of elite tennis players. The rolling average of daily loads and EWMA models were the best performing models with the ability to detect at least 76% of injury outcomes, primarily non-cases. The loads experienced by the players were higher when an injury did not occur. This suggests that uninjured players are more tolerant to higher training loads which deserves further exploration. There was no difference in the predictive ability between any tested timeframes of the daily rolling average and EWMA models indicating that model selection may be more important than timeframe selection. All other tested models performed relatively poorly in predicting injury outcomes, including the ACWR model over all examined timeframes (<58% of injury outcomes). Consequently, the use of rolling average or EWMA may be the most appropriate approach when using daily internal load (sRPE; (3)) to assess workload related injury risk in tennis. Further, given the use of the ACWR model in many sports, the poor predictive results might prompt reconsideration of the status quo.

# 6.6.1. Injury prediction ability of workload metrics in tennis versus those adopted in other sports

The most commonly adopted load metric for assessing injury risk in both team and individual sports is ACWR (25, 147, 189) with 7-day (1-week) acute loads and 28-day (4-weeks) chronic loads the most common timeframes. These timeframes are justified by classic micro and mesocycle training and competition durations of the relevant sports but are arbitrary in their capture of fatigue and fitness (189). However, when assessing the injury *prediction* performance of ACWR over a variety of timeframes, these findings show the model has limited predictive ability in tennis (AUC: <0.58  $\pm$  0.05). Such low predictive strength may relate to recent criticisms that the ACWR misrepresents the Banister Fitness-Fatigue model. Specifically, the use of injury rather than performance as the outcome represents a different paradigm, resulting in poor injury prediction ability. Additionally, it may highlight the lack of physiological evidence to support selected timeframes of fatigue and fitness resulting in the inability to detect injury. However, further exploration is needed to justify these suppositions. Consequently, although an association to injury risk has been established in some sports (25, 147, 189), the ability to predict injuries with ACWRs in tennis is not supported by this study.

Other models tested appear to have greater predictive performance. That is, rolling average of daily loads and EWMA provide alternative approaches with stronger predictive outcomes in tennis. These approaches predicted 76-82% of observations and non-observations, independent of the tested timeframes. An explanation of why the daily rolling average and EWMA performed better than ACWR may appear in the way acute loads are accounted for in the calculations. Daily rolling averages only capture an individual (acute) load without the inclusion of an underlying chronic load. Additionally, although the EWMA model includes a chronic load, it assigns a higher weighting to more recent loads. This is different to the ACWR which considers each acute and chronic day to have the same influence on injury risk.

Furthermore, both rolling averages and EWMA have been reported as good predictors of injury in other sports (33, 152). Specifically, weekly rolling averages performed well in determining injuries in rugby league players, and EWMA was found to be relatively sensitive at detecting injuries in Australian football (33, 152).

Of interest, this study found a clear difference in the predictive ability of the EWMA model with and without the acute load included in the chronic load calculation. Specifically, the inclusion of acute load in the chronic calculation improved the model's performance. The reason for the difference may also be an artefact of the importance and weighting of the acute load, or perhaps that both models are being assessed for predictive ability rather than association. As a prediction model aims to predict future outcomes rather than testing the explanatory ability, as per an association model, the existence of mathematical coupling does not interfere with the predictive testing (34). This highlights the importance of injury aetiology studies to be explicit in their methodological approach and subsequent interpretation of their findings. Regardless, the outcomes of this study suggest that daily rolling average and EWMA load metrics are more effective in injury prediction than ACWR, in tennis.

However, it must be noted that the performance of daily rolling average and EWMA models is mostly attributed to detecting when injuries did not occur as opposed to when they did. Nevertheless, when interpreted alongside the finding that loads were higher in non-cases, practitioners can yield meaningful insight for injury prevention. As the loads experienced were higher when players were uninjured/healthy, this might suggest that these players have a better load tolerance, potentially due to greater physical capacity. However, further investigation is needed to support this suggestion.

# 6.6.2. The injury prediction ability of monotony and strain in tennis

Monotony and strain, measures of training load variability and stress (155), performed poorly in predicting injury outcomes in this cohort. Most timeframes delivered outcomes marginally better than chance, with one exception being monotony assessed over 60-days reporting a fair injury prediction accuracy (AUC:  $0.66 \pm 0.05$ ). Again, this performance is largely owing to the prediction of non-cases. Interestingly, Carey et al. (2018) also reported poor predictive power for monotony in Australian football, suggesting that certain athletes can tolerate repetitive training without impacting on injury risk. Furthermore, it is important to note that both the Carey study as well as the current study considered monotony and strain calculated per day and not per session (31). The sessional calculation of monotony and strain may better reflect within day variability and stress (155) and improve the predictive performance of these models. The incorporation of a decay factor as per EWMA, may also change the monotony and strain model outcomes and should be explored in the context of load variability and stress as it relates to injury in tennis.

#### 6.6.3. Possibilities for improving the models predictive performance

There is great complexity in the injury epidemiology and potential aetiology in tennis. As described by Reid et al. (2018), there are clear differences in the mechanical loads experienced and tolerated by the upper and lower limbs in tennis. As such, quantifying loads in tennis to determine an injury outcome may need to include different metrics. For example, the number of strokes hit may be a relevant external load measure for the assessment of upper limb injuries, while distance covered or the type and magnitude of change of direction may have the same utility for lower limb injuries (187). Therefore, using internal training loads to predict injury as is done in this study, may be strengthened by limb-specific external load measures. Additionally, an exploration of the training loads experienced during training versus competition, as well as load during rehabilitation from injury, may produce different

predictive outcomes for subsequent injury (88). Therefore, developing a predictive model that encapsulates all types of training periods may enhance its performance.

# 6.6.4. LIMITATIONS

The main limitation of this study is missing workload data. This is a result of the retrospective and 'real world' nature of the data collection. As abovementioned, multiple imputations were utilised to overcome the level of missingness with as much rigour as possible (166, 167). A second limitation may be the inclusion of all players in the dataset without clustering by age, sex, physical capacity, injury region and or/type or competition phase. This may limit the findings for a targeted cohort and should be considered for future research. Another limitation is the class imbalance of the dataset whereby the majority of outcomes were non-cases rather than cases. Therefore, the performance of the models is skewed as is evident by the high specificity values compared to sensitivity values. Lastly, a potential limitation may be born out of a reduction in loads after an initial injury. Particularly, during the rehabilitation phase of injury the ability of players to tolerate high loads may diminish and this may not be adequately captured in the data upon their return to full training. Theoretically, this could result in lower load prescription whilst physical capacity is redeveloped or, alternatively, players reporting higher RPEs (and sRPEs) for the same external load. Therefore, this may have impacted on the loads included in the model calculations for subsequent injuries.

# **6.7.** CONCLUSION

Workload models calculated as daily rolling averages and EWMA were the best predictors of subsequent injury and non-injury in elite tennis players. There was no difference in timeframe dependent model performance, suggesting that model selection is more important. Although

the adoption of ACWR is common practice in many sports, this study highlights that alternative models are more suitable for injury prediction in tennis. Critically, the rolling average and EWMA models performed better in predicting when injuries did not occur as compared to when they did occur. This, combined with the finding that loads were higher when players were uninjured suggests these players may be able to tolerate higher loads and this should form the basis of future research.

# **6.8.** What are the new findings?

- The rolling average of daily loads and EWMA models were the best performing workload models in this study with no difference between models or timeframes suggesting load metric selection is more important than timeframe selection.
- The ACWR across all tested timeframes had poor injury predictive ability in tennis.
- Non-injured players experienced higher loads as compared to injured players suggesting a load tolerance.

# 7. CHAPTER 7: STUDY 4 - MULTIVARIATE MODELLING OF INTRINSIC AND EXTRINSIC RISK FACTORS TO INJURY IN ELITE JUNIOR TENNIS PLAYERS

This chapter is comprised of the following paper under review in the *British Journal of Sports Medicine*.

**Gescheit DT**, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Kemp J, Reid M. Multivariate modelling of intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors to injury in elite junior tennis players. Br J Sports Med, **Under Review.** 

# 7.1. LINKING CHAPTER

Study 3 highlighted that internal loads, calculated as daily rolling averages and exponentially weighted moving averages, are able to predict non-cases (true negatives) in elite junior players. Whist these findings represent a first exploration of the relationship between workload and injury, the lack of utility of this model may be an artefact of the univariate analysis of internal loads and injury. That is, as injuries are complex and multifactorial (7, 8), univariate approaches may oversimplify the injury paradigm in tennis. Consequently, Study 4 aimed to understand what combination of risk factors were most associated with injury in elite junior tennis players. In particular, sex, age, playing standard, competition phase, internal and external workloads, wellbeing, physical capacity and musculoskeletal function were assessed for their interrelationship and association with injury. The results of which can help to guide the selection of factors that should be monitored when assessing injury risk among elite junior players in a national tennis program.

# 7.2. ABSTRACT

Aim: To determine the association of intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors with injuries in elite junior tennis players. Methods: Daily training loads, training types, perceptual wellbeing and soreness, as well as baseline musculoskeletal function and physical capacity measures were collected between 2017-2018 from junior players in a national program (26 males, 23 females, mean  $\pm$  SD age 15.6  $\pm$  2.0 y, peak national ranking 143  $\pm$  128). Training loads included serve counts and sRPE calculated as daily load and 21-day rolling average in the lead up to injury. Injuries (n = 78) included those where training or matchplay days were restricted or lost. Univariate Cox Proportional Hazard models determined the first factor in the forward step selection for the multivariate Cox Proportional Hazard model. The multivariate model determined the aggregated factors that had the best strength of association to injury with results reported as hazard ratios  $\pm$  95% CI. **Results:** The multivariate analysis revealed that a lower serve count ( $-0.02 \pm 0.00$ ) and more body-regions with soreness on day of injury (0.84  $\pm$  0.48), combined with lower multistage fitness test score (-0.46  $\pm$  0.23) and slower modified 505 COD speed test  $(3.47 \pm 2.88)$  were best at detecting injury hazard. Conclusions: The interplay of serve loads, regions of body soreness, aerobic capacity and COD speed provided the highest association with injury. Therefore, injury risk is greatest in players with limited pre-existing physical capacities, coupled with lower serve loads and more soreness on day of injury. These risk factors have currency as injury prevention and training monitoring tools in high-performance tennis.

# **7.3. INTRODUCTION**

Elite junior tennis player development incorporates large volumes of on- and off-court training within congested yearly tournament schedules (35). These volumes, and the high variability in week-to-week training and competition demands (based on the knock-out format of most tennis tournaments), may manifest in injury risk that limits the performance and progression of players (35). Historically, individual risk factors have been associated with injury in junior tennis players; including age, sex, physical growth and a variety of specific musculoskeletal function and physical capacity tests (12, 16, 20, 79, 97). However, injuries are multifactorial (17) and awareness of the inter-relationship of risk factors on tennis player susceptibility to injury is critical but remains unexplored.

Precursors to injury can include non-modifiable and modifiable intrinsic risk factors; such as age, sex, musculoskeletal function, physical capacity, perceptual wellbeing and playing standard (17). Conversely, extrinsic injury risk factors can include the volume, type and intensity of training and matchplay (17). Understanding the effects of these risk factors on injury informs the use of screening tools and the monitoring of appropriate measures over time (20, 97). For example, reduced hip range of motion in female tennis players was associated with abdominal strain injuries (20). Although this is informative for the monitoring of a univariate risk factor, other factors such as age, sex and training loads may have also had an impact on the abdominal injuries, yet were unexplored (20).

While multifactorial approaches to assessing injuries in other sports are common (23, 24, 190), such research in tennis remains sparse. For example, across 16 other sports, a rise in training volume and intensity coupled with a decrease in sleep duration resulted in a higher injury risk in elite youth athletes (24). Additionally, slower and less agile female rugby

players with hip flexor tightness were at higher risk of injury (190). Moreover, Australian footballers with lower chronic loads coupled with high running distances were at greater injury risk (23). Such findings show the interaction between intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors, particularly those that profile the physical capacity, perceptual wellbeing and training loads of athletes (23, 24, 190). Therefore, the modelling of multiple injury risk factors in tennis is critical to understand injury risk and provide guidance for the monitoring of appropriate risk factors in training and competition.

Consequently, the aim of this study was to model the relationship of intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors with injury in elite junior tennis players. Specifically, player demographics, workloads, training type, characteristics of the musculoskeletal system, physical capacity, national tennis ranking and perceived wellbeing was modelled with the aim of determining which aggregation of these risk factors has the best strength of association to subsequent injury.

# 7.4. METHODS

# 7.4.1. PARTICIPANTS

Twenty-six male  $(15.5 \pm 1.6 \text{ y})$  and 23 female  $(15.6 \pm 2.3 \text{ y})$  nationally-supported junior tennis players with mean peak national rankings of  $173 \pm 140$  and  $112 \pm 115$  respectively, participated in the study. The study period included a 500-day period from the start of 2017 through to mid-2018 when all players were actively part of the national program. The systematic control of player competition and training schedules was not possible due to the applied setting of the study. Informed consent was obtained from all participant guardians as all players were under the age of 18. The Australian Catholic University's human ethics committee approved the study (2015-192E).

### 7.4.2. PATIENT INVOLVEMENT

Patients were not involved in setting the research agenda. However, results will be disseminated to all participants via an infographic as well as the continual targeted monitoring of the associated risk factors.

### 7.4.3. RISK FACTORS

Both extrinsic and intrinsic risk factors were collected during the study period for all participants. Extrinsic risk factors included external and internal training loads quantified via serve counts and sRPE (3) respectively. These were collected via athlete self-reporting in a custom built mobile phone application after the final training session/match of each day (Table 20). Athlete self-reported serve load was selected owing to resource burden of manual notation and the scarcity of validated tennis-specific inertial technologies (145) limiting the capture of other external load measures. Yet, athlete self-reporting of daily external loads are routinely performed in other sports and show appropriate validity as a count of actions in tennis (169). Internal sRPE loads were classified as on-court or off-court (i.e. gym, conditioning) loads; with on-court loads categorised as training or competitive matchplay load. Both internal and external loads were quantified as raw total daily values on the day of injury as well as the rolling average of the previous 21-days was selected based on unpublished observations suggesting this load metric and timeframe has some injury prediction ability in a similar cohort of tennis players (Study 3).

Non-modifiable intrinsic risk included sex, and age calculated at the start of the data collection period. Modifiable intrinsic risk factors comprised daily wellbeing ratings, baseline physical capacity and musculoskeletal function measures and playing standard assessed via

peak national ranking during the study period. Daily wellbeing included each player's selfreported assessment of sleep quality, mood, worry, fatigue and appetite (114), as well as perceived body region soreness and corresponding magnitude. These measures were entered in the same mobile phone application as the reported training loads 30min post-waking on a 0-10 Likert scale, where 10 was the best score and 0 the worst (170). Sleep duration was obtained in the same way and reported to the nearest 30min. Physical capacity measures included a 5m and 20m sprint test, modified 505 COD speed test (94), vertical jump and maximal multistage 20m shuttle run test (95) (Table 20). Only single time point physical capacity measures existed and are treated as baseline measures recorded at the start of the data collection period. Similarly, baseline musculoskeletal screening measures including assessments of joint pain, strength and flexibility, were obtained for each player by a qualified physiotherapist (Table 20). The same physiotherapist undertook all musculoskeletal screenings to ensure intra-rater reliability (ICC >0.83, CV%<8.6).
Risk factor	Description	Unit of measure	Frequency of
Musculoskeletal screening battery			uata capture
Dominant single leg squat	Unilateral lower limb mobility and strength	1: good, 2: fair, 3: poor	At baseline
Thoracic overhead extension	Thoracic flexibility	1: within normal limits, 2: stiff, 3: hypermobile	At baseline
Scapula dyskinesis	Scapula function in flexion	1: normal, 2: abnormal	At baseline
Glunohumeral internal rotation deficit	Difference in shoulder range of motions	degrees difference	At baseline
Dominant supine hip internal rotation	Hip internal rotation	1: within normal limits, 2: stiff, 3: hypermobile	At baseline
Dominant supine hip external rotation	Hip external rotation	1: within normal limits, 2: stiff, 3: hypermobile	At baseline
Squeeze test	Hip adduction	1: good, 2: fair, 3: poor	At baseline
Dominant Thomas test	Hip extension	1: above horizontal, 2: horizontal, 3: below horizontal	At baseline
Fitness testing battery			
5m sprint	Acceleration	seconds	At baseline
20m sprint	Speed	seconds	At baseline
Dominant side modified 505 change of direction speed test (94)	Change of direction speed test from stationary start	seconds	At baseline
Double leg vertical jump height	Leg power power	cm	At baseline
Maximal multistage 20m shuttle run test score (95)	Aerobic capacity	decimal score	At baseline
Load measures			
Total Load	Internal load	sRPE	Daily
On-court load	Tennis internal load	sRPE	Daily
Off-court load	Gym internal load	sRPE	Daily
21 day rolling average total load	Internal load	sRPE	Daily
21 day rolling average on-court load	Tennis internal load	sRPE	Daily
21 day rolling average off-court load	Gym internal load	sRPE	Daily
Serve count	Number of serves hit	count	Daily
21 day rolling average serve count	Number of serves hit	sRPE	Daily

*Table 20: Musculoskeletal screening, fitness testing and training load measures and frequency of capture* 

#### 7.4.4. INJURY DEFINITION

Injuries were defined as sport incapacity, whereby a player was sidelined or restricted due to the inability to perform planned training or matchplay based on loss or abnormality of bodily structure or functioning (164). Recurrent injuries were recorded as injuries of the same type and to the same region as a preceding initial injury. However, recurrent injuries were not included in the analysis due to potential training load and tournament scheduling adaptations as a result of an initial injury which may have impacted the assessment of these variables in the modelling (64). Additionally, only musculoskeletal injuries were included in the dataset (lacerations/abrasions, bruising/haematomas and illnesses were omitted) to ensure that the injuries were more directly attributable to risk factors. All injuries were treated equally in the analysis. The time to injury was counted as the number of days to injury from the start of the assessment period.

#### 7.4.5. DATA PRE-PROCESSING

Multiple steps were needed to prepare the data for analysis. As is common in applied elite sport research, the training load and wellbeing data were incomplete. To enhance the accuracy and power of the modelling, multiple (n = 5)(166) imputations were utilized to combat the missingness which is appropriate for longitudinal data (165). The imputations were developed using the 'Amelia' package (165) in R Statistics (R Core Team, 2012). The normality of distribution of the observed data for each imputed training load and wellbeing variable was initially examined, with all variables being normally distributed. Sex, peak national ranking, competition phase (tournament or training day) as well as each preceding variable with imputed data were utilized in the subsequent imputation to best determine each assigned imputed value. The mean of the five imputations for each missing data point was adopted in the complete dataset for analysis.

#### 7.4.6. COLLINEARITY

Highly correlated risk factors can violate the multivariate model outcomes (171). Therefore, the collinearity of each variable to each other was assessed via Pearson's correlations and Chi-Square analysis in R statistics (R Core Team, 2012). Interestingly, all fitness testing and musculoskeletal screening measure outcomes which were tested on both the dominant and non-dominant side of the athlete had very strong collinear relationships (r > 0.80)(172). Additionally, 5m and 10m sprint outcomes were strongly correlated (r = 0.91). Subsequently, one variable in each collinear pair was omitted from the dataset. The dominant side measure was retained for all collinear pairs tested on each side of the body, as well as the 5m sprint time due to this distance being more specific to the sprint distance demands in tennis matchplay as compared to 10m (173).

### 7.4.7. Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were conducted in R statistics (R Core Team, 2012) using the dplyr and survival packages. Cox Proportional Hazards models was used to investigate the association between the injury outcome and one or more of the predictor variables, namely the risk factors, via a forward step selection process (171). A univariate Cox analysis of each risk factor was conducted initially to determine the first factor in forward step selection process for the multivariate analysis, with the most statistically significant variable selected (p<0.05 in Wald test)(171). The corresponding effect was added to the multivariate model and the process repeated until none of the remaining variables met the significance level in association to both injury and the other significant effects (171). Results are reported at HR ± 95% CI.

## 7.5. RESULTS

#### 7.5.1. INJURY PROFILE

There were 78 injuries during the study period, with 18 males and 19 females incurring an injury. Twenty-three athletes incurred more than one injury during the time period and twelve athletes did not suffer an injury at all. The mean time to injury within the collection period was  $235 \pm 145$  days, with the mean age of the injured cohort being  $15.2 \pm 2.1$  years.

# 7.5.2. Univariate Cox analysis for first factor of the forward step selection process for the multivariate analysis

The initial univariate Cox analysis to determine the first step in the forward step selection resulted in significant associations of the maximal multistage 20m shuttle run test score (-0.17  $\pm$  0.14), serve count (-0.01  $\pm$  0.01), count of body areas reported sore (0.42  $\pm$  0.33) and the mean soreness score (0.17  $\pm$  0.13) with injury (Table 21). Serve count had the strongest association with musculoskeletal injury (p = 0.01) and was therefore selected as the first step for the multivariate Cox analysis.

	Univariate models		
Parameter	HR	±95% CI	P value
Age	-0.10	0.11	0.09
Sex	0.38	0.46	0.10
Schedule mode	0.03	0.74	0.93
Ranking group	0.08	0.12	0.19
Dominant single leg squat	0.24	0.36	0.19
Thoracic overhead extension	-0.16	0.50	0.53
Scapula dyskinesis	-0.15	0.48	0.54
Glenohumeral internal rotation deficit	-0.02	0.02	0.06
Dominant supine hip internal rotation	0.16	0.33	0.34
Dominant supine hip external rotation	0.11	0.54	0.69
Squeeze test	0.30	0.33	0.08
Dominant Thomas test	-0.15	0.32	0.35
5m sprint	-0.49	2.36	0.69
20m sprint	-0.67	0.92	0.16
Dominant side modified 505 change of direction speed test	0.49	1.45	0.51
Double leg vertical jump height	-0.01	0.03	0.56
Beep test score	-0.17	0.14	0.02
Hours of sleep	-0.01	0.33	0.96
Rating of appetite	0.12	0.25	0.17
Rating of worry	-0.05	0.25	0.70
Rating of mood	< 0.01	0.25	0.99
Rating of sleep quality	-0.04	0.22	0.75
Rating of fatigue	0.02	0.20	0.87
Total Load	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.75
On-court load	<-0.01	< 0.01	0.73
Off-court load	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.56
21 day rolling average total load	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.68
21 day rolling average on-court load	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.75
21 day rolling average off-court load	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.77
Serve count	-0.01	0.01	0.01
21 day rolling average serve count	-0.00	0.01	0.16
Areas of soreness	0.42	0.33	0.01
Average rating of soreness	0.17	0.13	0.01

Table 21: Univariate Cox Proportional Hazard model outcomes including Hazard Ratios $(HR) \pm 95\%$  Confidence Intervals and p values

#### 7.5.3. Multivariate Cox analysis

The multivariate Cox model analysis showed lower serve count (-0.02  $\pm$  0.00), more body regions reported as sore (0.84  $\pm$  0.48), a lower multistage 20m shuttle run test score (-0.46  $\pm$  0.23) and a slower modified 505 COD speed test time (3.47  $\pm$  2.88) were significantly and collectively associated to injury (Table 22).

Table 22: Steps in Multivariate Cox Proportional Hazard model including Hazard Ratios $(HR) \pm 95\%$  Confidence Intervals and p values

	Multivariate models		
Parameter	HR	±95% CI	P value
Step 1			
Serve Count	-0.01	0.01	0.01
a. •			
Step 2			
Serve Count	-0.01	0.01	< 0.01
Count of areas of soreness	0.67	0.38	< 0.01
Step 3			
Serve Count	-0.02	< 0.01	< 0.01
Count of areas of soreness	0.82	0.44	< 0.01
Beep test	-0.36	0.21	< 0.01
Step 4			
Serve Count	-0.02	< 0.01	< 0.01
Count of areas of soreness	0.84	0.48	< 0.01
Beep test	-0.46	0.23	< 0.01
Dominant side modified 505 change of direction speed test	3.47	2.88	0.02

# 7.6. DISCUSSION

The aim of the study was to determine which combination of intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors best explain injury risk in a national junior tennis program. Specifically, the association of age, sex, training load, musculoskeletal function, physical capacity, peak national ranking and daily wellbeing ratings to subsequent injury were explored. The multivariate model that best explained the injury hazard in elite junior tennis players included lower serve counts, a greater number of perceived sore body regions, lower aerobic capacity and slower COD speed. Correspondingly, this study also suggests that other risk factors such as internal load, musculoskeletal function, age, sex, ranking and competition phase may not add to the understanding of the injury risk in elite junior tennis.

#### 7.6.1. Low Serve loads and injury

The serve has commonly been reported to elevate injury risk in tennis players, primarily due to the repetitive large ranges of motion, multi-joint loading and rotational speeds demanded of the stroke (191). Therefore, lower serve loads being associated with subsequent injury seems counterintuitive. Previous studies show that acute mechanical overhead loads may heighten injury risk in the subsequent days (146, 192). Correspondingly, baseball pitchers were also more susceptible to injury in the 72h following a bout of high-volume pitching (146). These findings, coupled with the repetitive nature and mechanics of serve, suggests a heightened risk of injury following high serve loads which may continue to manifest even when overhead loads are reduced. The timeframes of serve load quantification in this study fail to explicitly explore loads in the days prior to injury beyond the 21-day rolling average. As such, the low serve load on day of injury may have been precautionary due to the perceived risk of injury from a previous high load bout not captured in the dataset. However, further exploration of the serve and training loads in the days prior to an injury is needed to explicitly understand the relationship between low serve loads and injury.

#### 7.6.2. BODY SORENESS AND INJURY

Alongside low recent serve load, a higher number of sore body areas was found to be associated with injury risk. Isolated body regions with reported muscle soreness have been commonly associated with injury in sport (124, 193). For example, it has been shown that shoulder soreness in elite female water polo players is associated with ensuing injury (193), while higher lower-limb ratings of soreness have been found to increase injury risk in elite footballers (124). In tennis, multi-match day and consecutive day matches have also shown spikes in perceived soreness coupled with elevated muscle damage markers (6, 52). Perceived soreness can form in response to the physical movement patterns (i.e. high eccentric loads) or represent resultant muscle damage (119, 123). The specific mechanism of how perceived soreness is associated to injury has been attributed to either a psychological stress response or a by-product of a physiological stress response (119, 194). Regardless of explicit cause or load, increased perceived ratings of body soreness were evident on the day of injury and, thus, should be monitored as in elite junior tennis players.

#### 7.6.3. AEROBIC CAPACITY, CHANGE OF DIRECTION SPEED AND INJURY

Both aerobic capacity and COD speed have been associated with elite tennis performance (93, 195), though their relationship with injury remains unknown. However, limited aerobic capacity and COD speed have been consistently shown to increase injury risk in other sports including Australian football, rugby league, rugby sevens and ballet (97, 98, 148, 190). Explanations for the associations found in this study may relate to the high physical and movement demands of elite competitive tennis and the undefined duration of matches (6, 173). Specifically, players undertake an average of four COD per point and compete in matches lasting from 1 to 5+ hours (6, 173). This may limit the ability of players with lower aerobic capacity and slower COD speed to achieve optimal court placement for repetitive ball strikes over an extended period of time (173). Such reoccurring demands may compromise movement mechanics resulting in overload of the musculoskeletal system (126). Of note, COD speed was not associated with injury in the univariate analysis in this study; suggesting that it is only when slower COD speed is coupled with other variables, including lower aerobic capacity, as well as low serve loads and more widespread body soreness, that it becomes an important risk factor for injury.

#### 7.6.4. The combined relationship of these risk factors to injury

While we have explored the rationale linking each individual risk factor to injury, the unique aspect of this study is their collective association to injury in elite tennis players. As abovementioned, players with lower aerobic capacity and slower COD speed may be less able to tolerate the demands of elite tennis which requires both high fitness levels and explosive changes of direction (35). This may heighten the risk of injury by way of inefficient movement patterns and/or musculoskeletal overload (126) which can result in an increased levels of physiological and/or perceptual soreness (6). As a result of the soreness itself, or the perception of greater injury risk due to soreness, physiotherapist, coaches or the athletes themselves may reduce serve loads on the day of injury. Alternatively, players may be unable to perform more serves on day of injury due to the accumulation of physical and perceived stress from the other risk factors. However, the time-course and sequence of events in the lead up to injury needs to be further explored to comprehensively understand these complex interactions.

#### 7.6.5. RISK FACTORS NOT IN THE MODEL

An understanding of why certain risk factors did not have an association to injury in this study is also informative for decision-making regarding the resourcing and monitoring of such factors. For example, no measure of internal load featured in the multivariate model. Perhaps the inclusion of an external load measure in the model limited the influence of internal load in explaining injury hazard. Correspondingly, the explanatory power of external loads over internal loads, as found in this study, is consistent with findings in soccer (196). Interestingly however, the opposite was found in cricket (25). In addition to internal loads, no musculoskeletal function or wellbeing measures (excluding soreness areas) were shown to be associated with injury hazard. This may be attributable to the wellbeing data only being assessed on the day of injury and musculoskeletal screenings only conducted at the start of the study period. This may not be frequent enough, or miss the important time-capture window to

influence injury risk. Though in support, the lack of association between wellbeing and musculoskeletal screening measures and injury is evident in a multivariate analyses of injury risk factors in Australian football (23).

Additionally, sex, ranking, competition phase (training versus tournament) and age did not contribute to the injury risk in this cohort. The association between sex and injury risk in tennis literature is inconclusive (16, 181). Therefore, this may suggest that both sexes are equally susceptible to injury risk rendering it a factor unable to assist in further explain why such injuries occur. Additionally, the narrow range in players' peak national rankings may have limited the ability for the model to differentiate playing standards which could have hindered its association to injury. Furthermore, it has been found that there is a greater prominence of injuries during competition as compared to training (14). Injuries in competition are generally acute in nature, whereas injuries during training are typically chronic (14). However, the nature of the injuries (acute or chronic) in this study were not categorized. Similarly, a relationship between age and injury has been shown previously, with older junior athletes likely to sustain more injuries (12). This is commonly attributed to a rise in injury risk during peak height velocity (79). Therefore, it may have been expected that age would feature in this study's multivariate model. However, the period of data capture may have been too short to determine within-player physical adaptations with age.

#### 7.6.6. LIMITATIONS

There are a number of limitations that may have impacted the results in this study. Firstly, the measure of serve load is not a complete profile of external load, which may include total groundstrokes hit, on-court activity profile metrics (i.e. speed and distance) or off-court training (i.e. tonnage from strength training). Unfortunately, these variables were unavailable due to data collection and technological limitations. With the advent of Hawkeye technology

(142) and wearable inertial sensors (145), the ability to quantify global external load measures will become more accessible. Missing data was also apparent due to challenges with player compliance of data entry. Specifically, across the internal training load, serve load and wellbeing measures, the level of available data was 71%. However, as abovementioned, an appropriate statistical technique was utilised to combat this (165, 166). Additionally, the small dataset limited the statistical power to undertake a corresponding prediction model (197). This would have provided further insight into the specificity and sensitivity of the model and should be explored on a larger dataset. Also, as the start of the study period was aligned to the start of a calendar year, the time to injury must be considered a limitation due to a computational approach to timeframe selection. The limitation of timeframe selection may also be apparent in the load measure calculations. As only the load on day of injury as well as the rolling average of the previous 21-days were captured, the model fails to consider the relationship of alternative load timeframes in the lead up to injury which may have affected the multivariate model outcome.

#### 7.7. CONCLUSION

The combination of low serve loads, more perceived widespread body soreness, low aerobic capacity and slow COD speed are the combined factors most associated with injury in elite junior tennis players. The findings also suggest that internal load, age, sex, musculoskeletal function, national ranking and competition phase do not improve injury hazard detection in junior elite tennis players if the other variables are monitored. Therefore, this provides tennis and physical performance coaches, as well as medical staff, direction for the targeted monitoring of risk factors and the subsequent develop injury prevention and training strategies to mitigate injury risk.

# 7.8. WHAT ARE THE NEW FINDINGS?

- The aggregation of low serve counts, more body sites with perceived soreness, lower aerobic capacity and slower change of direction speed are the factors most associated with injury in a national elite junior tennis program.
- Internal training loads (sRPE) do not provide any further insights on injury hazard in elite junior tennis players when external load, measure via daily serve count, is monitored in conjunction with soreness areas, aerobic capacity and change of direction speed.
- Musculoskeletal screenings, sex, age, ranking and competition phase do not assist in understanding injury risk in elite junior tennis players when serve load, soreness areas and physical capacity are monitored collectively.

# 8. CHAPTER 8: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

#### 8.1. THESIS AIMS

This thesis investigated a more detailed epidemiological profile of elite junior and adult tennis, as well as the aetiology of injuries via univariate and multivariate analyses of risk factors. Specifically, Studies 1 and 2 provided a comprehensive account of the in-event injury epidemiology at the Australian Open Grand Slam, the pinnacle of the tennis pathway, as well as within a junior national program, which feeds that pathway. Studies 1 and 2 were needed given previous attempts to profile elite junior and adult injuries are limited in their methodological design as well as consistency and comparability of findings (9-11, 15, 36). Specifically, key factors such as injury severity and changes over time in injury incidence were missing, and exposure measure selection limited the interpretation and comparison of the findings (9-11, 15, 36). Accordingly, Studies 1 and 2 assessed these factors in both elite junior and adult cohorts to subsequently provide a more descript addition to the existing tennis injury epidemiology research. These findings also highlight the commonalities and differences between injuries across the entire elite tennis pathway which has implications for short and long-term injury prevention strategies.

While more detailed descriptions of elite tennis injuries are important, an understanding of why these injuries occur is more informative for the development of targeted and holistic injury prevention strategies. However, the current literature on injury aetiology in elite tennis is sparse (12); a gap that Studies 3 and 4 aimed to address. Specifically, Study 3 assessed the load-injury relationship in elite tennis which has not been examined in tennis previously but is well researched in many elite sports (25, 29, 148). The methodological approaches undertaken in other sports, as well as recent criticisms in the calculation and interpretation of the load-

injury relationship (30-34) were utilised to develop the aim and approach of Study 3. Subsequently, a series of univariate analyses were undertaken to determine the best internal load metric and timeframe to predict injuries in elite tennis. The findings provide alternative workload monitoring approaches to what has previously been established in other sports. Although these outcomes are insightful and practical, the assessment of internal loads in isolation may oversimplify the dynamic and complex nature of injuries (7, 8). Consequently, Study 4 aimed to build on Study 3 through a multivariate assessment of risk factors to injury in elite tennis. The risk factors explored are commonly utilised in elite sport, but are resourceladen in their administration and ongoing monitoring. Therefore, the findings from Study 4 provide holistic and pragmatic outcomes for tennis stakeholders in the selection of risk factors to quantify and monitor, as well as strategies to mitigate such risk.

# 8.2. KEY FINDINGS

#### 8.2.1. INJURY EPIDEMIOLOGY OF THE ELITE TENNIS PLAYER PATHWAY

The findings of Studies 1 and 2 highlight consistencies in the body-region injury incidence throughout the elite tennis pathway. Specifically, the lumbar spine and shoulder were commonly and most severely injured independent of player sex, competition phase, playing standard and age. Injuries to both the lumbar spine and shoulder have frequently been linked to the physical demands of the tennis serve, which require large movement and rotational forces of both body-regions (198, 199). The finding that these injuries are present throughout the elite tennis player career suggests that previous attempts to mitigate shoulder and lumbar spine injuries in elite tennis have not been successful or that these injuries are seemingly part of player development within the sport (198, 199). Regardless of the effectiveness or lack of historical injury prevention strategies, both the lumbar spine and shoulder should be integrated into all injury prevention strategies throughout the elite tennis pathway.

Additionally, these findings suggest that the technical development of the serve, as well as the management of serve loads, should be closely monitored as they may be the impetus for lumbar spine and shoulder injuries and their long-term presence in both elite junior and adult tennis (42, 182, 199).

Alternatively, the comparative findings of Studies 1 and 2 highlight that there are sex differences in injury incidence by age, playing standard and competition phase. Specifically, no injury incidence sex differences were found in the junior cohort (total of 2.7 male injuries v 2.8 female injuries per 1,000 exposure hours), but female professionals competing at the Australian Open presented with more injuries than their male counterparts (total of 201.7 female injuries v 148.6 male injuries per 10,000 game exposures). These sex-based injury incidences discrepancies across the pathway are consistent with conjecture in previous tennis injury epidemiology findings (9-11). Similarly, the severity of injuries found in Studies 1 and 2 varied. Junior male player injuries were more severe than those sustained by their female counterparts (3.6 v 1.1 days lost respectively), but there was no sex-difference in the treatment cost of injuries at the Australian Open (3.6 male v 1.1 female treatments per injury). These inconsistencies highlight that, beyond body-regions, the injury profile of elite tennis players changes throughout the course of the pathway. This is aligned to the sex-based discrepancies found in the existing body of literature (9-11, 19). Therefore, this suggests that injury incidence and severity by sex are unique to the cohort and/or may be impacted by other factors such as age. Specifically, the increase in injury incidence with age, as found in Study 2, may have confounded the sex injury incidence findings. In support, age has commonly be reported to be associated with injury in tennis and other sports (12, 14). It has been surmised that this association may be attributable to the physical growth of adolescents (68) or a rise in the volume and intensity of training and matchplay as players age (75). Regardless, the sexbased differences in elite junior and adult tennis injury incidence highlights risk groups of

players to direct the focus of injury prevention strategies. Additionally, these discrepancies suggest that tennis and physical preparation coaches, as well as medical staff working with select cohorts of elite tennis players need to explore and understand the unique sex-based injury patterns rather than rely on research which is not specific to their playing group.

The discrepancy in exposure measures selected may have also impacted on the sex differences between Studies 1 and 2. Specifically, 10,000 game exposures were utilised in Study 1 with 1,000 exposure hours adopted in Study 2. Therefore, the direct comparison of injury rates across studies is limited and fraught with potential error. The reason for the variation in exposure measures was largely owing to data availability, as well as an attempt to provide precision in the description of the training/match demands within the relevant populations. Inconsistency in exposure measure selection is common in tennis injury epidemiology literature (9, 10, 15). This is regardless of the fact that the consensus statement on epidemiological studies of medical conditions in tennis recommends the utilisation of 1,000 exposure hours to report injury rates (64). However, exposure hours overlooks the fact that external loads can vary between hours of training/matchplay (41, 44). Therefore, there is scope to improve the precision of exposure measure selection when reporting injury rates. To address this, Appendix 1 includes a supplementary discussion paper aligned to this thesis. The findings highlight that external workload measures, including distance covered and number of balls hit, are more precise in their description of match demands as compared to match duration. This outcome suggests that perhaps the recommended reporting of injuries per 1,000 exposure hour needs to be reconsidered. Whilst not an explicit aim of this thesis, the reporting of more granular and appropriate exposure measures for reporting injury incidence data is an important avenue for future research that underlies much of what is reported in the current thesis.

#### 8.2.2. ELITE TENNIS INJURY AETIOLOGY

Studies 1 and 2, as well as the supplementary study in Appendix 1, provide new descriptive insights into the injury profile of elite tennis. Yet until now, the cause of these injuries, remained unexplored in tennis. As overload is commonly reported to be a common risk of injury in elite athletes, training loads have been heavily researched for their relationship to injury (25, 29, 147). However, this insight has been missing in tennis. With this gap in mind, Study 3 explored the internal workload-injury relationship in elite tennis. Internal training loads, calculated via daily rolling averages or EWMA, irrespective of timeframe, were able to predict a high proportion of non-injuries (true negatives) in an elite national tennis program. This suggests that model selection is more important than the timeframe selection when assessing tennis injuries (true positives) including ACWR, which is frequently used in many elite sports to assess the association to injury. This is consistent with recent findings in Australian football and soccer (31, 32) suggesting that sports should formulate their own load metric selection for injury prediction rather than simply adopting metrics from other sports.

Study 3 also discovered that non-injured players had higher loads across all models as compared to injured players. This may be an artefact of non-injured players having a higher load tolerance or having greater physical capacity – both of which are speculated to reduce the risk of injury in other sports (25, 97). Thus, the Study 4 findings suggesting lower aerobic capacity and slower COD speed heighten injury risk supports this concept. However, further investigation is needed given the cohorts, risk factor selection and data-capture timeframes assessed in Studies 3 and 4 are different which prevents categorical statements of their relationship with injury. Overall, the lack of injury prediction ability in Study 3, coupled with the higher loads experienced by non-injured players suggests that internal loads assessed in isolation may oversimplify the multifactorial nature of injuries (7, 8).

Therefore, analysis of a broader set of commonly measured risk factors, inclusive of internal and external loads, was undertaken in Study 4. The findings show that aerobic capacity, COD speed, external load in the form of serve counts, as well as perceived soreness have the strongest collective association to injury. The explicit mechanism for how these risk factors interrelate is unknown but it may be that players in poor physical condition are less able to tolerate the high fitness and explosive COD demands of elite tennis (41, 173). This may cause inefficient movement patterns and/or overload which can heighten injury risk and also result in greater perceived body soreness (6, 173). The soreness itself, or the perception of greater injury risk due to soreness, may result in physiotherapists, coaches or athletes themselves selecting to reduce serve loads on the day of injury. Alternatively, players may be unable to perform more serves on day of injury due to the accumulation of physical and perceived stress from the other risk factors. Regardless of the time-sequence of events, these risk factors should be monitored and managed to mitigate the risk of injury. Study 4 also highlighted that other measured risk factors such as age, sex, competition phase, playing standard, internal loads, musculoskeletal screening measures and perceived wellbeing measures did not improve the strength of the associations. The disparate sex findings between Studies 1 and 2 may explain why sex contributed little to the multivariate model. Additionally, age may not have assisted in detecting injury risk because the timeframe of Study 4 was not long enough to capture the impact of age on injury (as discussed in Study 2).

It is also of interest that internal loads, calculated in the same way as Study 3, did not feature in the multivariate model in the Study 4 outcome. This may be an artefact of the addition of an external load measure, in this case serve loads, or the combination of multiple risk factors in Study 4 which nullified the impact of internal loads on injury risk. The explanatory power of external loads over internal loads has also been found in professional soccer players (196). Therefore, further research on the dose-response relationship in elite tennis may assist in providing greater insight. Regardless, the overall findings from Study 4 guide the selection of risk monitoring tools, question the efficacy and value of other techniques, and provide direction for injury prevention strategies.

#### **8.3.** LIMITATIONS

- There was a high level of missing data in both Studies 3 and 4. The 'real world' setting of these studies meant that the datasets were reliant on elite tennis players to input their daily training loads. These players undertake frequent international travel and also have competing interests, such as schoolwork and media commitments, which subsequently limited their data entry compliance. However, the statistical techniques to combat the missing data were robust and recommended for longitudinal study designs (166).
- The metric and time point selections in Study 4 may have impacted on the multivariate model results. Firstly, no measure of player strength was captured in the fitness testing battery which is an important physical capacity in tennis (35). Despite its potential importance, an assessment of strength in this playing group is not routinely conducted. Secondly, measures of fitness capacities and musculoskeletal screenings were only captured at baseline owing to the difficulty associated with capturing these measures more regularly. However, if measured more frequently, the outcomes of the multivariate model may have been different. Therefore, the relationship between the frequency and type of these measures and injury detection should be further explored.
- The assessment of changes over time in injury incidence in Study 2 is limited by the small dataset. This resulted in large confidence intervals and subsequent uncertainty in the interpretation of the results.
- Recurrent injuries were not included in Studies 3 and 4. As previous injury history is a risk factor for subsequent injuries (87), monitoring this may have adjusted the findings.

However, the loads experienced in the rehabilitation phase of an initial injury would have skewed the load measures resulting in an alternative limitation. Therefore, recurrent injuries and their respective loads were omitted for this reason.

- Peak height velocity was not included in Study 4 as it was not part of the anthropometry testings in the national program. As peak height velocity is a well reported injury risk (68), it may have impacted on the model outcomes.
- Only serve count was utilised as an external load measure in Study 4. Given serve count does not encapsulate a complete external load profile, a more complete representation of external load (e.g. speed and distance, total shot count) may have impacted the findings.
- The timeframes selected for the analysis of internal and external load data in Study 4 were dictated by the findings of Study 3. However, given the difference in variable selection and statistical modelling between studies, perhaps alternative timeframes should have been modelled in Study 4 to better understand the risk.
- The predictive strength of the multivariate model in Study 4 was unable to be assessed due to the small sample size limiting its statistical power.

## **8.4. PRACTICAL APPLICATIONS**

The key outcomes of this body of research provide some practical insights for tennis players, coaches and medical/physiotherapy staff. Specifically:

 Guidance for in-event medical resourcing including staffing, equipment and referrals -Based on the findings in Studies 1 and 2, decisions can be made about the number and type (i.e. specialists) of staff that need to be present on each day of a professional tennis event or in a national program. Additionally, the body-region and severity findings can highlight which injuries are likely to require more treatment and subsequently medical resourcing.

- Targeted injury prevention strategies by sex, age and body region The findings from Studies 1 and 2 suggest injury prevention programs should place greater emphasis on professional female tennis players and older junior athletes. Additionally, the lumbar spine and shoulder should be the primarily focus of region-specific injury prevention programs, coupled with the development and management of serve loads.
- Workload selection, calculation and timeframe selection for the prediction of injuries and non-injuries - The findings from Study 3 suggest that daily rolling averages or EWMA, regardless of timeframe, could be utilised to predict non-injuries in elite tennis players. Additionally, the findings suggest that the ACWR should not be utilised in elite tennis.
- The selection of injury risk factors to monitor Study 4 highlights that serve loads, perceived muscle soreness, aerobic capacity and change of direction speed should be monitored in elite tennis to determine injury risk. The findings provide guidance for the focus of on and off-court training including the monitoring of serve loads that mimic match serve loads, and the development of aerobic and COD capacities.
- Determination of risk factor efficacy and/or frequency of capture The findings from Study 4 also provides insight into which risk factors may not need to be measured in elite tennis or warrant further exploration. Specifically, given musculoskeletal screening and fitness testing are laborious, time-consuming and resource-laden, perhaps the findings from Study 4 can guide decision-making around their breadth and frequency of capture.

#### **8.5. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH**

The findings from this thesis provide numerous directions for future research which can enhance the broader understanding of what and why injuries occur in elite tennis. Specifically:

- Examination of exposure measure selection for reporting injury rates is needed to provide more precision in the description of training/match demands.
- Given the wide confidence intervals describing injury incidence changes over time in Study 2, this should be explored further with a larger dataset.
- An adaptation of the monotony and strain calculations in Study 3 should be explored to better understand their predictive relationship to injury. Specifically, calculating session-to-session monotony, instead of daily monotony, may provide a more precise indication of training variability to improve injury prediction performance.
- The relationship between higher internal workloads and injury needs to be further analysed, particularly on account of the finding in Study 3 that non-injured players presented with higher load.
- The relationship between internal and external loads in tennis can be further scrutinised given internal loads displayed some predictive performance in Study 3 but did not feature in the multivariate model Study 4, yet serve load (an external load measure) did.
- The predictive ability of multifactorial models of elite tennis injury risk factors should be explored.
- The frequency and type (i.e. test of maximum strength, power, repeated effort ability) of fitness testing and musculoskeletal screening data capture should be investigated as it relates to injury risk in elite tennis.

#### **8.6.** CONCLUSIONS

This thesis provides a detailed description of the injury epidemiology of the elite tennis pathway particularly as it relates to sex, age and region injury incidence, as well as their severity and changes over time. Specifically, sex discrepancies in injury incidence and severity were found between elite junior and adult tennis players. Yet, there was consistency in the body-regions of injury with lumbar spine and shoulder injuries common and severe throughout the pathway. Additionally, injuries were found to increase with age in a junior national tennis program. The exploration of the aetiology of elite tennis injuries undertaken in this thesis suggests that, in isolation, internal loads calculated as daily rolling averages and EWMA have some predictive ability in determining injury non-cases in elite tennis. However, no model performed well in predicting injuries including the commonly adopted ACWR. Additionally, non-injured players had higher loads compared to those who were injured. These findings suggest that the univariate investigation of the internal load-injury relationship may oversimplify the multifactorial nature of injuries. Consequently, when the aetiology of elite tennis injuries was explored via multiple risk factors, the findings suggest that serve loads, perceived soreness, aerobic capacity and COD speed should be measured in elite tennis populations to mitigate the risk of injury. Overall, this thesis adds breadth to the injury epidemiological profile of elite tennis injuries and provides novel and practical understanding and outcomes of the aetiology of these injuries.

# REFERENCES

1. Crespo M, Reid M, Miley D, Atienza F. The relationship between professional tournament structure on the national level and success in men's professional tennis. J Sci Med Sport 2003;6(1):3-13.

2. Reid M, Crespo M, Santilli L, Miley D, Dimmock J. The importance of the International Tennis Federation's junior boys' circuit in the development of professional tennis players. J Sports Sci 2007;25(6):667-672.

3. Foster C, Florhaug JA, Franklin J, Gottschall L, Hrovatin LA, Parker S, et al. A new approach to monitoring exercise training. J Strength Cond Res 2001;15(1):109-115.

4. Murphy A, Duffield R, Kellett A, Reid M. The relationship of training load to physical capacity changes during international tours in high performance junior tennis players. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 2015;10(2):253-260.

5. Fernandez-Fernandez J, Sanz-Rivas D, Mendez-Villanueva A. A review of the activity profile and physiological demands of tennis match play. Strength Cond J 2009;31(4):15-26.

6. Gescheit DT, Cormack SJ, Reid M, Duffield R. Consecutive days of prolonged tennis matchplay: Performance, physical, and perceptual responses in trained players. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 2015;10(7):913-920.

7. Meeuwisse WH. Assessing causation in sport injury: a multifactorial model. Clin J Sport Med 1994:166-170.

8. Bahr R, Holme I. Risk factors for sports injuries—a methodological approach. Br J Sports Med 2003;37(5):384-392.

9. Sell K, Hainline B, Yorio M, Kovacs M. Injury trend analysis from the US Open Tennis Championships between 1994 and 2009. Br J Sports Med 2012;48:546-551.

10. McCurdie I, Smith S, Bell PH, Batt ME. Tennis injury data from The Championships, Wimbledon, from 2003 to 2012. Br J Sports Med 2016.

11. Hjelm N, Werner S, Renstrom P. Injury profile in junior tennis players: a prospective two year study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2010;18(6):845-850.

12. Jayanthi NA, O'Boyle J, Durazo-Arvizu RA. Risk factors for medical withdrawals in United States Tennis Association Junior National tennis tournaments: a descriptive epidemiologic study. Sports Health 2009;1(3):231-235.

13. Hjelm N, Werner S, Renstrom P. Injury risk factors in junior tennis players: a prospective 2-year study. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2012;22(1):40-48.

14. Kerr ZY, Marshall SW, Dompier TP, Corlette J, Klossner DA, Gilchrist J. College sportsrelated injuries—United States, 2009-10 through 2013-14 academic years. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2015;64:1330-1336. 15. Hutchinson MR, Laprade RF, Burnett QM, Moss R, Terpstra J. Injury surveillance at the USTA Boys' Tennis Championships: a 6-yr study. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1995;27(6):826-831.

16. Winge S, Jørgensen U, Nielsen AL. Epidemiology of Injuries in Danish Championship Tennis. Int J Sports Med 1989;10(05):368-371.

17. Van Mechelen W, Hlobil H, Kemper HC. Incidence, severity, aetiology and prevention of sports injuries. Sports Med 1992;14(2):82-99.

18. Campos GE, Luecke TJ, Wendeln HK, Toma K, Hagerman FC, Murray TF, et al. Muscular adaptations in response to three different resistance-training regimens: specificity of repetition maximum training zones. Eur J Appl Physiol 2002;88(1-2):50-60.

19. Silva R, Takahashi R, Berra B, Cohen M, Matsumoto M. Medical assistance at the Brazilian juniors tennis circuit—a one-year prospective study. J Sci Med Sport 2003;6(1):14-18.

20. Young SW, Dakic J, Stroia K, Nguyen ML, Harris AH, Safran MR. Hip range of motion and association with injury in female professional tennis players. Am J Sports Med 2014;42(11):2654-2658.

21. Jayanthi N. Skill-level related injuries in recreational competitive tennis players. Med Sci Tennis 2005;10:12-15.

22. Breznik K, Batagelj V. Retired matches among male professional tennis players. J Sports Sci Med 2012;11(2):270.

23. Colby MJ, Dawson B, Peeling P, Heasman J, Rogalski B, Drew MK, et al. Multivariate modelling of subjective and objective monitoring data improve the detection of non-contact injury risk in elite Australian footballers. J Sci Med Sport 2017;20(12):1068-1074.

24. von Rosen P, Frohm A, Kottorp A, Fridén C, Heijne A. Multiple factors explain injury risk in adolescent elite athletes: Applying a biopsychosocial perspective. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2017;27(12):2059-2069.

25. Hulin BT, Gabbett TJ, Blanch P, Chapman P, Bailey D, Orchard JW. Spikes in acute workload are associated with increased injury risk in elite cricket fast bowlers. Br J Sports Med 2013;48:708-712.

26. Gabbett TJ, Ullah S, Jenkins D, Abernethy B. Skill qualities as risk factors for contact injury in professional rugby league players. J Sports Sci 2012;30(13):1421-1427.

27. Blanch P, Gabbett TJ. Has the athlete trained enough to return to play safely? The acute: chronic workload ratio permits clinicians to quantify a player's risk of subsequent injury. Br J Sports Med 2016;50:471-475.

28. Hulin BT, Gabbett TJ, Lawson DW, Caputi P, Sampson JA. The acute: chronic workload ratio predicts injury: high chronic workload may decrease injury risk in elite rugby league players. Br J Sports Med 2016;50(4):231-236.

29. Colby M, Dawson B, Heasman J, Rogalski B, Gabbett TJ. Training and game loads and injury risk in elite Australian footballers. J Strength Cond Res 2014;28(8):2244-2252.

30. Carey DL, Blanch P, Ong KL, Crossley KM, Crow J, Morris ME. Training loads and injury risk in Australian football—differing acute: chronic workload ratios influence match injury risk. Br J Sports Med 2016;50:1215-1220.

31. Carey D, Ong K, Whiteley R, Crossley K, Crow J, Morris M. Predictive modelling of training loads and injury in Australian football. Int J Comput Sci Sport 2018;17(1):49-66.

32. Fanchini M, Rampinini E, Riggio M, Coutts A, Pecci C, McCall A. Despite association, the acute:chronic work load ratio does not predict non-contact injury in elite footballers. Sci Med Football 2018;2(2):108-114.

33. Murray NB, Gabbett TJ, Townshend AD, Blanch P. Calculating acute: chronic workload ratios using exponentially weighted moving averages provides a more sensitive indicator of injury likelihood than rolling averages. Br J Sports Med 2016;51(9):749-754.

34. Lolli L, Batterham AM, Hawkins R, Kelly DM, Strudwick AJ, Thorpe R, et al. Mathematical coupling causes spurious correlation within the conventional acute-to-chronic workload ratio calculations. Br J Sports Med 2017.

35. Reid M, Schneiker K. Strength and conditioning in tennis: Current research and practice. J Sci Med Sport 2008;11(3):248-256.

36. Pluim B, Loeffen F, Clarsen B, Bahr R, Verhagen E. A one-season prospective study of injuries and illness in elite junior tennis. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2015;26:564-571.

37. International Tennis Federation. Pro Circuit Review. International Tennis Federation, 2015.

38. Murphy AP, Duffield R, Kellett A, Reid M. A Descriptive Analysis of Internal and External Loads for Elite-Level Tennis Drills. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 2014;9(5):863-870.

39. Halson SL. Monitoring training Load to understand fatigue in athletes. Sports Med 2014;44(2):139-147.

40. Kovacs MS. Applied physiology of tennis performance. Br J Sports Med 2006;40(5):381-386.

41. Fernandez J, Mendez-Villanueva A, Pluim BM. Intensity of tennis match play. Br J Sports Med 2006;40(5):387-391.

42. Myers NL, Sciascia AD, Kibler WB, Uhl TL. Volume-based interval training program for elite tennis players. Sports Health 2016;8(6):536-540.

43. Reid M, Morgan S, Whiteside D. Matchplay characteristics of Grand Slam tennis: implications for training and conditioning. J Sports Sci 2016;34(19):1791-1798.

44. Whiteside D, Reid M. External match workloads during the first week of Australian Open tennis competition. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 2017;12(6):756-763.

45. Kovacs MMS. Tennis physiology. Sports Med 2007;37(3):189-198.

46. Reid M, Duffield R. The development of fatigue during match-play tennis. Br J Sports Med 2014;48(Suppl 1):i7-i11.

47. Borg GA. Physical performance and perceived exertion. Oxford, England: Univer.Lund; 1962.

48. Chard M, Lachmann S. Racquet sports--patterns of injury presenting to a sports injury clinic. Br J Sports Med 1987;21(4):150-153.

49. Orchard JW, James T, Portus MR. Injuries to elite male cricketers in Australia over a 10year period. J Sci Med Sport 2006;9(6):459-467.

50. Miller S. Modern tennis rackets, balls, and surfaces. Br J Sports Med 2006;40(5):401-405.

51. Hennig EM. Influence of racket properties on injuries and performance in tennis. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 2007;35(2):62-66.

52. Maraga N, Duffield R, Gescheit D, Perri T, Reid M. Playing not once, not twice but three times in a day: the effect of fatigue on performance in junior tennis players. Int J Perform Anal Sport 2018;18(1):104-114.

53. Gescheit DT, Duffield R, Skein M, Brydon N, Cormack SJ, Reid M. Effects of consecutive days of match play on technical performance in tennis. J Sports Sci 2017;35(20):1988-1994.

54. Ristolainen L, Heinonen A, Waller B, Kujala UM, Kettunen JA. Gender differences in sport injury risk and types of injuries: A retrospective twelve-month study on cross-country skiers, swimmers, long-distance runners and soccer players. J Sports Sci Med 2009;8(3):443.

55. Powell JW, Dompier TP. Analysis of injury rates and treatment patterns for time-loss and non–time-loss injuries among collegiate student-athletes. J Athl Train 2004;39(1):56.

56. Maffulli N, Regine R, Carrillo F, Capasso G, Minelli S. Tennis elbow: an ultrasonographic study in tennis players. Br J Sports Med 1990;24(3):151-155.

57. Theilen T-M, Mueller-Eising W, Bettink PW, Rolle U. Injury data of major international field hockey tournaments. Br J Sports Med 2015:bjsports-2015-094847.

58. Orchard J, Wood T, Seward H, Broad A. Comparison of injuries in elite senior and junior Australian football. J Sci Med Sport 1998;1(2):83-88.

59. Gabbett TJ. Incidence of injury in junior and senior rugby league players. Sports Med 2004;34(12):849-859.

60. Abrams GD, Renstrom PA, Safran MR. Epidemiology of musculoskeletal injury in the tennis player. Br J Sports Med 2012;46(7):492-498.

61. Dines JS, Bedi A, Williams PN, Dodson CC, Ellenbecker TS, Altchek DW, et al. Tennis injuries: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and treatment. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2015;23(3):181-189.

62. Lynall RC, Kerr ZY, Djoko A, Pluim BM, Hainline B, Dompier TP. Epidemiology of National Collegiate Athletic Association men's and women's tennis injuries, 2009/2010–2014/2015. Br J Sports Med 2015:bjsports-2015-095360.

63. Baxter-Jones A, Maffulli N, Helms P. Low injury rates in elite athletes. Arch Dis Child 1993;68(1):130-132.

64. Pluim BM, Fuller CW, Batt ME, Chase L, Hainline B, Miller S, et al. Consensus statement on epidemiological studies of medical conditions in tennis, April 2009. Br J Sports Med 2009;43(12):893-897.

65. Bylak J, Hutchinson MR. Common sports injuries in young tennis players. Sports Med 1998;26(2):119-132.

66. Kovacs MS, Ellenbecker TS, Kibler WB, Roetert E, Lubbers P. Injury trends in American competitive junior tennis players. J Med Sci Tennis 2014;19(1):19-23.

67. Loko J, Aule R, Sikkut T, Ereline J, Viru A. Age differences in growth and physical abilities in trained and untrained girls 10–17 years of age. American journal of human biology 2003;15(1):72-77.

68. Van der Sluis A, Elferink-Gemser M, Brink M, Visscher C. Importance of peak height velocity timing in terms of injuries in talented soccer players. Int J Sports Med 2015;36(04):327-332.

69. Reece LA, Fricker PA, Maguire KF. Injuries of elite young tennis players at the Australian Institute of Sport. Aust J Sci Med Sport 1986;18(4):11-15.

70. Gabbe BJ, Finch CF, Bennell KL, Wajswelner H. How valid is a self reported 12 month sports injury history? Br J Sports Med 2003;37(6):545-547.

71. Smoljanovic T, Bojanic I, Hannafin JA, Hren D, Delimar D, Pecina M. Traumatic and overuse injuries among international elite junior rowers. Am J Sports Med 2009;37(6):1193-1199.

72. Estell J, Shenstone B, Barnsley L. Frequency of injuries in different age-groups in an elite rugby league club. Aust J Sci Med Sport 1995;27(4):95-97.

73. Taimela S, Kujala UM, Osterman K. Intrinsic risk factors and athletic injuries. Sports Med 1990;9(4):205-215.

74. Decloe MD, Meeuwisse WH, Hagel BE, Emery CA. Injury rates, types, mechanisms and risk factors in female youth ice hockey. Br J Sports Med 2014;48(1):1-7.

75. Perri T, Norton KI, Bellenger CR, Murphy AP. Training loads in typical junior-elite tennis training and competition: implications for transition periods in a high-performance pathway. Int J Perform Anal Sport 2018:1-12.

76. Fett J, Ulbricht A, Wiewelhove T, Ferrauti A. Athletic performance, training characteristics, and orthopedic indications in junior tennis Davis Cup players. Int J Sports Sci Coach 2017;12(1):119-129.

77. Therminarias A, Dansou P, Chirpaz-Oddou M-F, Gharib C, Quirion A. Hormonal and metabolic changes during a strenuous tennis match. Effect of ageing. Int J Sports Med 1991;12(01):10-16.

78. Faulkner JA, Larkin LM, Claflin DR, Brooks SV. Age-related changes in the structure and function of skeletal muscles. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 2007;34(11):1091-1096.

79. Van der Sluis A, Elferink-Gemser M, Coelho-e-Silva M, Nijboer J, Brink M, Visscher C. Sport injuries aligned to peak height velocity in talented pubertal soccer players. Int J Sports Med 2014;35(04):351-355.

80. Bailey D, Wedge J, McCulloch R, Martin A, Bernhardson S. Epidemiology of fractures of the distal end of the radius in children as associated with growth. J Bone Joint Surg 1989;71(8):1225-1231.

81. Blimkie C, Lefevre J, Beunen GP, Renson R, Dequeker J, Van PD. Fractures, physical activity, and growth velocity in adolescent Belgian boys. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1993;25(7):801-808.

82. Davies PL, Rose JD. Motor skills of typically developing adolescents: awkwardness or improvement? Phys Occup Ther Pediatr 2000;20(1):19-42.

83. Kucera KL, Marshall SW, Kirkendall DT, Marchak P, Garrett WE. Injury history as a risk factor for incident injury in youth soccer. Br J Sports Med 2005;39(7):462-462.

84. Stretch R. Cricket injuries: a longitudinal study of the nature of injuries to South African cricketers. Br J Sports Med 2003;37(3):250-253.

85. Hägglund M, Waldén M, Ekstrand J. Previous injury as a risk factor for injury in elite football: a prospective study over two consecutive seasons. Br J Sports Med 2006;40(9):767-772.

86. Orchard JW. Intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors for muscle strains in Australian football. Am J Sports Med 2001;29(3):300-303.

87. Orchard J, Best TM. The management of muscle strain injuries: an early return versus the risk of recurrence. Clin J Sport Med 2002;12(1):3-5.

88. Stares J, Dawson B, Peeling P, Drew M, Heasman J, Rogalski B, et al. How much is enough in rehabilitation? High running workloads following lower limb muscle injury delay return to play but protect against subsequent injury. J Sci Med Sport 2018.

89. Brown E, O'Donoghue P. Gender and surface effects on Elite Tennis strategy at Grand Slam Tournaments. ITF Coaching and Sport Science Review 2008;15(46):9-11.

90. Ellenbecker TS, Roetert EP. An isokinetic profile of trunk rotation strength in elite tennis players. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2004;36(11):1959-1963.

91. Ulbricht A, Fernandez-Fernandez J, Ferrauti A. Conception for Fitness Testing and individualized training programs in the German Tennis Federation. Sports Orthop Traumatol 2013;29(3):180-192.

92. Fernandez-Fernandez J, Ulbricht A, Ferrauti A. Fitness testing of tennis players: How valuable is it? Br J Sports Med 2014;48(Suppl 1):i22-i31.

93. Baiget E, Iglesias X, Rodríguez F. Aerobic fitness and technical efficiency at high intensity discriminate between elite and subelite tennis players. Int J Sports Med 2016;37(11):848-854.

94. Draper J. The 505 test: A test for agility in horizontal plane. Aust J Sci Med Sport 1985;17(1):15-18.

95. Leger LA, Lambert J. A maximal multistage 20-m shuttle run test to predict VO2 max. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1982;49(1):1-12.

96. Malone S, Owen A, Mendes B, Hughes B, Collins K, Gabbett TJ. High-speed running and sprinting as an injury risk factor in soccer: Can well-developed physical qualities reduce the risk? J Sci Med Sport 2018;21(3):257-262.

97. Chalmers S, Magarey ME, Esterman A, Speechley M, Scase E, Heynen M. The relationship between pre-season fitness testing and injury in elite junior Australian football players. J Sci Med Sport 2013;16(4):307-311.

98. Twitchett E, Brodrick A, Nevill AM, Koutedakis Y, Angioi M, Wyon M. Does physical fitness affect injury occurrence and time loss due to injury in elite vocational ballet students? J Dance Med Sci 2010;14(1):26-31.

99. Armstrong R. Initial events in exercise-induced muscular injury. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1990;22(4):429-435.

100. Dennis RJ, Finch CF, Elliott BC, Farhart PJ. The reliability of musculoskeletal screening tests used in cricket. Phys Ther Sport 2008;9(1):25-33.

101. Cools AM, Cambier D, Witvrouw EE. Screening the athlete's shoulder for impingement symptoms: a clinical reasoning algorithm for early detection of shoulder pathology. Br J Sports Med 2008;42(8):628-635.

102. Tennis Australia. Tennis Australia Musculoskeletal Screening Description of Tests. Melbourne, Australia: Tennis Australia, 2011.

103. Hayen A, Dennis RJ, Finch CF. Determining the intra-and inter-observer reliability of screening tools used in sports injury research. J Sci Med Sport 2007;10(4):201-210.

104. Bahr R. Why screening tests to predict injury do not work—and probably never will...: a critical review. Br J Sports Med 2016:bjsports-2016-096256.

105. Letafatkar A, Hadadnezhad M, Shojaedin S, Mohamadi E. Relationship between functional movement screening score and history of injury. Int J Sports Phys Ther 2014;9(1):21.

106. Chorba RS, Chorba DJ, Bouillon LE, Overmyer CA, Landis JA. Use of a functional movement screening tool to determine injury risk in female collegiate athletes. N Am J Sports Phys Ther 2010;5(2):47.

107. Donatelli R, Ellenbecker TS, Ekedahl SR, Wilkes JS, Kocher K, Adam J. Assessment of shoulder strength in professional baseball pitchers. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2000;30(9):544-551.

108. Warren M, Smith CA, Chimera NJ. Association of Functional Movement Screen with injuries in division 1 athletes. J Sport Rehabil 2014;24:163-170.

109. Wiese BW, Boone JK, Mattacola CG, McKeon PO, Uhl TL. Determination of the Functional Movement Screen to predict musculoskeletal injury in intercollegiate athletics. Athl Train Sports Health Care 2014;6(4):161.

110. Ellenbecker T, Roetert E. Age specific isokinetic glenohumeral internal and external rotation strength in elite junior tennis players. J Sci Med Sport 2003;6(1):63-70.

111. Maffulli N, Baxter-Jones A, Grieve A. Long term sport involvement and sport injury rate in elite young athletes. Arch Dis Child 2005;90(5):525-527.

112. Kolt GS, Kirkby RJ. Epidemiology of injury in elite and subelite female gymnasts: a comparison of retrospective and prospective findings. Br J Sports Med 1999;33(5):312-318.

113. Borresen J, Lambert MI. The quantification of training load, the training response and the effect on performance. Sports Med 2009;39(9):779-795.

114. Gallo TF, Cormack SJ, Gabbett TJ, Lorenzen CH. Pre-training perceived wellness impacts training output in Australian football players. J Sports Sci 2016;34(15):1445-1451.

115. Grove JR, Main LC, Sharp L. Stressors, recovery processes, and manifestations of training distress in dance. J Dance Med Sci 2012;17(2):70-78.

116. Kellmann M, Kallus KW. Recovery-stress questionnaire for athletes: User manual: Human Kinetics; 2001.

117. McNair DM. Manual profile of mood states: Educational & Industrial testing service; 1971.

118. Brink MS, Visscher C, Arends S, Zwerver J, Post WJ, Lemmink KA. Monitoring stress and recovery: new insights for the prevention of injuries and illnesses in elite youth soccer players. Br J Sports Med 2010;44(11):809-815.

119. Ivarsson A, Johnson U, Podlog L. Psychological predictors of injury occurrence: a prospective investigation of professional Swedish soccer players. J Sport Rehabil 2013;22(1):19-26.

120. McLean BD, Coutts AJ, Kelly V, McGuigan MR, Cormack SJ. Neuromuscular, endocrine, and perceptual fatigue responses during different length between-match microcycles in professional rugby league players. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 2010;5(3):367-383.

121. Kleinert J. Mood states and perceived physical states as short term predictors of sport injuries: Two prospective studies. Int J Sport Exerc Psychol 2007;5(4):340-351.

122. Moen F, Myhre K, Sandbakk Ø, Moen F. Psychological determinants of burnout, illness and injury among elite junior athletes. Sport J 2016;19:1-14.

123. Laux P, Krumm B, Diers M, Flor H. Recovery–stress balance and injury risk in professional football players: a prospective study. J Sports Sci 2015;33(20):2140-2148.

124. Kinchington M, Ball K, Naughton G. Monitoring of lower limb comfort and injury in elite football. J Sports Sci Med 2010;9(4):652-663.

125. Thrower SN, Harwood CG, Spray CM. Educating and supporting tennis parents: A grounded theory of parents' needs during childhood and early adolescence. Sport Exerc Perform Psychol 2016;5(2):107.

126. Bahr R, Krosshaug T. Understanding injury mechanisms: a key component of preventing injuries in sport. Br J Sports Med 2005;39(6):324-329.

127. Murphy A, Duffield R, Kellett A, Gescheit D, Reid M. The effect of pre-departure training loads on post-tour physical capacities in high-performance junior tennis players. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 2015;10(8):986-993.

128. Bijleveld E, Veling H. Separating Chokers From Nonchokers: Predicting Real-Life Tennis Performance Under Pressure From Behavioral Tasks That Tap Into Working Memory Functioning. Journal of sport & exercise psychology 2014;36(4):347-356.

129. Okholm Kryger K, Dor F, Guillaume M, Haida A, Noirez P, Montalvan B, et al. Medical reasons behind player departures from male and female professional tennis competitions. Am J Sports Med 2015;43(1):34-40.

130. Nigg B, Segesser B. The influence of playing surfaces on the load on the locomotor system and on football and tennis injuries. Sports Med 1988;5(6):375-385.

131. Damm LC, Low D, Richardson A, Clarke J, Carré M, Dixon S. The effects of surface traction characteristics on frictional demand and kinematics in tennis. Sports Biomech 2013;12(4):389-402.

132. Girard O, Eicher F, Fourchet F, Micallef J-P, Millet GP. Effects of the playing surface on plantar pressures and potential injuries in tennis. Br J Sports Med 2007;41(11):733-738.

133. Martin C, Thevenet D, Zouhal H, Mornet Y, Delès R, Crestel T, et al. Effects of playing surface (hard and clay courts) on heart rate and blood lactate during tennis matches played by high-level players. J Strength Cond Res 2011;25(1):163-170.

134. Hornery DJ, Farrow D, Mujika I, Young W. An integrated physiological and performance profile of professional tennis. Br J Sports Med 2007;41(8):531-536.

135. Duffield R, Bird SP, Ballard RJ. Field-based pre-cooling for on-court tennis conditioning training in the heat. J Sports Sci Med 2011;10(2):376-384.

136. Smith MT, Reid M, Kovalchik S, Woods TO, Duffield R. Heat stress incident prevalence and tennis matchplay performance at the Australian Open. J Sci Med Sport 2018;21(5):467-472.

137. Périard JD, Bergeron MF. Competitive match-play tennis under heat stress: a challenge for all players. Br J Sports Med 2014;48(Suppl 1):i1-i3.

138. Périard JD, Racinais S, Knez WL, Herrera CP, Christian RJ, Girard O. Coping with heat stress during match-play tennis: Does an individualised hydration regimen enhance performance and recovery? Br J Sports Med 2014;48(Suppl 1):i64-i70.

139. Périard JD, Girard O, Racinais S. Neuromuscular adjustments of the knee extensors and plantar flexors following match-play tennis in the heat. Br J Sports Med 2014;48(Suppl 1):i45-i51.

140. Girard O, Racinais S, Périard JD. Tennis in hot and cool conditions decreases the rapid muscle torque production capacity of the knee extensors but not of the plantar flexors. Br J Sports Med 2014;48(Suppl 1):i52-i58.

141. Girard O, Christian RJ, Racinais S, Périard JD. Heat stress does not exacerbate tennisinduced alterations in physical performance. Br J Sports Med 2014;48(Suppl 1):i39-i44.

142. Baodong Y. Hawkeye technology using tennis match. Comput Mod New Tech 2014;18(12c):400-402.

143. Soligard T, Schwellnus M, Alonso J-M, Bahr R, Clarsen B, Dijkstra HP, et al. How much is too much?(Part 1) International Olympic Committee consensus statement on load in sport and risk of injury. Br J Sports Med 2016;50(17):1030-1041.

144. Bowen L, Gross AS, Gimpel M, Li F-X. Accumulated workloads and the acute: chronic workload ratio relate to injury risk in elite youth football players. Br J Sports Med 2016:bjsports-2015-095820.

145. Whiteside D, Cant O, Connolly M, Reid M. Monitoring hitting load in tennis using inertial sensors and machine learning. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 2017;12(9):1212-1217.

146. Kibler WB, Sciascia A, Moore S. An acute throwing episode decreases shoulder internal rotation. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2012;470(6):1545-1551.

147. Gabbett TJ, Jenkins DG. Relationship between training load and injury in professional rugby league players. J Sci Med Sport 2011;14(3):204-209.

148. Gabbett TJ, Domrow N. Relationships between training load, injury, and fitness in subelite collision sport athletes. J Sports Sci 2007;25(13):1507-1519.

149. Orchard J, Newman D, Stretch R, Frost W, Mansingh A, Leipus A. Methods for injury surveillance in international cricket. Br J Sports Med 2005;17(2):18-28.

150. Killen NM, Gabbett TJ, Jenkins DG. Training loads and incidence of injury during the preseason in professional rugby league players. J Strength Cond Res 2010;24(8):2079-2084.

151. Banister E, Calvert T, Savage M, Bach T. A systems model of training for athletic performance. Aust J Sports Med 1975;7(3):57-61.

152. Cross MJ, Williams S, Trewartha G, Kemp SP, Stokes KA. The influence of in-season training loads on injury risk in professional rugby union. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 2016;11(3):350-355.

153. Windt J, Gabbett TJ. How do training and competition workloads relate to injury? The workload—injury aetiology model. Br J Sports Med 2017;51(5):428-435.

154. Hunter JS. The exponentially weighted moving average. J Qual Technol 1986;18(4):203-210.

155. Foster C. Monitoring training in athletes with reference to overtraining syndrome. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1998;30:1164-1168.

156. Shmueli G. To explain or to predict? Stat Sci 2010;25(3):289-310.

157. Pepe MS, Janes H, Longton G, Leisenring W, Newcomb P. Limitations of the odds ratio in gauging the performance of a diagnostic, prognostic, or screening marker. Am J Epidemiol 2004;159(9):882-890.

158. Meeuwisse WH, Tyreman H, Hagel B, Emery C. A dynamic model of etiology in sport injury: the recursive nature of risk and causation. Clin J Sport Med 2007;17(3):215-219.

159. Rae K, Orchard J. The orchard sports injury classification system (OSICS) version 10. Clin J Sport Med 2007;17(3):201-204.

160. Meeuwisse WH, Wiley JP. The sport medicine diagnostic coding system. Clin J Sport Med 2007;17(3):205-207.

161. White E, Armstrong BK, Saracci R. Principles of exposure measurement in epidemiology: collecting, evaluating and improving measures of disease risk factors: OUP Oxford; 2008.

162. Magnus JR, Klaassen FJ. On the advantage of serving first in a tennis set: four years at Wimbledon. J R Stat Soc 1999;48(2):247-256.

163. Fuller CW, Ekstrand J, Junge A, Andersen TE, Bahr R, Dvorak J, et al. Consensus statement on injury definitions and data collection procedures in studies of football (soccer) injuries. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2006;16(2):83-92.

164. Timpka T, Jacobsson J, Bickenbach J, Finch CF, Ekberg J, Nordenfelt L. What is a sports injury? Sports Med 2014;44(4):423-428.

165. Honaker J, King G, Blackwell M. Amelia II: A program for missing data. J Stat Softw 2011;45(7):1-47.

166. Allison PD. Multiple imputation for missing data: A cautionary tale. Sociol Methods Res 2000;28(3):301-309.

167. Altman DG, Bland JM. Diagnostic tests 3: receiver operating characteristic plots. BMJ 1994;309(6948):188.

168. Hopkins W, Marshall S, Batterham A, Hanin J. Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2009;41(1):3.

169. Dennis R, Farhart R, Goumas C, Orchard J. Bowling workload and the risk of injury in elite cricket fast bowlers. J Sci Med Sport 2003;6(3):359-367.

170. Atkinson T. The stability and validity of quality of life measures. Soc Indic Res 1982;10(2):113-132.

171. Cox D. Regression models and life tables. J R Stat Soc 1972;34:187-202.

172. Berry WD, Berry WD, Feldman S, Stanley Feldman D. Multiple regression in practice: Sage; 1985.

173. Kovacs MS. Movement for tennis: The importance of lateral training. Strength Cond J 2009;31(4):77-85.

174. Paserman MD. Gender differences in performance in competitive environments: evidence from professional tennis players. IZA Discussion Papers, 2007.

175. Barnett T, Pollard G. How the tennis court surface affects player performance and injuries. J Med Sci Tennis 2007 2007;12(1):34-37.

176. Maquirriain J, Ghisi J. The incidence and distribution of stress fractures in elite tennis players. Br J Sports Med 2006;40(5):454-459.

177. Chow JW, Park S-A, Tillman MD. Lower trunk kinematics and muscle activity during different types of tennis serves. BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil 2009;1(1):24.

178. Eygendaal D, Rahussen FTG, Diercks R. Biomechanics of the elbow joint in tennis players and relation to pathology. Br J Sports Med 2007;41(11):820-823.

179. Van der Hoeven H, Kibler WB. Shoulder injuries in tennis players. Br J Sports Med 2006;40(5):435-440.

180. Hennekens CH, Buring JE, Mayrent SL. Epidemiology in medicine: Boston: Little Brown and Company; 1987.

181. Gescheit DT, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Wood TO, Omizzolo M, et al. Injury epidemiology of tennis players at the 2011–2016 Australian Open Grand Slam. Br J Sports Med 2017;51(17):1289-1294.

182. Campbell A, Straker L, O'Sullivan P, Elliott B, Reid M. Lumbar loading in the elite adolescent tennis serve: link to low back pain. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2013;45(8):1562-1568.

183. Fernandez-Fernandez J, Sanz-Rivas D, Fernandez-Garcia B, Mendez-Villanueva A. Match activity and physiological load during a clay-court tennis tournament in elite female players. J Sports Sci 2008;26(14):1589-1595.

184. Campbell A, Straker L, Whiteside D, O'Sullivan P, Elliott B, Reid M. Lumbar mechanics in tennis groundstrokes: differences in elite adolescent players with and without low back pain. J Appl Biomech 2016;32(1):32-39.

185. International Tennis Federation. Juniors tournament calendar 2017 [Available from: http://www.itftennis.com/juniors/tournaments/calendar.aspx.

186. Pieper S, Exler T, Weber K. Running speed loads on clay and hard courts in world class tennis. Med Sci Tennis 2007;12(2):14-17.

187. Reid M, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Crespo M, Pluim B, et al. Improving the reporting of tennis injuries: the use of workload data as the denominator? Br J Sports Med 2018:bjsports-2017-098625.

188. Tomczak M, Tomczak E, Kleka P, Lew R. Using power analysis to estimate appropriate sample size. Trends in Sport Sci 2014;21(4).

189. Rogalski B, Dawson B, Heasman J, Gabbett TJ. Training and game loads and injury risk in elite Australian footballers. J Sci Med Sport 2013;16(6):499-503.

190. Rizi RM, Yeung SS, Stewart NJ, Yeung EW. Risk factors that predict severe injuries in university rugby sevens players. J Sci Med Sport 2017;20(7):648-652.

191. Reid M, Elliott B, Alderson J. Lower-limb coordination and shoulder joint mechanics in the tennis serve. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2008;40(2):308-315.

192. Lyman S, Fleisig GS, Waterbor JW, Funkhouser EM, Pulley L, Andrews JR, et al. Longitudinal study of elbow and shoulder pain in youth baseball pitchers. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001;33(11):1803-1810.

193. Wheeler K, Kefford T, Mosler A, Lebedew A, Lyons K. The volume of goal shooting during training can predict shoulder soreness in elite female water polo players. J Sci Med Sport 2013;16(3):255-258.

194. Fowles JR. Technical issues in quantifying low-frequency fatigue in athletes. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 2006;1(2):169-171.

195. Parsons LS, Jones MT. Development of speed, agility, and quickness for tennis athletes. Strength Cond J 1998;20(3):14-19.

196. Jaspers A, Kuyvenhoven JP, Staes F, Frencken WG, Helsen WF, Brink MS. Examination of the external and internal load indicators' association with overuse injuries in professional soccer players. J Sci Med Sport 2018;21(6):579-585.

197. Cohen J. A power primer. In: Kazdin AE, Kazdin AE, editors. Methodological issues and strategies in clinical research (4th ed). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association; 1992,279-284.

198. Campbell A, O'sullivan P, Straker L, Elliott B, Reid M. Back pain in tennis players: a link with lumbar serve kinematics and range of motion. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2014;46(2):351-357.

199. Reid M, Elliott B, Alderson J. Shoulder joint loading in the high performance flat and kick tennis serves. Br J Sports Med 2007;41(12):884-889.
200. Kibler WB, Safran M. Tennis injuries. Epidemiology of pediatric sports injuries. 48: Karger Publishers; 2005,120-137.

201. Kibler W. The 4000-watt tennis player: Power development for tennis. Med Sci Tennis 2009;14(1):5-8.

## **APPENDIX I: SUPPLEMENTARY DISCUSSION PAPER -IMPROVING THE REPORTING OF TENNIS INJURIES: THE USE OF TIME OR WORKLOAD DATA AS THE DENOMINATOR?**

### **Publication statement:**

This appendix is comprised of the following Discussion paper published in the *British Journal of Sports Medicine* which is a supplementary paper to this thesis.

Reid M, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Crespo M, Pluim B, **Gescheit DT**. Improving the reporting of tennis injuries: the use of workload data as the denominator? Br J Sports Med, doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-098625.

Advances in technology have changed the way that we understand and consume sports performance. From an injury epidemiology perspective, the data generated from these technologies - particularly those related to player exposure or load - can also provide cause to reconsider accepted norms of how to report injury data. Using tennis as a case study, we highlight the opportunity for these new data to provide richer and more meaningful injury insights.

Historically, epidemiology researchers have identified bespoke units of measurement to express each sport's injury narrative. In 2009, respected industry professionals suggested that tennis injuries be reported per 1,000 player hours rather than athletic exposures (such as 1,000 matches) due to large variations in the time component of such exposures (64). This goes some way to addressing the lack of uniformity in tennis injury data, which McCurdie et al. (2016) have identified as the most significant challenge to understanding injury in elite tennis. However, given the streams of data now available, it seems timely to revisit whether this recommended choice of exposure remains as pertinent as it once was?

Gescheit et al. (2017) recently highlighted how the choice of exposure can influence study conclusions. For example, when comparing female muscle injury rates using game exposures (strongly correlated to match duration) versus set exposures at the Australian Open between 2011-16, they found 14% variation in the number of reported injuries over time. This finding, as with the initial recommendation from Pluim et al. (2009), support the selection of an exposure measure that represents the smallest common unit of matchplay, which may vary depending on the population of interest (professional vs junior) and technology accessible (Hawkeye vs match clock). Furthermore, given that the injuries sustained in tennis are a direct result of the mechanical loads imposed on the musculoskeletal system (200, 201), it seems

219

intuitive to consider different denominators in determining the rate of injury for different parts of the body. For example, some measure of ball striking should logically feature in an upperlimb/body exposure and distance run might be a more appropriate exposure measure for the lower-limb.

We analysed a subset of the data and aligned it with real-time multi-camera ball and player tracking (HawkEye data) from the corresponding professional tennis matches. The subset included absolute injury counts, while the HawkEye data included hitting volumes (the number of serves, groundstrokes and volleys played by both players), movement distances (the combined distance traversed by both players when the ball was in play) and durations (match time). A linear model was fit to each 2-way combination of exposure measures (duration-hitting volume, duration-distance, distance-hitting volume) and we examined the choice of exposure related to the strength of association (explained by variation from the  $r^2$  statistic in a linear regression) (Figure 17 and Table 23).



Figure 17: Scatterplot representation of the association between match duration, hitting count and distance in elite tennis matches

*Table 23: Description of the strength of the associations between elite tennis match duration, hitting count and duration* 

Match variable 1	Match variable 2	r <sup>2</sup>	$\sigma^2$
Match distance	Total shots	0.93	60.21
Match duration	Total shots	0.37	37.51
Match duration	Match distance	0.30	39.61

Match duration was only moderately related to hitting volume ( $r^2 = 0.37$ ) and match distance ( $r^2 = 0.30$ ), with only 37% and 30% of the respective variance explained. This questions the use of match duration as the gold standard measure of injury exposure at the professional level. Indeed, while match duration may hold some value in comparing gross injury trends between populations or represent the most pragmatic injury exposure measure for many junior or recreational tennis populations (where technology is constrained), it has limited utility in describing injury relative to the physical demands of professional tennis.

There was a much stronger association between match distance and hitting volume, our proxies for lower and upper-limb load. We believe that this can be interpreted in two ways. First, it might be that the lower and upper limb load in tennis are strongly correlated. Second, it may be that neither exposure measure adequately captures the intensity of the movement or stroke, which logically relates to joint loading and deserves further enquiry. Either way, these points reinforce the importance of selecting an exposure measure (denominator) based on the numerator of interest, which in our view, is often overlooked or oversimplified in tennis research. Although not something that we have entertained here, taken further, the type (joint v muscular) or mechanism (acute v chronic) of injury may even influence the denominator chosen.

So, how should tennis researchers report injury in the future? Fundamentally, the choice of exposure method needs to be tailored to the research question of interest, the population and technology available. To that end, our work here shows that the current norm of reporting injury rates relative to match time provides limited insight and should be reconsidered at the professional level. New workload data are promising in this regard as they may serve as denominators to more precisely inform the tennis injury debate.

## **APPENDIX II: RESEARCH PORTFOLIO**

### **Publications**

Gescheit DT, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Wood TO, Omizzolo M, Reid M.
 Injury epidemiology of tennis players at the 2011–2016 Australian Open Grand Slam. Br J
 Sports Med 2017;51(17):1289-1294.

Please view the published version online at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2016-097283

*Contribution statement:* DG was primarily responsible for the design, data collection and analysis, and overall management of this project. All authors were involved in the concept and design of the study and preparation of the manuscript.

Approximate percentage contributions – D. Gescheit 75%, S. Cormack 5%, R. Duffield 5%, S. Kovalchik 5%, T. Wood 2.5%, M. Omizzolo 2.5%, M. Reid 5%.

I acknowledge that my contribution to the above publication is 75%:

Renheis

Danielle Gescheit

As principal supervisor, I certify that the above contributions are true and correct:

annal

Stuart Cormack

Date 28/08/2018

Co-author signatures:

Rob Duffield

Explane walder

Stephanie Kovalchik

Tim Wood

ufeleni &

Melanie Omizzolo

r

Machar Reid

Date 28/08/2018

Date 28/08/2018

Date 28/08/2018

Date 28/08/2018

2. **Gescheit DT**, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Wood TO, Omizzolo M, Reid M. A multi-year injury epidemiology analysis of an elite national junior tennis program. J Sci Med Sport 2018; In Press.

Please view the published version online at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2018.06.006

*Contribution statement:* DG was primarily responsible for the design, data collection and analysis, and overall management of this project. All authors were involved in the concept and design of the study and preparation of the manuscript.

Approximate percentage contributions – D. Gescheit 75%, S. Cormack 5%, R. Duffield 5%, S. Kovalchik 5%, T. Wood 2.5%, M. Omizzolo 2.5%, M. Reid 5%.

I acknowledge that my contribution to the above publication is 75%:

Renheis

Danielle Gescheit

Date 28/08/2018

As principal supervisor, I certify that the above contributions are true and correct:

the Cornel

Stuart Cormack

Co-author signatures:

Rob Duffield

Stephinefunddul

Stephanie Kovalchik

Tim Wood

ufelerii De

Melanie Omizzolo

Machar Reid

Date 28/08/2018

Date 28/08/2018

Date 28/08/2018

Date 28/08/2018

3. **Gescheit DT**, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Reid M. Predictive modelling of injury in tennis: determining the best internal workload calculation and timeframe. Br J Sports Med, **Under Final (minor) Review.** 

*Contribution statement:* DG was primarily responsible for the design, data collection and analysis, and overall management of this project. All authors were involved in the concept and design of the study and preparation of the manuscript.

Approximate percentage contributions – D. Gescheit 80%, S. Cormack 5%, R. Duffield 5%, S. Kovalchik 5%, M. Reid 5%.

I acknowledge that my contribution to the above publication is 80%:

Rouhes

Danielle Gescheit

Date 28/08/2018

As principal supervisor, I certify that the above contributions are true and correct:

Stuad Cornal

Stuart Cormack

Co-author signatures:

Rob Duffield

Stephene wilder

Stephanie Kovalchik

Date 28/08/2018

r

Machar Reid

Date 28/08/2018

4. **Gescheit DT**, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Kemp J, Reid M. Multivariate modelling of intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors to injury in elite junior tennis players. Br J Sports Med, **Under Review.** 

*Contribution statement:* DG was primarily responsible for the design, data collection and analysis, and overall management of this project. All authors were involved in the concept and design of the study and preparation of the manuscript.

Approximate percentage contributions – D. Gescheit 75%, S. Cormack 5%, R. Duffield 5%, S. Kovalchik 5%, J. Kemp 5%, M. Reid 5%.

I acknowledge that my contribution to the above publication is 75%:

Renheis

Danielle Gescheit

Date 28/08/2018

As principal supervisor, I certify that the above contributions are true and correct:

Stund Cormail

Stuart Cormack

Co-author signatures:

Rob Duffield

Lephanefouldul

Stephanie Kovalchik

Julikemp

Justin Kemp

٢

Machar Reid

Date 28/08/2018

Date 28/08/2018

Date 28/08/2018

5. Reid M, Cormack SJ, Duffield R, Kovalchik S, Crespo M, Pluim B, Gescheit DT. Improving the reporting of tennis injuries: the use of workload data as the denominator? Br J Sports Med, bjsports-2017.

Please view the published version online at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-098625

*Contribution statement:* MR, DG and SK were primarily responsible for the design, data collection and analysis, and overall management of this project. All authors were involved in the concept and design of the study and preparation of the manuscript.

Approximate percentage contributions – M. Reid 40%, S. Cormack 2.5%, R. Duffield 2.5%, S. Kovalchik 10%, M. Crespo 2.5%, B. Pluim 2.5%, D. Gescheit 40%

I acknowledge that my contribution to the above publication is 40%:

Renhees

Danielle Gescheit

Date 28/08/2018

As principal supervisor, I certify that the above contributions are true and correct:

Stuar Commail

Stuart Cormack

Co-author signatures:

٢

Machar Reid

MAU.

Rob Duffield

Lephane muldul

Stephanie Kovalchik

alyw wet

Miguel Crespo

Babette Pluim

Date 28/08/2018

Date 28/08/2018

Date 28/08/2018

Date 28/08/2018

## **APPENDIX III: ETHICS APPROVAL NUMBERS**

Study 1 - ACU Human Ethics Committee Approval Number: 2015-200N

Study 2 - ACU Human Ethics Committee Approval Number: 2015-196N

Study 3 - ACU Human Ethics Committee Approval Number: 2015-198N

Study 4 - ACU Human Ethics Committee Approval Number: 2015-192E

## **APPENDIX IV: PARTICIPANT CONTRACT AND CONSENT**

## FORM

### Your Agreement to the Conditions of this Letter of Support

By signing below you confirm that you understand and agree with all obligations and terms contained in this Letter of Support and the Tennis Australia 2018 Standard Athlete Terms and Conditions including:

- 1. General Obligations
- 2. Anti- Doping Obligations
- 3. Tennis Integrity Obligations
- 4. Consent to treat you and store your Medical Records
- 5. Consent to use your Image Rights
- 6. Release and Indemnity
- 7. Confidentiality Obligations
- 8. Personal Information

A true and correct PDF signed copy of this Letter of Support may be used in place of the original for any purpose.

### Signed by the Athlete:

(Athlete's signature)

(Name of Athlete)

Date

### For Athletes under 18 only

As **Parent/Guardian of the Athlete** you acknowledge and agree to the terms of the Agreement on behalf of the Athlete (including the provision of consents and releases). You also agree to comply with and be bound by all Tennis Australia policies and understand that if you breach any of those policies and/or do anything which has the potential to bring the sport of tennis in Australia into disrepute TA may vary or remove the support provided to the Athlete under this Agreement.

(Parent/Guardian's signature)

(Name of Parent/Guardian)

Date

### Annexure A

### Tennis Australia 2017 Standard Athlete Terms and Conditions

Tennis Australia Limited ABN 61 006 281 125 (**TA**) is delighted to offer you (the **Athlete**) the benefits set out in your Letter of Support from 1 December 2017 - 31 December 2018 (**Term**) on the terms and conditions set out in your Letter of Support and in these Tennis Australia 2018 Standard Athlete Terms and Conditions (together the '**Agreement**').

### 1. General obligations

- 1.1 You must:
  - (a) comply with the terms of this Agreement and all TA and ITF policies, procedures, By-Laws, guidelines, rules and regulations, including the Anti-Doping Policy, Medication and Needles Policy, Supplements and Sports Food Policy, Member Protection Policy, Disciplinary Policy, Code of Behaviour, Tournaments & Competitions, Social Media Policy and other policies of which you are advised by TA;
  - (b) not at any time be convicted of, or charged with, any serious offence involving violence, alcohol or drugs, or any sex offence, or any offence which is punishable by imprisonment;
  - advise TA of any injury you may have prior to entering into this Agreement or injury you sustain during the Term;
  - (d) use TA preferred providers for health services unless otherwise agreed with TA;
  - subject to (f) below, advise TA after seeking treatment from any third party health service provider, including relevant details of any such treatment and/or medications;
  - (f) provide TA with prior notice before seeking treatment from any third party health service provider in the case of musculoskeletal issues, and thereafter provide TA with the relevant details of any such treatment and/or medication;
  - be available for medical/physiotherapy screenings, physical testing, technical analysis and other research activities as requested by TA;
  - (h) seek TA's consent prior to bringing any third parties (including, but not limited to, external coaching staff and third party allied health service providers) onto TAs premises to use National Academy facilities;
  - upon request by TA, complete surveys and/or participate in research administered or approved by TA, provided that you can withdraw that consent at any time in relation to any particular survey or research activity;
  - take out and maintain, at your cost, top level private hospital and ancillary health insurance and ambulance cover at all times and provide a copy to TA of such insurance; and
  - (k) advise TA of any existing management, sponsorship or other endorsement contracts to which you are a party at the time of executing this Agreement, or which you enter into during the Term.

### 2. Anti-Doping Obligations

2.1 You agree:

- that you are bound by and will comply with TA's Anti-Doping Policy (available at <u>www.tennis.com.au/doc/tennis-australia-anti-doping-policy</u>), the ITF Anti-Doping Policy, and the World Anti-Doping Code;
- to truthfully make any statutory declarations regarding anti-doping matters as required by TA from time to time;
- to achieve results of any medical assessment and testing requested by TA to the complete satisfaction of TA; and
- (d) to be available for sample collection and provide accurate and up to date whereabouts information on a regular basis to TA or directly to the ITF pursuant to the World Anti-Doping Code.
- 2.2 For the purposes of determining whether or not you have committed a violation of TA's Anti-Doping Policy you authorise TA and ASADA and their authorised officers to, during the Term of this Agreement:
  - (a) search such bags and other items that you have in your possession whilst on TA property and at all TA training and competition venues;
  - (b) search your clothing and person; and
  - (c) take and retain any substance or evidence of a potential violation of TA's Anti-Doping Policy that they may discover as a result of such search and which they believe or suspect to be a substance or method prohibited under the World Anti-Doping Code.
- 2.3 You agree to fully co-operate and assist TA and ASADA, including by attending an interview and truthfully answer questions; provide information; and produce documents for any investigation being conducted by TA and ASADA, even if to do so may tend to incriminate you or expose you to a penalty, sanction or other disciplinary measure. Your obligations under this

clause continue notwithstanding the conclusion or termination of this Agreement, to the extent that an investigation involves matters existing during the Term of this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement negates or detracts from your obligations, responsibilities and liability

2.4 Nothing in this Agreement negates or detracts from your obligations, responsibilities under TA's Anti-Doping Policy.

### 3. Tennis Integrity Obligations

- 3.1 You agree to comply with all the provisions of the Tennis Anti-Corruption Program (a copy of which is included in the 2017 Official Grand Slam® Rule Book) including but not limited to adhering to the prohibitions on gambling and betting and reporting any knowledge or suspicion of such behaviour to the Tennis Integrity Unit as soon as possible.
  3.2 For the purposes of determining whether or not you have committed a violation of the Tennis
- 3.2 For the purposes of determining whether or not you have committed a violation of the Tennis Anti-Corruption Program you authorise TA, the Tennis Integrity Unit and their authorised officers to, during the Term of this Agreement:
  - search such bags and other items that you have in your possession whilst on TA property and at all TA training and competition venues;
  - (b) search your clothing and person; and
  - (c) take and retain any evidence of a potential violation of the Uniform Tennis Anti-Corruption Program that they may discover as a result of such search (including, without limitation, itemized telephone billing statements, text of SMS messages sent and received, banking statements, Internet service records, computers, hard drives and other electronic information storage devices).
- 3.3 You agree to fully co-operate and assist TA and the Tennis Integrity Unit, including by attending an interview and truthfully answer questions; provide information; and produce documents for any investigation being conducted by TA and/or the Tennis Integrity Unit, even if to do so may tend to incriminate you or expose you to a penalty, sanction or other disciplinary measure. Your obligations under this clause continue notwithstanding the conclusion or termination of this Agreement, to the extent that an investigation involves matters existing during the Term of this Agreement.

I	Consent to treat you and collect and store your Medical Records and Performance Data You consent to TA's health service providers screening and treating you and collecting and storing records of consultation or treatment information and other personal information about you including your past, present and future health or medical records in any form. This may include information related to any injuries or illness for which you have received treatment, related treatment notes, related diagnostic test results and clinically significant findings associated with your medical care, whether created by TA or a third party and held on file by TA ("Medical Records") including by storing those Medical Records in TA's Athlete Management System ("AMS") - ubject to TA complying with relevant privacy and health necerds legislation
	You consent to TA disclosing your Medical Records to emergency medical providers, your coach and other relevant health professionals who require the information for purposes of treating you and to use your Medical Records for the purpose of assessing and improving TA's programs, and in surveys and research conducted or approved by TA.
	You consent to TA providing your Medical Records to the ITF and ATP/WTA as well as TA obtaining your Medical Records from the ITE and ATP/WTA
	You also consent to TA collecting and storing your performance data and information in the AMS subject to TA complying with relevant privacy and health records legislation. You acknowledge that any information collected may be disclosed by TA to your coaches and other professionals who are involved in your coaching or training, for the purpose of administering TA's high performance programs generally, as well as for the purposes of assessing and improving TA's programs and research purposes (which may be on an anonymised basis).
	You understand that you have no proprietary rights to or in the AMS or the Medical Records and other data entered into the AMS and that upon the termination or expiry of this Agreement, TA will retain a copy of all Medical Records for the purpose of assessing and improving TA's programs, and in surveys and research conducted or approved by TA and will otherwise deal with your Medical Records in accordance with applicable legislation.
	If you have access to the AMS you must keep confidential all medical and health information contained in the AMS, except to the extent necessary to enable you to receive medical treatment
	You agree that the consents set out in this clause will survive termination or expiry of this Agreement and will be binding on you.
	Consent to use your Image
	Subject to law and to the extent permitted by law, and subject to clause 5.2, you consent to TA, its State Member Associations (MA) and TA's and each MA's respective coaches, trainers officers, employees, contractors, representatives, agents and assignees; taking, using,

distributing, copying, modifying, sub-licensing and otherwise dealing with any images and footage of you (including without limitation photographs, electronic images, sound recordings,

visual footage audio-visual footage and any other reproductions), obtained in connection with this Agreement, including without limitation obtained at TA or MA premises, National Academy environments, public or government premises, during your participation in TA and MA events or any other tennis matches, during tennis training, activities, camps, tours and national teams/competitions in any platform or format whatsoever (including without limitation TA's restricted systems and platforms, or publicly accessible platforms such as the internet and social media channels) in perpetuity world-wide for any purpose in TA's discretion (including without limitation for coaching, teaching, technical analysis, promotional, advertising or marketing purposes) without payment to you (the Image Rights). You agree to assign all copyright and all other intellectual property rights in the Image Rights to TA.

5.2 You agree that TA may allow the use of your Image Rights by TA partners in promotional, advertising or marketing materials for the purposes of advertising their association with TA. TA acknowledges that if you have a conflicting commercial arrangement you may by notification to TA withdraw your consent to such particular use of your Image Rights by TA partners.

#### 6. Release and Indemnity

- 6.1 You acknowledge the risks associated with your participation in TA activities (both on TA and any third party's property) and accept those risks knowingly and voluntarily. You agree not to sue and hereby release, indemnify and keep indemnified TA, its officers,
- 6.2 directors, employees, representatives and agents of and from any and all claims, demands, suits, however arising that you may have for or as a result of loss of your life, injury, damage or loss of any description whatsoever and however caused that you may sustain or suffer or sustain to the fullest extent permitted by law including against any claims, proceedings, actions, damages, losses, costs and expenses arising or incurred by TA as a result of or in connection with your breach of your Agreement your misconduct and/or your wilful, unlawful or negligent act or omission.
- 63 You agree that the release and indemnity and the assumption of risk contained in this clause will operate in favour of TA whether personally or by virtue of its vicarious liability for the acts or neglect of any person and binds your heirs, executors assigns and personal representatives.

### **Confidentiality Obligations**

- **7**. 7.1 7.2 You acknowledge that the terms of this Agreement are confidential.
- Both parties must take reasonable steps to ensure that they, their employees, advisers and agents do not use or disclose any part of this Agreement, any information in respect of this Agreement or any confidential information of the other party except to the extent that it is required by law; it is required for the performance of the party's obligations under this Agreement; the other party has consented in writing to such disclosure or use; or the party discloses any part of this Agreement or information in respect of this Agreement to that party's professional adviser.

#### 8. Personal Information

You consent to TA collecting, holding, using and sharing personal information about you in connection with this Agreement and the support provided to you by TA on the terms and conditions set out in TA's privacy policy available at http://www.tennis.com.au/privacy.

### Annexure B

### PLAYER VALUES - What we stand for

### COMPETE

- Fight for every point from start to finish
- Take responsibility for all of your actions ~ no excuses
- Focus on effort and finding solutions

### COMMIT

- Work hard and dedicate yourself to every aspect of your journey
- · Be willing to learn, accept feedback and implement with conviction
- Strive to be better every day and be courageous

### RESPECT

- · Show respect for yourself, opponents and people supporting you including family, coaches,
- peers, your team, officials and property
- Respect the game overall
- Respect your opportunity

### Annexure C

### Waiver and Release Form

### USE OF TENNIS AUSTRALIA GYMNASIUMS

# THIS IS AN IMPORTANT DOCUMENT AFFECTING YOUR RIGHTS. YOU SHOULD READ THIS DOCUMENT VERY CAREFULLY AND SIGN IT ONLY AFTER YOU ARE SATISFIED THAT YOU UNDERSTAND AND ACCEPT ALL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

I the Athlete acknowledge and agree that this is a legal document affecting my rights and:

### 1. In this agreement

"Tennis Australia Gymnasiums" means the gymnasiums, equipment and facilities run by TA including

- NSW: Sydney Olympic Park, New South Wales Institute of Sport
- WA: State Tennis Centre, Burswood
- VIC: Eastern Plaza Gymnasium and the Tennis World Gymnasium
- TAS: Domain Tennis Centre
- SA: Memorial Drive
  - QLD: Queensland Tennis Centre, Griffith University, The Queensland Academy of Sport
- ACT: The National Sports Centre in Lyneham, the Australian Institute of Sport in Bruce.

"Claim" means and includes any action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, losses, damage, liability, cost or expense however arising including but not limited to negligence. "Gym Activities" means the use or enjoyment of the Tennis Australia Gymnasiums

**Melbourne Park**" is the precinct of that name located at the corner of Batman Avenue and Swan Street Melbourne.

"MOPT" means Melbourne and Olympic Park Trust and where the context provides, includes its directors, employees, contractors and agents.

"TA" means Tennis Australia Limited trading as Tennis Australia and where the context provides, includes its directors, employees, contractors and agents.

"Tennis Activities" means Gym Activities and Tennis World Activities.

**Tennis Workout**" means a group fitness activity of that name and conducted by, on behalf of, under the auspices of and/or under the guidance of a tennis professional nominated by Tennis World and/or TA, and which may including tennis drills, warm-up, cardio workout, and cool-down.

"Tennis World Activities" means any use, participation in or enjoyment of the tennis courts and other related facilities at Melbourne Park and Albert Reserve, including:

- (a) Tennis Workouts, Cardio Tennis tournaments and social competitions, tennis coaching or tuition of any description and school holiday camps and programs conducted by, on behalf of, or under the auspices of Tennis World and/or TA; and
- (b) any other tennis related activity conducted by, on behalf of, or under the auspices of Tennis World and/or TA.

"Tennis World Gymnasium" means the gymnasium equipment and facilities located at Melbourne Park, and operated by or under the auspices of Tennis World.

### Warning: I acknowledge that I am exposed to certain risks during any participation in Tennis Activities including but not limited to:

- (a) I may be physically or mentally injured, maimed or killed;
- (b) Other participants may act dangerously or with lack of skill;
- (c) My property may be damaged, lost or destroyed.

I acknowledge that accidents can and often do happen which may result in me being injured or killed, or my property being damaged. I acknowledge that the Tennis Activities are not patrolled by supervisors (at all times) and participation in Tennis Activities is entirely at my own risk.

I will not participate in the Tennis Activities while intoxicated or affected by drugs. I may assume a role involving responsibility for the safety of others participating in the Tennis Activities. This means I will accept responsibility for the safety of another person and if an injury occurs as a result of my careless act, omission or negligence then I fully assume responsibility for any harm done and I do not hold TA or MOPT responsible. I have voluntarily read and understood this warning and accept and assume the inherent risks in participating in the Tennis Activities.

### 3. Not Used

- 4. Release and Indemnity: In consideration of my participating in Tennis Activities, I agree that, to the extent permitted by law:
  - (a) I release TA and MOPT from all Claims that I may have or may have had but for this release arising from or in connection with my participation in any Tennis Activities; and

- (b) I agree to indemnify, defend and hold harmless TA and MOPT in respect of any Claim by any person arising as a result of or in connection with my participation in any Tennis Activities.
- 4. Fitness to Participate: I declare that I am medically and physically fit and able to participate in any Tennis Activities. I will immediately notify TA of any change to my medical condition, fitness or ability to participate. I understand that if TA were not provided with all relevant and necessary information about my health and capacity they would not be able to fully appreciate the risk of harm or injury to me in providing instruction and in allowing me to participate in Tennis Activities. I understand that TA will continue to rely upon this declaration as evidence of my fitness and ability to participate.
- 6. Severance: If any provision of this document is invalid or unenforceable, the phrase or clause is to be read down, if possible, so as to be valid and enforceable. If the phrase or clause cannot be so read down it will be severed to the extent of the invalidity or unenforceability. Such severance does not affect the remaining provisions of this Waiver and Release

### Executed as a DEED POLL in favour of TA and MOPT.

### If under 18 years of age parent / legal guardian must sign the following

Acceptance of Terms of Agreement and Indemnity

I [insert name] have read this Waiver and Release,
understand it and have explained the contents to
name]. I acknowledge the terms and agree to
being bound by its terms.

In consideration of[ins	ert name] participating in the Tennis
Activities I agree to indemnify TA and MOPT from and against any third	d party Claim arising or incurred by TA
and / or MOPT as a result of or in connection with	[insert
name] misconduct or negligence.	
Signed:	Print Name

APPENDIX V: SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES PUBLISHED WITH STUDY 1

-			Male	Female					
	Injury Occu	rrence In-event treatment frequency		frequency	Injury Occurrence		In-event treatment frequency		
Region	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	
Head	$0.00 \pm 0.18$	1.0	$0.00 \pm 0.28$	1.0	$-0.11 \pm 0.26$	0.4	$0.04 \pm 0.33$	1.6	
Neck	$-0.11 \pm 0.30$	0.4	$0.65 \pm 0.77$	90.7	$-0.11 \pm 0.33$	0.4	$1.03 \pm 0.81$	39.4	
Shoulder	$-0.10 \pm 0.47$	0.8	$0.05 \pm 0.55$	1.2	$0.55 \pm 0.63$	2.0	$0.51 \pm 1.18$	1.8	
Upper Arm	$0.09\pm0.23$	3.2	$0.30\pm0.45$	5.8	$0.00 \pm 0.29$	1.0	$0.38\pm0.58$	5.2	
Elbow	$0.27\pm0.39$	2.6	$0.04\pm0.58$	1.1	$-0.27 \pm 0.47$	0.4	$0.16\pm0.90$	1.3	
Forearm	$-0.07 \pm 0.27$	0.5	$-0.38 \pm 0.55$	0.1	$-0.02 \pm 0.20$	0.8	$0.00\pm0.37$	1.0	
Wrist	$0.14\pm0.40$	1.7	$\textbf{-0.09} \pm 0.58$	0.7	$0.35 \ \pm 0.60$	2.3	$0.73 \pm 0.95$	3.5	
Chest	$0.00\pm0.15$	0.9	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.01 \pm 0.22$	0.9	$-0.34 \pm 0.56$	0.3	
Thoracic Spine	$-0.04 \pm 0.17$	0.6	$-0.48 \pm 0.52$	0.1	$0.09\ \pm 0.26$	1.8	$0.22\pm0.80$	2.2	
Trunk and Abdominal	$-0.37 \pm 0.40$	0.2	$0.00\pm0.52$	1.0	$-0.30 \pm 0.51$	0.4	$-0.50 \pm 1.01$	0.3	
Lumbar Spine	$-0.10 \pm 0.38$	0.7	$\textbf{-0.67} \pm 0.99$	0.6	$0.05 \pm 0.44$	1.3	$0.99 \pm 1.23$	-18.1	
Hip and Groin	$-0.47 \pm 0.37$	0.2	$0.89\pm0.76$	4.1	$-0.30 \pm 0.42$	0.3	$-0.27 \pm 0.94$	0.4	
Pelvis/Buttock	$-0.20 \pm 0.28$	0.1	$0.04\pm0.32$	1.7	$-0.11 \pm 0.33$	0.5	$-0.01 \pm 0.74$	1.0	
Thigh	$0.16\pm0.50$	1.8	$-0.40 \pm 0.77$	0.3	$-0.07 \pm 0.52$	0.8	$-0.11 \pm 0.86$	0.7	
Knee	$-0.44 \pm 0.65$	0.5	$-0.11 \pm 0.64$	0.7	$0.22\pm0.60$	1.5	$-0.26 \pm 0.97$	0.6	
Lower Leg	$-0.19 \pm 0.24$	0.2	$-0.02 \pm 0.29$	0.8	$0.12\pm0.39$	2.6	$0.65\pm0.69$	37.5	
Ankle	$0.25\pm0.49$	2.0	$-0.10 \pm 0.58$	0.8	$0.22 \pm 0.51$	1.6	$1.03 \pm 1.35$	2.4	
Foot	$-0.12 \pm 0.23$	0.4	$-0.53 \pm 0.52$	0.2	$-0.13 \pm 0.52$	0.8	$-0.67 \pm 1.05$	0.3	

Supplementary Table 1: Injury Incidence  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and rate ratio (*RR*), per 1,000 set exposures, for male and female injury occurrence and in-event treatment frequency by region over the 2011 to 2016 Australian Open (2013-2016 for in-event treatment frequency)

			Male		Female					
Injury O		Irrence In-event treatment frequency		Injury Occurrence		In-event treatment	frequency			
Туре	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR		
Muscle Injury	$-1.30 \pm 0.89$	0.4	$0.20 \pm 0.90$	1.3	$-0.55 \pm 1.07$	0.7	$0.02 \pm 1.13$	1.0		
Joint Sprains	$0.28\pm0.69$	1.3	$-0.14 \pm 1.12$	0.9	$-0.18 \pm 0.93$	0.9	$0.73 \pm 1.14$	2.2		
Tendon Injury	$\textbf{-}0.48\pm0.78$	0.6	$-0.42 \pm 0.92$	0.6	$-0.14 \pm 0.81$	0.9	$1.11 \pm 0.98$	3.2		
Synovitis, Impingement, Bursitis	$-0.06 \pm 0.60$	0.9	$-0.23 \pm 0.96$	0.8	$0.42\pm0.72$	1.7	$0.14 \pm 1.32$	1.1		
Cartilage Injury	$\textbf{-0.07} \pm 0.28$	1.5	$-0.92 \pm 1.12$	0.2	$0.06\pm0.26$	1.6	$-1.48 \pm 1.50$	-0.2		
Stress Fracture	$0.06\pm0.22$	2.2	$0.15 \pm 0.40$	3.4	$0.22\pm0.45$	2.4	$0.64 \pm 0.77$	3.9		
Organ Injury	$-0.00 \pm 0.18$	0.9	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	0.0	$-0.11 \pm 0.26$	0.4	$-0.01 \pm 0.37$	0.9		
Chronic Instability	$-0.02 \pm 0.17$	0.6	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	0.0	$-0.07 \pm 0.29$	0.5	$0.24 \pm 0.55$	3.6		
Nerve Injury	$0.01 \pm 0.16$	1.2	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	0.0	$-0.02 \pm 0.29$	0.8	$-0.08 \pm 0.65$	0.6		
Arthritis	$-0.02 \pm 0.21$	0.7	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	0.0	$-0.02 \pm 0.21$	0.8	$-0.11 \pm 0.44$	0.4		
Other Stress/Over use Injury	$0.01\pm0.17$	1.2	$0.00 \pm 0.29$	1.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0		
Fracture	$0.00 \pm 1.15$	1.0	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0		
Joint Dislocation	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	0.0	$0.02\pm0.20$	1.3	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	0.0		
Whiplash	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.02 \pm 0.20$	0.8	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0		

Supplementary Table 2: Injury Incidence  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and rate ratio, per 1,000 set exposures, for male and female injury occurrence and in-event treatment frequency by type over the 2011 to 2016 Australian Open (2013-2016 for in-event treatment frequency)

			Male		Female			
	Injury Occurrence		In-event treatment frequency		Injury Occurrence		In-event treatment frequency	
Region	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR
Head	$0.00 \pm 0.50$	1.0	$0.00 \pm 0.79$	1.0	$-0.24 \pm 0.59$	0.4	$0.09 \pm 0.76$	1.5
Neck	$-0.30 \pm 0.82$	0.4	$1.82 \pm 2.15$	137.3	$-0.25 \pm 0.77$	0.4	$2.39 \pm 1.88$	37.2
Shoulder	$-0.26 \pm 1.30$	0.8	$0.15 \pm 1.52$	1.2	$1.27 \pm 1.46$	2.0	$1.18 \pm 2.75$	1.8
Upper Arm	$0.25 \pm 0.64$	3.2	$0.83 \pm 1.25$	5.9	$0.01 \pm 0.67$	1.0	$0.88 \pm 1.35$	5.2
Elbow	$0.75 \pm 1.06$	2.7	$0.10 \pm 1.62$	1.1	$-0.62 \pm 1.07$	0.4	$0.34 \pm 2.08$	1.3
Forearm	$-0.18 \pm 0.75$	0.5	$-1.05 \pm 1.53$	0.1	$-0.03 \pm 0.47$	0.8	$0.00 \pm 0.85$	1.0
Wrist	$0.41 \pm 1.10$	1.7	$-0.24 \pm 1.60$	0.7	$0.80 \pm 1.39$	2.2	$1.67 \pm 2.21$	3.4
Chest	$-0.01 \pm 0.42$	1.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.03 \pm 0.50$	0.9	$-0.79 \pm 1.29$	0.3
Thoracic Spine	$-0.09 \pm 0.46$	0.7	$-1.35 \pm 1.44$	0.1	$0.19\pm0.60$	1.8	$0.88 \pm 1.35$	5.2
Trunk and Abdominal	$-1.01 \pm 1.10$	0.2	$-0.02 \pm 1.43$	1.0	$-0.70 \pm 1.17$	0.4	$-1.16 \pm 2.36$	0.2
Lumbar Spine	$-0.26 \pm 1.03$	0.7	$-1.84 \pm 2.76$	0.6	$0.12 \pm 1.02$	1.3	$2.30 \pm 2.83$	-16.6
Hip and Groin	$-1.26 \pm 1.01$	0.2	$2.49 \pm 2.12$	4.1	$-0.72 \pm 0.96$	0.4	$-0.58 \pm 2.19$	0.4
Pelvis/Buttock	$-0.55 \pm 0.78$	0.1	$0.12 \pm 0.89$	1.7	$-0.23 \pm 0.75$	0.5	$0.00 \pm 1.73$	1.0
Thigh	$0.43 \pm 1.38$	1.8	$-1.09 \pm 2.12$	0.3	$-0.15 \pm 1.20$	0.8	$-0.23 \pm 2.02$	0.7
Knee	$-1.19 \pm 1.78$	0.5	$-0.27 \pm 1.79$	0.7	$0.53 \pm 1.38$	1.6	$-0.61 \pm 2.26$	0.6
Lower Leg	$-0.52 \pm 0.65$	0.2	$-0.07 \pm 0.81$	0.8	$0.29 \pm 0.90$	2.6	$1.54 \pm 1.63$	44.0
Ankle	$0.70 \pm 1.36$	2.0	$-0.25 \pm 1.61$	0.8	$0.54 \pm 1.17$	1.7	$2.30 \pm 3.12$	2.3
Foot	$-0.31 \pm 0.63$	0.4	$-1.45 \pm 1.43$	0.2	$-0.30 \pm 1.20$	0.8	$-1.57 \pm 2.44$	0.3

Supplementary Table 3: Injury Incidence  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and rate ratio, per 1,000 match exposures, for male and female injury occurrence and in-event treatment frequency by region over the 2011 to 2016 Australian Open (2013-2016 for in-event treatment frequency)

		N	lale		Female				
	Injury Occurrence		In-event treatment	In-event treatment frequency		Injury Occurrence		In-event treatment frequency	
Туре	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	Incidence Rate ± 95% confidence interval	RR	
Muscle Injury	$-3.49 \pm 2.45$	0.4	$0.57\pm2.51$	1.3	$-1.24 \pm 2.46$	0.7	$0.06 \pm 3.38$	1.0	
Joint Sprains	$0.85 \pm 1.90$	1.4	$-0.35 \pm 3.12$	0.9	$-0.40 \pm 2.13$	0.9	$2.24 \pm 3.44$	2.3	
Tendon Injury	$-1.27 \pm 2.15$	0.6	$-1.16 \pm 2.56$	0.6	$-0.29 \pm 1.87$	0.9	$3.32 \pm 2.95$	3.2	
Synovitis, Impingement, Bursitis	$-0.15 \pm 1.64$	0.9	$-0.63 \pm 2.68$	0.8	$1.01 \pm 1.66$	1.8	$0.29 \pm 3.06$	1.1	
Cartilage Injury	$-0.21 \pm 0.78$	1.5	$-2.51 \pm 3.10$	0.3	$0.15\pm0.61$	1.7	$-3.33 \pm 3.47$	-0.2	
Stress Fracture	$0.16\pm0.61$	2.2	$0.41 \pm 1.16$	3.4	$0.50\pm1.03$	2.4	$1.48 \pm 1.79$	3.8	
Organ Injury	$-0.01 \pm 0.49$	1.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.24 \pm 0.59$	0.4	$-0.04 \pm 0.86$	0.9	
Chronic Instability	$-0.06 \pm 0.47$	0.7	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.15 \pm 0.67$	0.5	$0.60 \pm 1.30$	3.8	
Nerve Injury	$0.03 \pm 0.44$	1.3	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.03 \pm 0.67$	0.9	$-0.17 \pm 1.50$	0.6	
Arthritis	$-0.05 \pm 0.57$	0.7	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.04 \pm 0.47$	0.8	$-0.27 \pm 1.03$	0.4	
Other Stress/Over use Injury	$0.04\pm0.46$	1.3	$0.01 \pm 0.82$	1.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	
Fracture	$0.01\pm0.42$	1.1	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	
Joint Dislocation	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.03\pm0.47$	1.3	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	
Whiplash	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$0.00\pm0.00$	0.0	$-0.03 \pm 0.47$	0.8	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	0.0	

Supplementary Table 4: Injury Incidence  $\pm 95\%$  confidence interval and rate ratio, per 1,000 match exposures, for male and female injury occurrence and in-event treatment frequency by type over the 2011 to 2016 Australian Open (2013-2016 for in-event treatment frequency)